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We stay ahead of the curve by finding the 
nexus between healthcare, access products 
and financial services, and expanding into 
the rest of the continent.
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Durban, South Africa

RH Bophelo’s mission is to 
seek and create investment 
opportunities that will fill 
the chasm between the 
public and private healthcare 
sectors in South Africa and 
on the continent. 

“ We have established partnerships 
that are designed to both enhance 
our operations and cement us as the 
go-to entity for building partnerships 
intended to support emerging hospital 
groups.” — Quinton Zunga
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SCOPE AND BOUNDARY 

The Integrated Report represents 
the financial results and the social, 
economic and governance aspects 
of RH Bophelo Limited (the Company 
or RH Bophelo), which in the opinion 
of the Board of Directors (the Board), 
are material to RH Bophelo’s ability 
to create and sustain value for all its 
stakeholders over the short, medium 
and long term.

While we have attempted to include information relevant 
to all stakeholders, the Integrated Report has primarily 
been prepared for the financial capital providers.

The report is guided by the following local and 
international guidelines:

• The South African Companies Act 71 of 2008  
(as amended) (Companies Act);

• The reporting principles contained in the King IV 
Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 
2016 (King IV);

• The Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited (JSE) 
listings requirements;

• The Rwandan Stock Exchange (RSE) listing rules;

• The Integrated Reporting Framework issued by the 
International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC); and

• The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Scope of the Report

“ Opportunities won't 
always happen according 
to plan and within a 
specific time frame. 
Sometimes it's necessary 
to seize the moment. ” 
— Londeka Shezi

ASSURANCE AND APPROVAL
The Company’s annual financial statements were prepared 
in line with IFRS and audited by our external auditor, Deloitte 
& Touche (South Africa). Executive Management provided 
an oversight role by reviewing the Integrated Report for 
completeness and accuracy. 

The Board acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for 
overseeing the integrity of this report. With the assistance of 
the Board committees, we have applied our collective mind to 
the preparation and presentation of the 2020 Integrated Report 
and annual financial statements. The Board is of the opinion 
that this report addresses all material issues and fairly presents 
the Company’s performance, outlook, strategy and perspective 
on future value creation in accordance with the Integrated 
Reporting Framework. The Board approved the Integrated 
Report on 31 August 2020.

No forward-looking statements have been reviewed or reported 
on by the Company’s external auditors.
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Scope of the Report continued

RH Bophelo’s mission is to seek and create investment 
opportunities that will fill the chasm between the public 
and private healthcare sectors in South Africa and on 
the continent. We achieve this by making acquisitions of 
healthcare and financial services assets in exceptionally 
managed commercial entities across the African market.

OUR
VISION
Our vision is to create Africa’s premier healthcare investment 
company by bringing together: 

• Healthcare infrastructure assets; 

• Healthcare-related technologies; and 

• Financial services to spread affordable healthcare 
and ensure its seamless delivery, while spreading the 
healthcare dividend to the people of South Africa and 
across the African continent.

OUR
MISSION

Sandton, South Africa

“RHB intends to grow beyond the 
borders of South Africa in the 
next stage of its evolution. Our 
approach to investment is Pan-
African. We believe that capital 
must have a regional multiplier 
effect where capital raised for 
acquisitions and expansion must 
derive from the regions in which it 
is to be applied. This is so that each 
region becomes self-sustaining 
and does not represent a capital 
drag on the centre.” — Dion Mhlaba
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RH Bophelo (RHB) listed on the JSE in July 2017 with R500 
million in new capital being raised. The JSE Listing allowed RH 
Bophelo to access the initial capital required to start operating 
and opened the door for the public to acquire shares in an African 
healthcare investment company offering growth and returns in a 
defensive asset class. In line with its growth plan on the African 
continent, RHB completed its dual listing in the RSE on 1 June 
2020. The RSE listing will introduce new investors and investment 
opportunities for RHB in the East African markets.

The Company seeks to generate returns for its shareholders 
through various investments in the healthcare sector and 
financial services. The Company is engaged in making equity, 
quasi-equity, and equity-related investments in healthcare and 
financial services, specifically in operational infrastructure, health 
insurance, private hospital infrastructure, pharmaceuticals, retail 
and distribution.

The Company executes its investment mandate primarily through 
two wholly-owned subsidiaries, RH Bophelo Operating Company 
Proprietary Limited (RHBO) and RH Financial Services Proprietary 
Limited (RHFS). These subsidiaries are utilised to acquire various 
investments on behalf of the Company. The investments under 
RHBO have been designated into healthcare investments 
portfolio, and RHFS have been designated into financial services 
investments portfolio.

HEALTHCARE INVESTMENTS

The notable acquisitions in healthcare include: (i) Africa Health Care 
Proprietary Limited (Africa Health Care/AHC); (ii) Medicare Private 
Hospital (Medicare); (iii) Rondebosch Medical Centre (RMC); (iv) 
Vryburg Private Hospital (VPH); (v) RH Bell Clinic; (vi) Fauchard 
Day Clinic; and (VII) Phelang Bonolo Healthcare Procurement and 
Management Proprietary Limited (PBHPM).

This portfolio represents about 90% of the Group's total 
investments, which includes a total of 1696 beds, of which 511 
are owned by AHC, and 1049 are managed by AHC through 
management contracts across eight South African provinces  
(136 beds are currently not managed by AHC). 

FINANCIAL SERVICES INVESTMENTS

This is a new portfolio that currently represents about 10% of 
the Company, which consists of investments in underwriting 
management agency (UMA) healthcare and short-term insurance. 
The underlying assets include; (i) Wesmart Financial Services 
(Wesmart) and (ii) Genric Insurance Company (Genric).

RH Bophelo has positioned itself to service the working 
uninsured population of South Africa, which is estimated to be 
20-35% thereof. We achieve this through partnerships and roll-
ups of independent hospital operators, and by allocating capital 
for their expansion.

About Us

Sandton, South Africa
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About Us continued

Migration to main 
board of the JSE  
as an investment entity 
(effective from  
May 2018)

RH BOPHELO TIMELINE OVER THE YEARS

RH Bophelo listed on the JSE as a special purpose acquisition vehicle (SPAC) in July 2017 with R500 million in new capital being 
raised. The JSE listing allowed RH Bophelo to access the initial capital required to start operating and opened the door for the 
public to acquire shares in a fully Black-owned and entirely African healthcare investment company offering growth and returns in 
a defensive asset class.

October 
2018

April 
2019

June 
2018

May 
2018

Listed on the JSE  
as a SPAC

Raised

July 
2017

R500m
on listing

Acquisition of 
Rondebosch  
Medical Centre 

(30%)

Acquisition of  
Africa Health Care 

Minority share of 
Vryburg Private 
Hospital

(60%)

(76%)

July 
2019

Acquisition of  
Medicare Private 
Hospital 

(51%) 
(Effective in July 2019)

Acquisition of  
Wesmart Financial 
Services

(60%)

SIGNIFICANT MILESTONE 
AND CHANGES

October  
2017

May  
2018

May  
2018

May  
2019

 Listed as a  
SPAC on the JSE

Announced the 
acquisition of 

assets

Obtained approval 
for the acquisition 

of assets

Applied for a 
reclassification of the 
Company from a SPAC 

to an investment 
holding entity

Classified  
as a Section 

15 investment 
company by the 
JSE, under listed 

equities

Launched its 
investment strategy 

in the financial 
services sector

Listed on the 
Rwandan Stock 

Exchange

June  
2020

June  
2017

October  
2018
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“ RH Bophelo is contributing to the socio-economic value creation and 
development of Africa, making an important contribution to the ongoing 
transformation in the continent.”— Vuyokazi Nomvalo

Acquisition of  
Netcare Bell  
Hospital

(100%)

Acquisition of Genric 
Insurance Company

(25%)

Acquisition of  
remaining Africa  
Health Care

(40%)

Durban, South Africa

Acquisition of  
RH Fauchard  
Day Hospital

(100%)

Increased shareholding of 
Rondebosch Medical Centre

(100%)

September 
2019

October 
2019

Acquisition of  
Phelang Bonolo

(49%)

January 
2020

March 
2020

May 
2020

RH Bophelo lists on 

the Rwanda Stock 
Exchange
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INVESTMENT CRITERIA
Since its inception, RHB agreed on a set of investment criteria from which 
it has not deviated. We have found these guidelines to be both informative 
and instructive in setting our investment course. The investment criteria 
are as follows:

Acquire existing 
and operational 

healthcare 
infrastructure

Invest in financial 
services companies

Invest in 
pharmaceutical  

and logistics 
companies

Invest in healthcare 
tech and big data 

companies

Identify other 
opportunities 

along the value 
chain

Investment guidelines:

About Us continued

Durban, South Africa

FINANCIAL SERVICES ACQUISITIONS

Wesmart provides both “off the shelf” and tailor-made solutions to 
corporate employers who are looking to provide both primary and 
tertiary healthcare benefits to their employees. This represents an 
opportunity for an uninsured part of the population to migrate into 
private healthcare.

WESMART FINANCIAL 
AND ADMINISTRATION 
SOLUTIONS

60%
owned

GENRIC is a short-term insurer, providing innovative and niche 
insurance solutions to market by partnering with specialist 
UMAs, start-up businesses, insuretech innovators and brokers. 
The investment brings a diverse range of services and growth 
opportunities to an under-serviced market. The acquisition 
was completed after year end.

GENRIC INSURANCE  
COMPANY

25%
owned
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Medicare is an acute 110-bed independent private hospital 
conveniently located in Rustenburg, North West Province. The 
facility can operate as a 117-bed facility and further opportunity 
to expand the 4th floor for an additional 30 to 60 beds, a cardiac 
catheterisation lab and doctors’ rooms.

MEDICARE  
PRIVATE HOSPITAL

50%
owned

RMC is an acute 123-bed hospital (with the capacity and potential to 
reach more than 200 beds). The hospital is located in Rondebosch, 
Cape Town with access to major highways and a medical school. On 
29 February 2020, RH Bophelo acquired a minority interest of 30%. 
In March 2020, RH Bophelo increased its shareholding to 100% for 
a total consideration of R93.75m.

RONDEBOSCH  
MEDICAL CENTRE 

100%
owned

RH Fauchard Day Hospital is a 16-bed day clinic located in Gauteng. 
The hospital gives RH Bophelo access to the growing day hospital 
market. Day hospitals are an alternative to acute hospitals services, 
with affordable prices that are appealing to medical insurance.

RH FAUCHARD  
DAY HOSPITAL

100%
owned

RH Bell Hospital is a 51-bed private psychiatric hospital situated 
in Krugersdorp. The hospital gives RH Bophelo access to a large 
under-serviced market in South Africa. The hospital has the 
capacity to increase to 80 beds.

RH BELL  
HOSPITAL

100%
owned

PBHPM is a healthcare management company that currently 
manages Botshilu Private Hospital, a hospital located in 
Soshanguve. PBHPM presents an opportunity for RH Bophelo to 
back and support an empowered operator.

PHELANG BONOLO 
HEALTHCARE 
PROCUREMENT 
AND MANAGEMENT 
COMPANY

49%
owned

HOSPITAL ACQUISITIONS

VPH is a 44-bed hospital located in the North West. It is the only 
hospital within a 150km radius of the community. The investment 
will improve the hospital’s quality, capacity and service offering, 
which will enable residents to have access to affordable healthcare 
services in close proximity.

VRYBURG  
HOSPITAL

81%
owned

An integrated healthcare operator with a portfolio of hospitals, 
pharmaceutical distribution, ambulance network, emergency 
services, nursing college and facilities management. 11 hospital 
group (about 980 private beds) owned and managed hospitals 
across 7 provinces.

AFRICA HEALTH  
CARE

100%
owned

RH 12J Fund is a fund engaged in new healthcare infrastructure, 
which has been backed by RH Bophelo. The fund will attract 
high net individual investors interested in the healthcare sector, 
enabling them to benefit from tax rebates from South African 
Revenue Service (SARS).

RH 12J FUND 83%
owned
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3-YEAR 
STRATEGIC 

FRAMEWORK

HOW

WHY

Our commitment to ourselves

Raise ZAR1.5bn; to achieve a Net Asset Value (NAV) of R5bn

Growth and expansion
Post investment expertise & investor 

relations
Excellence in governance

Hospitals
Optimise internal  

processes and systems to manage a 
growing healthcare ecosystem

Organisational culture emanates  
from the top 

Financial services and healthcare tech 

products
Improve investor relations

Align systems and processes  
across the Group

 Pharmaceuticals/Pathology Labs Expand outside South Africa
Effective internal and external 

communications 

Our commitment to society

Collaboratively execute programmes of socio-economic change and justice

Education and training Health equity and justice

Private medical school Spread the healthcare dividend 

Private nurse training colleges
Provide opportunities for Africans to  

participate in the healthcare economy 

 Positively impact the well-being of South African and African society 

Global collaboration with other  
healthcare providers

Leaders in healthcare provision Lobby governments to drive change 

This will be realised by growing and expanding the RH 

Bophelo brand and network (infrastructure footprint, 

health funding and health insurance products), through 

executing a series of strategic purchases that are 

overlaid with a commitment to excellence in governance 

and operations. And in so doing collaboratively 

implement programmes of socio-economic change and 

service that positively impact the well-being of the 

people of South Africa and Africa.

AFFORDABLE 
HEALTHCARE FOR ALL 

SOUTH AFRICANS

About Us continued
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South Africa spends 
almost 8.5% of its gross 
domestic product (GDP) 
on healthcare. However, 

4.1% (of the 8.5%) of GDP 
is spent on 84% of the 

population, most of whom 
are uninsured and served 
in an under-capacitated 

and over-burdened public 
health sector. 

Comparatively, 4.4% 
of GDP is spent on 

16% of the population 
covered by private 

medical schemes and 
who predominantly 

access their healthcare 
services in a costly 

private sector. 

Of the population of 
47.8 million without 

medical aid, there are 
approximately 10 million 

uninsured, employed 
persons who can afford 
medical insurance, but 

not medical aid schemes.

A 2016 report by Finmark 
Trust estimates that a 
further 8 to 10 million 

South Africans who are 
not on medical aid, may 
be able and willing to 

purchase a care-based 
insurance offering for 

under R300 monthly per 
family.

The uninsured, employed, 
market is estimated to be 

worth R1.1 billion with 
respect to affordable 
private health care.

FAST FACTS ABOUT SA HEALTHCARE

Sandton, South Africa

BUSINESS OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE OUTLOOK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

11RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



12 RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Our Strategy

RH Bophelo’s  

R5bn  
Strategy

RH Bophelo is building an ecosystem of networked investments focused on the healthcare 
and financial services sectors. This investment network includes infrastructure and related 
access products that compliment RH Bophelo’s value chain and expands RH Bophelo’s reach 
and footprint to its target market (being the lower and middle-income earners and working 
uninsured). Creating a successful healthcare investment ecosystem is achieved through investing 
in innovative access products and builds on strategic partnerships in order to leverage growth.

Amounts to 70% of the capital base and capital allocated. The model of the strategy is “hub and 
spoke” based on 10 entry-level hospitals to one (1) specialised hospital (this is directly inverse to 
other major hospital groups, that do 10 specialised to every one (1) feeder).

This hub and spoke model (based on 10 entry-level hospitals and 1 specialised hospital) sees 
RH Bophelo investing in the integration of ancillary services in hospital management, emergency 
medicine and information technology to bolster earnings and provide the best possible experience 
to clients. RH Bophelo’s target is 40 hospitals in this pillar.

Currently, RH Bophelo through its investment into Africa Health Care and PBHPM manages over 
10 co-owned hospitals (i.e. Kiaat Private Hospital, Medicare Private Hospital, RH Matjabheng 
Private Hospital, Eden Gardens Private Hospital, Botshilu Private Hospital, KwaDukuza Private 
Hospital), that generate additional management fees for these companies. RH Bophelo’s network 
will bring access to a further 20 facilities that will generate significantly higher third-party 
operating fees.

Africa Health Care and PBHPM will have access to these management contracts once existing 
contracts expire over the next two years. RH Bophelo anticipates securing at least 50% of these 
management contracts, and this is forecast from 2020.

The strategy is built on three (3) 
main pillars, which are as follows: 

2

1

This is allocated 20% of the capital base. RH Bophelo recognises that we cannot compete 
on capital base with other incumbents. As such, it is important to invest and support co-
ownership structures that allow a bigger footprint on lower committed capital. This effectively 
gives RH Bophelo a multiplier effect. RH Bophelo has access to the following:

• Long-term development and property funds.

• A potential investment in funding platforms to support infrastructure expansion 
opportunities, pipeline for growth, and capital appreciation return. 

RH Bophelo’s investor base can benefit from potential operating contracts for these hospitals, 
which will indirectly contribute to the bottom line whilst increasing footprint without the large 
capital outlays. RH Bophelo owns two hospital operators currently managing 12 hospitals not 
owned by RH Bophelo. 

12

Hospital 
infrastructure 
network and 
management 
contracts

Healthcare 
funds

Healthcare 
access and 
insurance3

RH Bophelo sees an exponential growth opportunity in investing in companies that are providing 
affordable access products. This has been supported by an acquisition in Wesmart Financial 
Services. The overall portfolio will also benefit from an increased insured population that can 
see an increase in the utilisation of private healthcare, including the hospitals that RH Bophelo 
owns. This is in line with RH Bophelo’s investment thesis of improving healthcare for the majority, 
including the lower to middle-income market. This will support better utilisation of RH Bophelo 
hospitals. RH Bophelo believes access to private hospitals should be expanded to a larger 

• Various affordable healthcare and medical insurance plans and options that extend cover 
to the working uninsured.

• Generic, which is one of our investments, provides general insurance for its assets under 
management (infrastructure and equipment, professional indemnity) and medical aid gap cover.

• This portion of the value chain is complemented by seeking investment in case 
management and product distribution services.
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• Integrated healthcare portfolio: RHB invests in 
healthcare infrastructure, a health insurer offering products 
(the working uninsured), a hospital management company 
and an insurance company (which underwrites the health 
insurance products). Together this forms our ecosystem 
which is self-enforcing and supportive.

• Owning the client: RHB’s model is to acquire 
organisations that own its clients through the use of access 
products (health insurance), which provide the working 
uninsured access to hospitals.

• Working uninsured: RHB has deliberately targeted the 
working uninsured as a critical segment of our target 
market. This segment represents approximately 20% of the 
addressable healthcare market which has previously been 
poorly serviced. 

• Experienced team: RHB has an experienced team 
with a seven-year track record of investments in more 
than 30 hospitals in South Africa (green, brown and 
operational assets).

• Unique position: RHB’s ambitions are supported by the 
Health Outcomes Report that has found healthcare to be 
concentrated to a few large players and an anticompetitive 
behaviour in the market. The outcome of these regulatory 
interventions is that the big groups must offload their assets.

• National footprint: RHB is willing to invest in a national 
footprint that has a lower capital base than the big groups. 
Part of our strategy is to invest in a multitude of 50-bed 
hospital developments at an approximate cost of one 
million rand (R1m) per bed. 

• National health insurance: RHB’s investments are 
well positioned as it is primarily a rural and peri-urban 
healthcare provider for NHI. RHB’s portfolio, currently on 
the lower tariff structure of National Hospital Network will 
thus be able to provide infrastructure to government with 
respect to its hospital’s infrastructure requirements based 
on its payer model.

RATIONALE FOR 
INVESTMENT

Johannesburg, South Africa
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RH Bophelo is a healthcare 
investment vehicle that aims 
to produce superior returns 
whilst contributing to socio-
economic value creation and 
development of South Africa.

“ We proffered that we would 
allocate capital to obtain 
assets, and then exploit 
synergies to enhance the 
earnings generated.” — Colin Clarke

Durban, South Africa
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“ Our focus as a 
company is to create 
sustainable value 
for the shareholders 
while at the same 
time having a positive 
impact on society 
through the provision 
of affordable 
healthcare.”

As medical experts, public health 
agencies and government officials 
around the world work tirelessly to 
better understand and stem the spread 
of coronavirus (COVID-19), RH Bophelo 
has joined the fight to bring greater 
awareness to the situation by working 
with government agencies, medical 
experts and grassroots organisations. 
RH Bophelo is one of the nation's 
leading healthcare companies with 
thousands of full-time employees 
impacted by COVID-19. 

RH Bophelo is working nonstop to 
ensure the safety of the public, our 
patients as well as ensuring that all of 
our employees are safe and educated 
on all aspects of the pandemic. We 
have also made our facilities available, 
especially in peri-urban areas, for 
partnership with the government in the 
fight against the COVID-19 pandemic. 

John Oliphant  
(Chairman)

Chairman’s Report: Next 12 Months
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We expect the operating environment 
to be extremely challenging going 
forward, given the pandemic’s impact 
on the economy. 

The COVID-19-induced global 
recession is uniquely deep, and it 
is difficult to forecast the rebound. 
However, what is clear is that this 
will be the steepest global GDP 
slide since World War II; thus, we 
are dealing with both healthcare and 
economic crisis. The impact of the 
struggling SA economy will be felt for 
years to come. This is coupled with 
the recent downgrade by Moody’s, 
completing the trio of major credit rating 
agencies, rating of South Africa as a 
sub-investment credit. This will make 
it expensive for government to fund 
budget deficits in the coming years, 
notwithstanding that interest payments 
were the fastest-growing expenditure 
of our fiscal budget. This will limit 
government's ability to stimulate the 
economy post Covid-19 induced 
recession, and we are thus likely to 
experience slow recovery compared 
to other economies. The lockdown will 
lead to significant job losses, and it will 
take a long time for a number of South 
Africans to be re-employed. 

Notwithstanding a difficult macro-
economic environment, we believe 
the need for affordable healthcare will 
remain pronounced. In this regard, we 
are pleased to report that RH Bophelo 
continues to execute its mandate and 
repay the trust that the shareholders 
have placed in us. We have gone from 
no assets since listing in July 2017 
to owning two hospital management 
companies (Africa Health Care and 
PBHPM), five owned hospitals, an 
insurance company and access 
products, while expanding our potential 
to acquire additional assets at minimal 
cost through the three funds in which 
we have seeded. 

Our hospital management company 
has also become an operator of non-
RHB assets; the earnings of the same 
will accrue straight to the bottom line 
of AHC, thus boosting its returns. The 
importance of our operator cannot be 
understated, which is why during the 
past financial year we chose to acquire 
100%, of the Company, bringing it 
under our total control while maintaining 
the management talent and laying plans 
to capacitate the Company further.

The strategy of the Board, including 
managements mandate, has been 
to examine the value chain of a 
management company and strategically 
position ourselves by purchasing 
assets in whole or in part that auger 
well for the long-term sustainability of 
RHB. To this end, our assets sit at the 
nexus between healthcare and ancillary 
services contemplated to impact 
the masses of the heretofore under-
serviced markets in the country.

RHB remains National Health Insurance 
(NHI) friendly in that in our estimation; 
the government will need infrastructure 
to carry out its plan to bring healthcare 
to all. Our hospitals are primarily rural 
and peri-urban in nature, with major 
hospitals placed in strategic centres so 
that our group can access and retain the 
cutting edge of healthcare practitioner 
skills and equipment while maintaining 
our core of one (1) specialised hospital 
to ten (10) feeder ones.

Our focus as the Company is to create 
sustainable value for the shareholders 
while at the same time having a positive 
impact on society through the provision 
of affordable healthcare. As a platform, 
we offer investors direct access to 
impact investments in the healthcare 
sector. We have delivered a strong set 
of results -earnings per share increase 
of 63% in the year under review – while 
having a positive impact in the societies 
in which we operate. The details on 
the overall financial performance of the 
Company and the outlook are covered 
in the CFO’s report. 

Chairman’s Report: Next 12 Months
The Board has identified the need to raise 
additional funding as RH Bophelo’s deal 
pipeline is robust. We have also launched 
the RH 12J vehicle to facilitate tax-
efficient greenfield healthcare investment 
opportunities and supplement our capital 
fundraise. Our capital raise will focus on 
diversifying the investor base, while also 
bringing onboard institutional investors 
with patient capital and appetite for 
positive impact investments.

MANAGEMENT AND BOARD 
APPRECIATION 
We are particularly pleased that our 
Board of Directors reflects a diversity 
not found on most Boards of Directors 
within South Africa. Our diversity has 
seen us obtain a fifty-fifty (50/50) 
male to female ratio as well as one 
international member on the team. We 
truly believe that our diversity is a point 
of strength for us in that the retained 
experiences, skills and expertise of the 
Board allow for more rigorous debate 
and better outcomes.

The Board remains the epicentre of 
corporate governance and culture 
within the Company. I would like to 
thank the Board for its continued 
support and counsel. It remains 
committed to the corporate culture 
and to help the Company navigate the 
intricacies of an evolving healthcare 
sector, the understanding and 
response to COVID-19, and the current 
challenging economic environment. 

Management, under the capable 
leadership of our CEO, has 
provided the necessary agility and 
responsiveness required in this time of 
economic and healthcare crisis. 
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Quinton Zunga  
(Chief Executive Officer)

Report from the Chief Executive Officer

“ RHB is building 
an ecosystem 
of networked 
investments focused 
on the healthcare 
sector. This 
network includes 
infrastructure and 
related access 
products that 
increase RHB’s value 
chain and expands 
RHB’s reach and 
footprint.”
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The vision of RHB has not changed that 

vision is, “The provision of affordable 

and accessible healthcare by building 

an efficient and sustainable integrated 

healthcare ecosystem”. We are three 

years into this vision, and we have 

never been more relevant than now. 

The world has changed with the 

emergence of the global pandemic and 

the economic, social and individual 

dislocation that it has caused.

Healthcare is a top priority (as it should 

be), and governments and institutions 

are seeking a way to bring affordable 

healthcare to the people. RHB is building 

an ecosystem of networked investments 

focused on the healthcare sector. This 

network includes infrastructure and 

related access products that increase 

RHB’s value chain and expands RHB’s 

reach and footprint to its target market, 

i.e. the working uninsured and other 

lower-wage earners. Creating an 

ecosystem is achieved through innovative 

access products and builds on strategic 

partnerships in order to leverage growth. 

RHB is well-positioned as primarily a rural 

and peri-urban healthcare provider for 

South African's NHI. As an independent, 

RHB is also subject to the lower tariff 

structure of NHM, and thus will be able 

to provide infrastructure to government 

with respect to its hospital infrastructure 

requirements based on its payer model.

The execution of RHB’s strategy is built 

on four (4) pillars, which should net 

RHB 100 hospitals, and they are: 

• Owned and operated hospitals 

(Infrastructure Network)

• Co-owned and operated hospitals

• Management contracts

• Healthcare accesses and insurance 

We are building an ecosystem of 

networked investments focused on the 

healthcare sector. This network includes 

infrastructure and related access 

products that increase RH Bophelo’s 

value chain and expand RH Bophelo’s 

reach and footprint to its target market 

(being the lower and middle-income 

earners). Creating an ecosystem is 

achieved through innovative access 

products and builds on strategic 

partnerships in order to leverage 

growth. The strategy is built on three (3) 

main pillars, which are as follows:

Owned and operated-hospital 

infrastructure network amounts to 

70% of the capital base and capital 

allocated. The model of the strategy 

is “hub and spoke” based on ten 

(10) entry-level hospitals to one (1)

specialised hospital (this is directly 

inverse to other major hospital groups, 

that do ten (10) specialised to every one 

(1) feeder). 

This hub and spoke model (based 

on 10 entry-level hospitals and one 

specialised hospital) sees RH Bophelo 

integrating its ancillary services in 

hospital management, emergency 

medicine and information technology 

to bolster earnings and provide the 

best possible experience to clients. 

RH Bophelo is aiming to consolidate 

40 hospitals in this pillar.

Co-owned and operated is allocated 

20% of the capital base. RH Bophelo 

recognises that we cannot compete 

on capital base with the incumbents. 

As such, it is important to support co-

ownership structures that allow a bigger 

footprint on lower committed capital. 

This effectively gives RH Bophelo 

a multiplier effect. RH Bophelo has 

access to the following:

• Long term development and property 

funds; and

• A potential investment in funding 

platforms to support infrastructure 

expansion and pipeline for growth.

RH Bophelo will secure operating 

contracts for these hospitals, which will 

directly contribute to the bottom line 

whilst increasing footprint without large 

capital outlays.
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Dion Mhlaba  
(Financial Director)

Highlights from the Chief Financial Officer

“ Diversification is an 
important element of 
investing.”

It is my pleasure to present the annual 
financial report for RH Bophelo for the 
fiscal year ended 29 February 2020. 

The Company continued to expand 
its healthcare portfolio, including the 
introduction of a new investment 
segment in financial services. During 
the year, the Company increased its 
investments in equities and provided 
additional loans to investee companies. 

Investments in unlisted equities 
(classified as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss for the current 
year were R272.9 million (2019: R141.3 
million). This comprised of: 

• Investment in RHFS -R3.7 million;
•  Investment in RHBO -R266.7 million; 

and
•  Investment in the RH12J fund  

-R2.5 million.

The Company provided loans amounting 
to R34 million to its subsidiaries to fund 
various expansion plans. 
Further details regarding the investments 
and loans made in the current year are 
contained in financial statements. 

Key judgements and estimates on the 
preparation of the financial statements 
were that of the valuation of the 
investments, including the application 
of the terminal growth rate, weighted 
average cost of capital, capitalisation 
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rate and earnings before interest, 
taxation, depreciation and amortisation. 
The judgements and assumptions 
used in the process of valuation for the 
investments in unlisted equities were 
based on inputs that were corroborated 
by multiple external sources and 
benchmarked to the SNG Grant 
Thornton Corporate Finance and Birkett 
Stewart Mchendrie Corporate Finance 
calculations for reasonability.

In addition, the Board has been 
concerned about the lack of liquidity 
in the Company’s shares. The lack of 
liquidity is attributable to the market 
capitalisation, investor concentration 
and limited retail exposure. The Board 
started a capital raising, including a dual 
listing on the RSE, in order to attract 
new investors.

The 28 February 2019 annual financial 
statements and the 30 August 2019 
interim results have been selected for 
review by JSE as part of the continuous 
monitoring by the JSE proactive 
monitoring panel. The JSE review has 
highlighted certain disclosure gaps in 
the notes to the financial statements and 
accounting policies of the Company. For 
the 29 February 2020, we have provided 
a more comprehensive disclosure as part 
of our commitments to improve reporting 
requirements in line with IFRS and JSE 
Listing Requirements. In addition, an 
accounts restatement has been identified 
in the prior year financial statements. 
The restatement of prior year financial 
statements had no impact on EPS and 
HEPS. Refer to note 3.3 and 3.5 of the 
annual financial statements.

Liquidity and solvency: the Company 
and its investee companies were 
assessed to be solvent and liquid.

New accounting standards: the 
introduction of IFRS 16 - Leases and 
IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax 
Treatments, had no material impact on 
the Company. 

Debt Obligations: The Company did 
not have any debt obligations in the 
current year.

The Net  
Asset Value  
increased by

Our net profit 
increased by

Our total 
revenue 
increased by

The net asset 
value per share 
increased by

Operating 
profit  
increased by

As at  
29 February 2020, 
the Company was 
trading at

year on year, 
in comparison 
to the current 
year balance of 
R646.6 million 
and a prior year 
of R530.1 million.

year on year, 
in comparison 
to the current 
year revenue of 
R107.4 million 
and prior year of 
R41.3 million.

whilst the 
Tangible Net 
Asset Value 
(TNAV) increased 
by 15%.

year on year, in 
comparison to 
the current year 
operating profit 
of R90.5 million 
and prior year of 
R28.1 million.

per share  
a discount to 
NAV of +/-17%.

RHB PERFORMANCE
The following is a summary of RHB performance:

22%

231%

160%

12%

221%

R9.54year on year, in 
comparison to the 
current year net 
profit of  
R70 million and a 
prior year of  
R21.2 million, 
with our basic 
earnings per share 
and headline 
earnings per share 
increasing by 211% 
year on year.

The Company and its investments remain liquid and solvent, with 
sufficient resources to continue operating into the feasible future; and 
no dividends were declared in the current year period or prior period as 
the Company is still expanding its capital base, and taking advantage of 
opportunities in the healthcare and financial services sectors.
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Colin Clarke  
(Chief Investment Officer)

Report from the Chief Investment Officer

“ RH Bophelo’s 
developing 
ecosystem also 
allows for innovative 
access products and 
builds on strategic 
partnerships in order 
to grow.”

Since listing in July of 2017, RH Bophelo 
has built and continues to build an 
ecosystem of networked businesses 
focused on the healthcare sector. This 
greatly expands RHB’s value chain and 
increases its reach and footprint to its 
target market. 

The ecosystem also allows innovative 
access products and builds on strategic 
partnerships in order to grow.
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In just three years, RH Bophelo has successfully deployed (including in process) most of the initial R500 million it raised on listing. RH Bophelo 
has made a number of acquisitions since its inception, and JSE listing, which includes a hospital portfolio of 1696 beds, 511 owned by AHC and 

1049 managed beds under management contracts through AHC across eight South African provinces.*

CURRENT GROUP STRUCTURE

100% 100% 81%

100%

20%

20%

50% 100%

100%

100%

25%60%

49%

100%

Razorite Capital Fund II

RH Africa Fund

RH 12J

Rand Mutual Assurance Care

Platinum Private Hospital

Medicare Private Hospital

MedLeb Private Hospital

KwaDukuza Private Hospital

Kiaat Private Hospital

Eden Gardens Private Hospital 

Abaqulusi Private Hospital

Hospital Management Contracts**Fochville

St. Helena

Fountain

Bleskop

Pharmacy Warehouse

Ambulance

Workwear

African 
HealthCare

Rondebosch 
Medical 

Centre***

Vryburg Private 
Hospital 

OpCo & PropCo

Medicare 
Rustenburg
OpCo & PropCo

Fuchard Day 
Clinic 

OpCo & PropCo

RH Bell 
OpCo & PropCo

PBHPM**** 
(Managed 

Botshilo Private 
Hospital)

RH Financial ServicesRH Bophelo Operating Co 

Completed Transactions

Key

Strategic Initiatives

*136 beds are currently not managed by AHC.

** Notable AHC managed hospitals. 

***Acquisitions after year end: increase to 100% of Rondebosch Medical Centre and 25% acquisition of Genric. 

**** Phelang Bonolo Healthcare Procurement and Management Proprietary Limited.

Rand Hospital

OUR CURRENT SEGMENTS 2021 FOCUS 2022 FOCUS

• Healthcare investments portfolio 

• Financial services investments 
portfolio

• Hospital Property (REIT) 

• Investment Funds (these funds are 
meant to increase the size reach and 
scope of RHB – “Bang for the Buck”

• Healthcare Tech Fund – 2020/21

• Pharmacy and logistics (warehouse 
and retail) – 2020/21

• Accumulation of Eastern Africa 
growth assets 

Wesmart Genric*** Medical Bank
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ACQUISITION CRITERIA
The targeted investments should meet 
the following criteria:

Consistent value orientation

The Company will actively seek out 
investments in which the intrinsic value 
(such as replacement costs of the 
assets employed) and/or conservative 
market value is sufficiently higher than 
the transaction value of the securities 
being acquired.

Discounted price for controllable growth

Many of the Company’s equity 
investments will be in well-run 
companies primarily in need of a 
financing partner to pursue earnings 
growth initiatives, facilitate a 
recapitalisation, or avoid/solve current or 
impending balance sheet issues.

Motivated sellers

The Company will not be an active 
participant in traditional merger and 
acquisition auction processes. Rather, 
the Company will focus on a proactive 
sourcing process that seeks motivated 
sellers who are actively searching for and 
in need of a strategic financing partner.

Holistic, team-based approach

The Company will utilise a holistic, team-
based approach that is pillared on a 
consistent investment process.

Control vs passive investment

The Company will take control of an 
entity if it believes it can better manage 
the entity and drive efficiency. It will also 
consider minority stakes if satisfied with 
existing management and would then 
only require strategic and financial inputs.

Time horizon

Most participants in the corporate 
financing markets underwrite investments 
with a targeted duration of three to five 
years. Investors in the Company can 
access liquidity at any time.

The Company offers management teams 
and investment partners a differentiated 
view on time with potential holding 
periods of more than five years.

Report from the Chief Investment Officer continued

Exit criterion and timelines

The Board has empowered the 
management team to refine an exit 
strategy in accordance with IFRIS 10, 
and as a supplement to RH Bophelo’s 
Investment Policy.

Given that RH Bophelo is an investment 
entity (Section 15) under the JSE rules, 
and thus is not subject to the same 
exit pressure as unlisted private equity 
funds, we have resolved to consider 
exits if and when:

(i)  There is an opportunity to roll-up 
into a more robust or more strategic 
business that fulfils our original 
rationale for investing;

(ii)  An exit would provide an outsized 
return;

(iii)  If we believe that a particular portfolio 
investment had reached its high-
water mark (was mature and we 
could not add further value); and

(iv)  Our original investment thesis 
faced significant headwinds from 
fundamental changes in the 
healthcare market.

Ultimately, we are seeking at least a 3x 
exit cash multiple on our investments.

In the event of having achieved the 
above criterion and depending on the 
asset in question, we would seek to exit 
our investments in the following ways:

(i) Trade sale;

(ii)  Management buy-out (which would 
be in keeping with RH Bophelo’s 
original mandate of growing and 
empowering Black operators); and/or

(iii) A separate listing.

Kigali, Rwanda

“ The lynch pin to 
the success of 
RHB will be fine-
tuning hospital 
operations.” — Colin Clarke
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Kigali, Rwanda
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RHB Portfolio Performance Highlights 2020

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUPBEDS

(owned 511 and managed 1049)

1560 

Background 
Integrated healthcare group, 3 owned hospitals and 12 hospitals under management contracts,  
facilities management and ambulance business and emergency services

44%

REVENUE

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY

OWNERSHIP

FAIR VALUE IN THE  
CURRENT YEAR

(prior year 60%)

(44% increase compared  
to prior year)

100% 

R224.5 million 

(20.2% increase compared  
to prior year)

(prior year nil)

R262 million 

5% 

VALUATION  
METHOD

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS)

(prior year R62,5 million)

R122.5 million DISCOUNTED 
CASH FLOWS

HEALTHCARE 
INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO

THIS PORTFOLIO 
CONSTITUTES 

OF THE COMPANY AS AT  
29 FEBRUARY 2020

90%

AFRICA HEALTH CARE

AHC MANAGED 
HOSPITALS*

AHC OWNED 
HOSPITALS

Fochville Private Hospital Gauteng

Fountain Private Hospital Gauteng

St. Helena Private Hospital Free State

Abaqulusi Private Hospital KwaZulu-Natal

Eden Gardens Private Hospital KwaZulu-Natal

Kiaat Private Hospital Mpumalanga

KwaDukuza Private Hospital KwaZulu-Natal

Medical Hospital of Lebowakgomo Limpopo

Medicare Private Hospital Limpopo

Platinum Private Hospital Free State

Rand Mutual Assurance Care Facility Free State

Rand Hospital Gauteng

* Notable AHC managed hospitals
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VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUPBEDS BEDS

44 136

Background 
Acute hospital services, including pharmaceutical services

Background 
Specialised acute hospital services

5% 9%

REVENUE REVENUE

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY

OWNERSHIP OWNERSHIP

FAIR VALUE IN THE  
CURRENT YEAR

FAIR VALUE IN THE  
CURRENT YEAR

(prior year 76%) (prior year 30%)

(44% increase compared  
to prior year)

(32% increase when compared  
to prior year)

81% 30% 

R26.5 million R46.1 million 

(24% increase compared  
to prior year)

(35% increase compared  
to prior year)

(prior year 75%)

R53.6 million R53.6 million 

86% NIL

VALUATION  
METHOD

VALUATION  
METHOD

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS)

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS) 

(prior year R25.6 million) 
(shareholder loan of R3.1 million)

(prior year R50 million) (shareholder 
loan of R49.8 million)

*Subsequent event: Additional 70% was acquired for R93.7 million

R28.4 million R50 million DISCOUNTED 
CASH FLOWS

DISCOUNTED 
CASH FLOWS

RONDEBOSCH MEDICAL CENTRE*VRYBURG PRIVATE HOSPITAL

Cape Town, South Africa
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RHB Portfolio Performance Highlights 2020 continued

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUPBEDS BEDS

117  51

Background 
Specialised acute hospital services

Background 
Psychiatric hospital services

24% 8%

REVENUE REVENUE

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY

OWNERSHIP OWNERSHIP

FAIR VALUE IN THE  
CURRENT YEAR

FAIR VALUE IN THE  
CURRENT YEAR

of the hospital and 50,1% of the 
property company

54% 100%

R120.3 million R39.0 million

R177.4 million R7.8 million

42% 87%

VALUATION  
METHOD

VALUATION  
METHOD

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS)

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS) 

R120.9 million R39.0 million DISCOUNTED 
CASH FLOWS

DISCOUNTED 
CASH FLOWS

RH BELL HOSPITALMEDICARE PRIVATE HOSPITAL

NEW ACQUISITIONS IN 
THE CURRENT YEAR

Johannesburg, South Africa
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VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUPBEDS

20

Background 
Day hospital services

6%

REVENUE

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY

OWNERSHIP

FAIR VALUE IN THE  
CURRENT YEAR

100%

R28.5 million

R5.4 million

46%

VALUATION  
METHOD

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS)

R25 million DISCOUNTED 
CASH FLOWS

RH FAUCHARD HOSPITAL

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUPBEDS

beds under management

100 

Background 
Hospital management services

2%

REVENUE

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY

OWNERSHIP

FAIR VALUE IN THE  
CURRENT YEAR

49%

R11.5 million

(FY2021)

R5.8 million 

NIL

VALUATION  
METHOD

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS)

R12.5 million DISCOUNTED 
CASH FLOWS

PHELANG BONOLO HEALTHCARE PROCUREMENT  
AND MANAGEMENT

Johannesburg, South Africa
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RHB Portfolio Performance Highlights 2020 continued

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP

Background 
Healthcare insurance

1%

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY

Nil

REVENUE

R1.8 million
FAIR VALUE IN THE  
CURRENT YEAR

R3.7 million

VALUATION METHOD

DISCOUNTED CASH FLOWS

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS): 

(shareholder loan of R0.9 million)

R3.6 million 

OWNERSHIP

60%

WESMART

Background 
Short term insurance 

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP

ACQUIRED AFTER 
YEAR END

VALUATION  
METHOD

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS)

(shareholder loan of R7.5 million)

R52.5 million DISCOUNTED 
CASH FLOWS

OWNERSHIP

25%

GENRIC INSURANCE COMPANY

“As Africans, we can make a 
difference on the continent. After 
celebrating Africa Day, we believe 
the future of Africa is in Africans' 
hands. This is the beginning for us in 
our healthcare journey,” — Quinton Zunga

FINANCIAL SERVICES 
INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO

THIS PORTFOLIO 
CONSTITUTES 

OF THE COMPANY AS AT  
29 FEBRUARY 2020

10%
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The cross-listing of RH Bophelo’s shares was done by way of 
an introduction and followed approval by the RSE and CMA-R.

The purpose of the RSE listing is to diversify RH Bophelo’s 
investor base and to facilitate RH Bophelo’s shares availability 
to the wider East African public, as well as to provide an easy 
and efficient way for RH Bophelo’s stakeholders and partners 
in the region to participate beneficially in the growth and 
fortunes of RH Bophelo through ownership.

DEAL RATIONALE
• It is RH Bophelo’s intent to grow beyond the borders of 

South Africa in the next stage of its evolution. RH Bophelo’s 
management believes that in the long-term RH Bophelo 
must become Pan-African in nature.

• The RSE offers RH Bophelo the exposure that comes 
with Rwanda being at the epicentre of East Africa and a 
leader on the African continent. Rwanda has proven to be 
a jurisdiction in which RH Bophelo can unlock capital, and 
the RSE listing will facilitate this as well as acting as an 
initial springboard into the rest of Africa.

CROSS-LISTING ON THE RSE

• The brokers and brokerages in Rwanda, Kenya, Uganda 
and Tanzania are linked, which provides RH Bophelo with 
an opportunity for both exposure and a deeper and wider 
spread of RH Bophelo’s shareholder base (free float), as 
well as potentially enhancing RH Bophelo’s weighting in 
respective market indices.

• Enhanced public profile and awareness of RH Bophelo as 
its shares trade on more than one licensed exchange.

• Provides diversification and additional options to RH 
Bophelo’s capital raising activities, rather than being reliant 
only on the South African market and JSE.

• It facilitates RH Bophelo’s preparation for the next phase of 
its investment thesis in healthcare and financial services to 
the rest of Africa.

Kigali, Rwanda
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The Company believes 
that accountability will be 
demonstrated in the willingness 
to take ownership of roles, 
responsibilities, actions and 
outcomes and by honouring the 
obligations to all stakeholders. 

“ Our goal is to exceed 
the expectations of our 
stakeholders by delivering value 
through good governance and 
portfolio growth.” — Ragni Naicker

Cape Town, South Africa
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The Board of Directors is committed to providing effective and 

ethical leadership and, as such, it is reflected in our Board 

composition. During the current financial year, the Board, in 

collaboration with the Remuneration and Nominations Committee 

(RNC), focused on creating a diverse, experienced, competent, 

creative and functional Board, with the addition of three (3) 

independent Non-Executive female Directors to the Board. This 

diverse Board is comprised of members with the capability and 

capacity to provide fresh perspectives and strategic input as well 

as act independently on all Board matters.

The Board members accept responsibility as custodians of 

corporate governance within the Group and are therefore 

accountable to our stakeholders for the provision of value creation 

in a responsible and balanced manner.

Governance Structure

Females
Males

7 5GENDER

Non-executive Directors
Executive Directors
Company Secretary

4

1

7BALANCE 
OF POWER

Black Women
Black Men

7 5DIVERSITY

3

1

8AGE

Younger than 46 years of age
46-55 years of age
Older than 55 years of age

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Executive 
Committee (ExCo)

Board of  
Directors

RH Bophelo 
Shareholders

Remuneration  
and Nominations 

Committee

Social and Ethics 
Committee

RH Bophelo 
Management 

Company (ManCo)

RH Bophelo 
Operating 

Company (OpCo)

Investment 
Committee
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Qualification: BSc (Actuarial Science & Mathematical Statistics), BSc (Hons) 
Advanced Mathematics of Finance (University of Witwatersrand), and MSc Finance 
(Economic Policy) (University of London, SOAS)

John Oliphant is currently the Executive Chairman of Third Way 
Investment Group, a BEE financial advisory and investment firm.

John is also a director and the Chairman of Third Way Investment 
Partners and All Weather Capital, which has combined assets under 
management of R8 billion. He is the former Principal Executive Officer of 
the Government Employees Pension Fund (GEPF), the largest pension 
fund in Africa with assets of more than R1.5 trillion (US$120 billion).

He was the key driver behind GEPF’s leading investment policies and 
strategy. Working closely with the Board, he managed to double GEPF’s 
assets in less than five years during the toughest economic environment 
in recent history.

John also served on a number of key strategic industry initiatives, 
including being a member of the PRI Advisory Council and Chairman of 
the Code for Responsible Investing in South Africa (CRISA) committee. 
John helped establish the CRISA, which is hailed as one of the best in 
the world. This contributed to him winning an Industry Person of the 
Year award in financial services in 2012. He was also recognised by the 
Mail and Guardian as one of the Top 200 Young South Africans in 2012 
for his contribution in the world of pensions. In 2013 he was named 
Africa’s Top Emerging Leader by Africa Investor.

Qualification: CFA Charterholder, MPhil Dev. Finance (USB), BBusSc (Business 
Finance Honours, UCT)

Dinao is co-founder and managing partner of Maia Capital Partners, a 
financial services firm founded to facilitate impact investing on a large 
scale. She is also the founder of Maya Group, an infrastructure finance 
advisory firm. 

Dinao has more than 17 years' working experience, spent in various 
roles within corporate and investment banking at companies such as 
Nedbank Corporate Banking, EY Corporate Finance as well as Royal 
Bafokeng Holdings. Since starting her entrepreneurship journey in 2009, 
Dinao has been involved in the development finance sector, providing 
infrastructure advisory services to public and private sector clients. 

Over the years, Dinao has emerged as a specialist finance professional 
in infrastructure transactions advisory, invested in a water engineering 
business, and is currently involved in developing digital solutions in 
the healthcare and education sectors. Her passion is to originate 
and implement commercially sustainable solutions that are aimed at 
addressing South Africa’s socio-economic challenges.

Non-Executive Director and Chairman Non-Executive Director

Date of appointment:  
27 March 2017

Date of appointment:  
11 October 2019

Dinao Modirwadi Lerutla (40)

Committee membership

Investment Committee Audit and Risk Committee
Social and Ethics Committee Remuneration and Nominations Committee

John Rabagadi Oliphant (38)
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Governance Structure continued

Committee membership

Investment Committee Audit and Risk Committee

Social and Ethics Committee Remuneration and Nominations Committee

Qualification: MBChB (MEDUNSA), MBA (University of Pretoria), Digital Marketing 
Diploma (VEGA), Diploma in Financial Management (Damelin), Certificate in 
Administration of Estates (University of South Africa), FILPA (Institute of Life and 
Pension Advisors)

Dr Solly Motuba has been a consultant for various medical schemes 
and corporate entities on the rationalisation and structuring of 
health funds. He has served on a number of medical aid boards, in 
the capacity of a healthcare consultant, or as a trustee. Dr Motuba 
previously served as a Principal Officer for two medical schemes (one 
closed scheme and one self-administered open scheme) and as a CEO 
for a third-party medical aid administrator. He has also worked as an 
Executive in charge of a Managed Care Organisation. Dr Motuba co-
founded Cure Day Clinics and Vmed medical aid administrators and is a 
former board member of BHF and Mamelodi Hospital.

Dr Motuba has the following qualifications: MBChB (from MEDUNSA), an 
MBA from the University of Pretoria and a Digital Marketing diploma from 
VEGA. Added to this is a diploma in Financial Management from Damelin 
as well as a certificate in Administration of Estates from UNISA. He also 
has accreditation as Fellow Institute of Life and Pensions Advisors (FILPA) 
from the Financial Planning Institute of Southern Africa (FPI).

Dr Motuba still serves on several boards. Until recently, he was the 
Head of Private Practice at the South African Medical Association. He is 
currently employed as an Executive Director at Metropolitan Health, in 
the capacity of Chief Commercial Officer.

Qualification: BCom Accounting (Wits University), Higher Diploma in Accounting 
(Wits University), CA(SA)

Refiloe has more than 16 years of professional experience in leading 
and directing high-performance teams, helping them maintain the 
overall financial well-being of their organisation. Refiloe has expertise 
in the implementation and management of financial systems, ensuring 
robustness, compliance, and agility to support the Company’s goals.

Refiloe started her auditing career with exposure to audits in the 
public and private sectors. For five years, she was the Group Financial 
Director at Thebe Investment Corporation, and before that, she was 
the Financial Director at Royal Bafokeng Holdings. Currently, she is the 
CFO of African Rainbow Capital. 

Refiloe has more than ten years' board experience and has performed 
various roles across diverse industries such as financial and property 
management services, mining services, supplies, tourism, automotive and 
engineering.  She's also been the chairperson of finance committees and 
a member of audit and risk committees. 

Current boards include amongst others: CMH Group Limited, African 
Rainbow Capital Investment Limited, Alexander Forbes Group 
Holdings Limited, African Rainbow Capital Financial Services and 
African Rainbow Capital.

She is a trustee of Pearl Edu Vision, an organisation that focuses on 
career guidance in Limpopo. 

She is a qualified chartered accountant and has attended various 
executive management programs, including SEPA from Harvard 
Business School.

Lead Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Date of appointment:  
11 October 2019

Refiloe Mmamodiane Nkadimeng (39)

Date of appointment:  
27 March 2017

Dr Solomon (Solly) Gabriel Motuba (56)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS continued

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS continued
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Qualification: MBChB (University of Cape Town), Fellowship of The College of 
Physicians of South Africa (CMSA), Certificate in Gastroenterology for Physicians 
(CMSA), Member of the Institute of Directors of South Africa

Dr Ntshwana is a Specialist Physician (Internal Medicine) and a sub-
specialist in Medical Gastroenterology and Hepatology.

With more than 16 years of experience in the fraternity, she spent 
12 years in the public sector, more than 70% of which was spent in 
academic institutions. As a specialist consultant in the Department of 
Medicine in the Wits Circuit of teaching hospitals, she served as an 
associate lecturer and was therefore involved in the academic training 
programs of medical students and registrars. During her earlier years 
in the fraternity she worked in a variety of disciplines, including surgery, 
anaesthesia and paediatrics before settling on internal medicine.

She moved to full-time Private Gastroenterology Practice in 2013 at the 
Sandton Mediclinic and has recently opened a second Gastroenterology 
Practice at the Busamed Modderfontein Private Hospital.

Independent Non-Executive Director

Date of appointment:  
27 March 2017

Qualification: Bachelor of Accounting Science (University of South Africa); 
BCompt Honours (University of South Africa), CA(SA)

Bojane Segooa is a qualified chartered accountant and an award-
winning social entrepreneur with a passion for education, technology 
and innovation. She has worked in the finance sector, specialising in 
financial management, corporate tax, risk management and corporate 
governance. She is also an academic, lecturing and conducting research 
at UNISA’s College of Accounting Science.

Bojane is committed to using technology to ensure that the fourth UN 
Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) of quality education is met. Her 
innovative spirit led to the establishment of her company Innovation Africa 
Holdings and its leading product, Levelsapp, an educational app that 
allows learners to find South African universities and explore the degrees 
on offer, as well as providing career guidance. The application led to her 
being selected as a finalist for the Southern African Start-Up Awards in 
the National Edutech Category.

In 2018, she was nominated by the South African Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (SAICA) as one of its Top 35 Chartered Accountants under 
the age of 35 for her outstanding work towards community development. 
She is also a recipient of the Innovation Support Programme Research 
Award, which is given by the Department of Science and Technology. 
She is also an honouree of the Steyn City Foundation’s Seven Percent 
Tribe. She was recently awarded the UNISA Chairperson of Council 
Award for Academic Excellence in Community Work for her exceptional 
contribution to society and learners through Levelsapp. In 2019, she won 
the prestigious national award, the 100 Young Mandelas of the Future.

Bojane currently lectures at UNISA and is the CEO of Innovation Africa 
Holdings. She is currently a Masters in Innovation candidate at Wits 
Business School.

Non-Executive Director

Date of appointment:  
4 October 2019

Bojane Segooa (35)

Committee membership

Investment Committee Audit and Risk Committee

Social and Ethics Committee Remuneration and Nominations Committee

Dr Kgaogelo Rachel Ntshwana (43)
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Governance Structure continued

Qualification: BSc (UNIC), MBChB (Natal University), MSc Med (University of 
Witwatersrand)

Dr PD Sekete has 38 years’ medical experience, working in both public 
and private hospitals. Dr Sekete has extensive management experience in 
healthcare, property and environmental health. Between 1995 and 1997, 
he was responsible for the integration of the Ekurhuleni District clinics with 
provincial clinics and hospitals.

In addition to these accomplishments, Dr Sekete is a Director of 
MEDITECH South Africa (Pty) Ltd, a leading health information company 
contracted to the South African Department of Health (DoH) (16 years), 
and also operates in the Middle East-South Arabia, Kuwait, Dubai, Nigeria 
and Botswana. Dr Sekete owns a leading waste management company, 
Buhle Waste (Pty) Ltd, which is contracted to the SA DoH (14 years), 
and operates in Limpopo, North West, Gauteng and Mpumalanga, with 
SA military services, National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS), blood 
transfusion services, private doctors, dentists and mortuaries. Buhle 
Waste (Pty) Ltd owns and operates two medical waste treatment facilities 
in Benoni (Bio-Med) and the Converter Green Technology in Limpopo and 
is expanding into KwaZulu-Natal and Eastern Cape.

He is also a director of Acsion Limited, a property company listed on the 
JSE worth approximately R4 billion. He sits on the Investment Committee 
and Social and Ethics Committee of Acsion Limited. He is also a director 
of Aberrant Medical Supplies, which provides medical point of care 
diagnostic products, specially diagnosis, timely treatment, medicine 
dispensing and compliance.

De Sekete is a director of Liseko with investments in Aspen 
Pharmaceuticals and Sanlam. He is also a director of Ingocure (Pty) Ltd, 
which sources quality products from reputable companies throughout 
the world and locally. The product line concentration being medical 
equipment, consumables, rehabilitation equipment and research for cost-
saving measures.

Non-Executive Director

Date of appointment:  
27 March 2017

Dr Phetole David Sekete (66)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS continued

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS continued

Qualification: BBusSc, MSc (University of London)

Quinton Zunga is founder and current Chief Executive Officer of RH 
Managers (Pty) Ltd. Prior to this he was co-founder and Executive 
Director of Arkein Capital Partners. Quinton has 19 years of high-
level business experience, which includes 12 years of professional 
experience at senior levels in investment banking and four years’ private 
equity experience.

Prior to founding RH Managers and co-founding Arkein Group, Quinton 
was a director at Bank of America Merrill Lynch SA (BofAML) and Head 
of its debt capital markets for South Africa and Sub-Saharan Africa. In 
that role Quinton was instrumental in developing BofAML’s Sub-Saharan 
Africa business, focusing on regional hubs in South Africa, Nigeria and 
Kenya. He was instrumental in the capital raising of more than US$1.5 
billion in these regions and built deep relationships. He worked at 
BofAML from 2007 to 2011.

Prior to joining BofAML, Quinton was Head of Debt Capital Markets 
at Absa Capital, a role he assumed after the merger of Barclays and 
Absa Bank. Before this merger, Quinton was Head of Debt Capital 
Markets at Barclays and responsible for a team that covered 11 African 
countries in which Barclays had banking operations. He helped develop 
Africa’s Debt Capital Markets in these countries, launching the first 
medium-term notes in Botswana, Tanzania, Mauritius and Zambia. He 
also led the issue of municipal bonds by the City of Johannesburg. 
Quinton raised over US$2.0 billion in 40 transactions when he was Lead 
Manager and Co-lead Manager, during his seven years at Barclays.

Quinton has served on the Executive Committee of the Debt Insurers 
Association (SA), and as associate of the Institute of Bankers, and is a 
graduate of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Committee membership

Investment Committee Audit and Risk Committee
Social and Ethics Committee Remuneration and Nominations Committee

Managing Director and  
Chief Executive Officer

Date of appointment:  
27 March 2017

Quinton Zunga (43)

BUSINESS OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE OUTLOOK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

38 RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 202038 RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Committee membership

Investment Committee Audit and Risk Committee

Social and Ethics Committee Remuneration and Nominations Committee

Qualification: BA, Political Science (The University of Texas at Austin), MBA (Said 
Business School, Oxford University), Juris Doctorate, JD (Strum College of Law, The 
University of Denver), Advocate High Court SA 

Colin Clarke is currently Chairman of Benguela Global Fund Managers, 
a South African asset management firm with both equities and fixed 
income products. He is former Chairman of the Investment Committee of 
Sizwe Medical Fund, former Lead Independent Director and member of 
the Board of Directors, Audit and Risk Committee as well as Chairman of 
the Compensation Committee for Atlatsa Group Resources, a duel listed 
platinum group minerals company. He is former Chairman of the Board 
of Directors for ACPI Investment Managers South Africa, a subsidiary of 
London based asset management firm operating in the fixed income, 
equities, special situations and private equities space.

In addition to the above, Colin has been a partner of Sloan Financial 
Group and NAIF, and legal counsel to the SADEF. Additionally, Colin 
served as Chief Investment Officer for Sishen Iron Ore’s Community 
Development Trust and has also served as Director for the special 
projects division of Lonrho Africa Plc.

Lastly, Colin served as Chief Operating Officer of the National 
Empowerment Fund in South Africa between 2009 and 2010, where 
he headed the Group operations, asset management, marketing and 
communications, as well as strategy and planning. He has many years 
of international, legal, private equity and corporate finance experience 
with multinational organisations such as Amoco Oil (now BP), where 
he served as legal counsel in Western Areas (acquisitions department). 
Colin has also held the position of Deputy Director for Trade and 
Investment at the African America Institute and Programme Director for 
the Africa Regional Assistance Electoral Fund, which was established to 
assist African countries’ transition to democracy.

Colin is an Advocate of the High Court of South Africa, and the holder of 
a Category I, II, IIA, III and IV FSB licence.

Chief Investment Officer, 
Chairman of Investment 

Committee

Date of appointment:  
2 September 2019  

(Board)

Colin Wayne Clarke (54)

Qualification: BCom (Accounting) (Hons) (University of Johannesburg), CA(SA)

Dion Mhlaba has a BCom Accounting Degree and is an Honours 
graduate from the University of Johannesburg. He also holds a certificate 
from Wits Business School following his completion of the Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment Management Development Programme 
and a Harvard University certificate on Universal Healthcare. He 
completed his articles with KPMG (Johannesburg) where he qualified as a 
Chartered Accountant (CA) and Registered Auditor (RA).

During his tenure at KPMG, Dion’s clients included Nedbank, Industrial 
Development Corporation (IDC), Development Bank of Southern 
Africa (DBSA) and Shanduka. His audit focused on credit modelling, 
interpretation of investment agreements, model audit, accounting, 
budgeting, taxation and accounting for financial instruments such as 
bonds, preference shares, debentures, loans, money market instruments 
and valuation of equity and hybrid instruments.

He also worked with Afripalm Resources and Sakhumnotho Group 
Holdings on fund raising, project review and stakeholder relations.

Dion is a former senior lecture for the University of Johannesburg. During 
2018 and 2019, Dion was nominated for best CFO in South Africa.

Chief Financial Officer

Date of appointment:  
27 March 2017

Katekani Dion Mhlaba (34)
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Governance Structure continued

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS continued

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS continued

Committee membership

Investment Committee Audit and Risk Committee
Social and Ethics Committee Remuneration and Nominations Committee

Qualification: BCom (Hons) (University of South Africa), CA(SA)

Vuyokazi Nomvalo holds a Bachelor of Accounting Science degree 
and honours from the University of South Africa (UNISA) and is a 
qualified Chartered Accountant. Vuyokazi completed her articles with 
Pricewaterhouse Coopers in 2009 where she served within the Financial 
Services sector. In this period, she was exposed to the audit process 
of various financial institutions including Standard Bank Equities, First 
National Bank Credit, Liberty Life, Absa Credit and RMB Merchant bank 
(RMB stockbroking, RMB Securities and RMB Morgan Stanley).

Vuyokazi subsequently joined the IDC as Business Analyst, later 
promoted to Project Manager. During her time at the IDC, Vuyokazi 
gained valuable experience in deal making within various sectors 
including the Renewable Energy Independent Power Procurement 
Programme (REIPPP).

Vuyokazi was involved in various transactions (projects) and submitted 
for the REIPPP, with four of these projects awarded the preferred Bidder 
status and currently being implemented.

In 2014, Vuyokazi joined RH Managers as an Investment Principal, 
a post which she holds to date. In this time, she has executed 
transactions that include greenfield projects and acquisitions of 
operating assets.

Executive Director

Vuyokazi Phatheka Nomvalo (39)

Date of appointment:  
27 March 2017

Qualification: CIS Professional Advanced Qualification in Governance and 
Administration, Associate Member of the Chartered Institute of Business 
Management (CIBM)

With over 25 years of professional experience, Ragni Naicker gained vast 
knowledge in finance, company secretarial and corporate governance. 
She worked at Investec Asset Managers and RMB Private Bank and 
was later appointed Group Company Secretary for a property fund listed 
on the JSE. Ragni played a pivotal role in setting up the governance 
structures for funds listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange, the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius and the London Stock Exchange.

Backed by her wealth of experience, she was instrumental in assisting 
in the process of listing RH Bophelo on the JSE. Her current role in 
the Company includes informing the Board members of their legal 
responsibilities in line with the JSE Listings Requirements. Currently, Ragni 
serves as a Company Secretary and corporate governance professional 
to Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited.

Company Secretary (Representative 
of Corporate Vision Consulting 
Proprietary Limited)

Date of appointment:  
27 March 2017

Rajeshree (Ragni) Naicker (46)
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Committee membership

Investment Committee Audit and Risk Committee

Social and Ethics Committee Remuneration and Nominations Committee

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Qualification: BCom Econometrics, BCom (Hons) Economics, (University of Pretoria)

Fulu Makwetla is the Managing Director of Third Way Investment 
Partners. She is also a Non-Executive Director of the South African 
Venture Capital and Private Equity Association (SAVCA), All Weather 
Capital as well as Fundi Capital. She was previously the Investment 
Manager of the GEPF, the largest pension fund in Africa, with assets in 
excess of R1.8 trillion (during her tenure), representing the retirement 
interest of 1.2 million members and over 360 000 pensioners. During 
her tenure at the GEPF, she served on various committees and 
represented the GEPF on advisory boards of Private Equity Funds. 

Prior to joining the GEPF, Fulu was an Executive and Senior Investment 
Consultant at RisCura, where she consulted for pension funds, 
insurance companies and medical schemes in Southern Africa. She 
was an employer elected trustee of the RisCura Provident Fund. She 
also worked for RMB Asset Management and has over 17 years of 
industry experience.

Date of appointment:  
22 March 2018

Fulufhelo (Fulu) Makwetla (41)

Member of the Investment 
Committee and Non-Executive  

Director of the ManCo

BUSINESS OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE OUTLOOK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

41RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020 41RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Governance Structure continued

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND SUB-COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors

John Oliphant  
(Chair of the Board) Dinao Lerutla Refiloe Nkadimeng Dr Solomon Motuba

Board 5/5 2/2 1/2 4/5

Investment Committee 5/7 2/2 – 7/7

Audit and Risk Committee – 2/2 2/2 3/4*

Remuneration and  
Nominations Committee 3/3 2/2 – –

Social and Ethics Committee – – – 2/2

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana Dr David Sekete Bojane Segooa Londeka Shezi

Board 5/5 4/5 2/2 0/1

Investment Committee 5/7 6/7 – –

Audit and Risk Committee – – – 0/1

Remuneration and  
Nominations Committee 3/3 – – –

Social and Ethics Committee – 2/2* 1/1 –
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Executive Directors

Investment Committee

Quinton Zunga  
(Chief Executive Officer)

Dion Mhlaba  
(Chief Financial Officer) Vuyokazi Nomvalo Colin Clarke

Board 5/5 5/5 5/5 5/5

Investment Committee – – 7/7 7/7*

Audit and Risk Committee – – – –

Remuneration and  
Nominations Committee – – – –

Social and Ethics Committee – – 2/2 –

Fulu Makwetla

Board –

Investment Committee 7/7

Audit and Risk Committee –

Remuneration and  
Nominations Committee –

Social and Ethics Committee –
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Governance Structure continued

CHANGES TO THE BOARD
In compliance with paragraph 3.59 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the Board hereby notifies its shareholders of 
the following changes which occurred during the year:  

• Londeka Shezi, an Independent Non-Executive Director, 
passed away on 7 July 2019 and hence was no longer a 
Director of the Board nor a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee effective 7 July 2019. 

• Dr Solomon Motuba was appointed as the Chairperson of 
the Audit and Risk Committee on 4 October 2019.

• Peter Mehlape resigned as Non-Executive Director on 5 
August 2019.

• Colin Clarke was appointed as an Executive Director on 
2 September 2019.

• Bojane Segooa was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director and as a member of the Social and 
Ethics Committee on 4 October 2019.

• Refiloe Nkadimeng was appointed as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director and as a member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee on 4 October 2019.

• Dinao Lerutla was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director and as a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee, Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
and Investment Committee on 4 October 2019.

GOVERNANCE REPORT
COMPLIANCE

The Company is subject to external regulation by various 
supervisory authorities. The principal applicable frameworks 
include:

• The King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South 
Africa; 

• The JSE Listings Requirements; and

• The Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended, and the 
Companies Regulations.

We conform to our duty of having open and active 
dialogues with regulators and supervisors. We embrace our 
responsibility of conducting business in accordance with 
the governing laws and regulations.

Cape Town, South Africa
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VALUES AND ETHICS

RH Bophelo is committed to conducting business in an honest and ethical manner and in 
accordance with laws and legislations that apply to us. Our Business Code of Conduct and Ethics 
Policy expresses the commitment of the Board and senior management of RH Bophelo to the 
values, principles and standards of the Company.

HONESTY AND 
INTEGRITY

Acting honestly, fairly, 
with due skill, care and 
diligence and with the 

highest ethical standards 
through all our business 

dealings and avoiding any 
act that reflects adversely 

on the Company’s 
professional competence.

QUALITY

We aim to exceed the 
expectations of all 

our stakeholders by 
committing to deliver 
quality and value in 

every aspect of our work, 
through our investments, 
we dedicate ourselves to 

providing high-quality care 
to patients within all our 

facilities.

ACCOUNTABILITY

We accept accountability 
for work, commitments, 
resolving of issues and 

the delivery of exceptional 
results in all actions and 

decisions. We comply with 
all applicable legislation, 

common law, industry 
codes and the Company’s 

rules, procedures and 
regulations.

We recognise and honour 
the Constitution of the 

Republic of South Africa. 
We comply with all South 

African and applicable 
foreign laws, regulations 

and Company policies that 
are in force and have a 

bearing on our business.

We shall not engage in 
any criminal or malicious 

activity that may harm 
the reputation or well-
being of the Company. 

We, therefore, have 
zero tolerance for any 

incidence of dishonesty or 
misconduct perpetrated in, 

or against the Company.

CARE, COMPASSION 
AND RESPECT

We believe that each 
patient is entitled to 

dignity and privacy. We are 
committed to following 
all applicable laws and 
regulations relating to 
quality healthcare and 

patient safety. We respect 
the inherent worth of all 

human beings, irrespective 
of social status, ethnic 

origin, gender, capacities 
or any other differentiating 

characteristics.

COMMUNITY 
RELATIONSHIPS AND 
THE ENVIRONMENT

We acknowledge our 
dynamic and vital role 

within the communities 
we serve. We continue 
to foster growth and 

development in a manner 
that understands and 
serves their needs. 

When engaging with 
communities, we will 
respect their rights 

and dignity, and we are 
committed to improving 

the material well-being of 
the communities in which 
we operate, by introducing 

sustainable healthcare 
services that will fulfil their 

needs.

We will also carefully 
consider the utilisation 
of natural resources, 
including energy and 

water resources, 
and ensure effective 

contribution to sustaining 
our environment for the 

future.

OUR CORE VALUES

The Company believes that accountability will be demonstrated in the willingness to take ownership of roles, responsibilities, actions and 
outcomes and by honouring the obligations to all stakeholders. Focus is placed on the following:

“ We acknowledge our 
dynamic and vital role 
within the communities 
we serve.” — Dr David Sekete
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Board Committees and Responsibilities
The Board has ensured that its arrangements for 
delegation within its structures promote independent 
judgement and assist with the balance of power as well 
as the effective discharge of its duties.

Delegations to committees are recorded by means of terms 

of reference formally approved by the Board. All terms of 

reference were reviewed and approved during the 2020 

financial year. The Board determines and amends the 

scope and responsibilities of the committees, as well as the 

appointment of new committee members.

Board committees have unrestricted access to company 

information and any resources required to assist them in fulfilling 

their responsibilities, including professional advice, which is paid 

for by the Company, following an approved procedure.

The CEO, CIO and CFO are present by invitation at Board 

committee meetings to optimise access to relevant operational 

information. The Company Secretary attends all Board 

committee meetings.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
Members

Dr Solly Motuba (Chairman)

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana

Dinao Lerutla

Refiloe Nkadimeng

An Audit and Risk Committee has been established by the 

Board in compliance with Section 94 of the Companies Act, 

and its composition complies with the provisions thereof.

The role of the Audit and Risk Committee has been codified 

in the Audit and Risk Committee Charter, which has been 

approved by the Board. This charter has been aligned with 

the requirements of King IV, the Companies Act and the JSE 

Listings Requirements.

The Audit and Risk Committee presently comprises of Dr Solly 

Motuba (Chairman), Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, Dinao Lerutla 

and Refiloe Nkadimeng, all of whom are independent Non-

Executive Directors, in compliance with the requirements of 

King IV. The Committee members have unlimited access to 

all information, documents and explanations required in the 

discharge of their duties, as do the external auditors.

The Board, in consultation with the Remuneration and 

Nominations Committee, makes appointments to the Committee 

to fill vacancies. Members of the Audit and Risk Committee are 

subject to re-election by members annually in the Annual General 

Meeting (AGM). The Board has determined that the Committee 

members have the skills and experience necessary to contribute 

meaningfully to the Committee’s deliberations.

The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board in its 
supervisory and governance responsibilities, with regards to the 
matters set out below:

• Discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of the 
Company’s assets;

• The operation of adequate systems and internal control 
processes;

• The preparation of financial reports and statements that fairly 
present the results in compliance with all applicable legal 
requirements and accounting standards;

• Compliance with good governance practices;

• Nomination of the external auditors, considered to be 
independent, whose appointment is subject to shareholder 
approval;

• Interaction with external auditors; and

• Ensuring that the Company has implemented an effective 
plan for risk management that will enhance the Company’s 
ability to achieve its strategic objectives.

The Committee met four (4) times during the Financial Year end 
29 February 2020.

Activities of the Committee during the year

During the current year, the Audit and Risk Committee paid 
particular attention to good governance within the Group. 

Change of External Auditor

Deloitte & Touche has been RH Bophelo’s auditors since 
inception; however, the Audit and Risk Committee is of the 
opinion that it is time for a change and for “a fresh set of eyes” 
to assist RH Bophelo on its growth journey. With that in mind, 
an extensive interview process was undertaken where audit 
firms were invited to present their credentials and audit teams 
to RH Bophelo.

Based on a plethora of criteria, including but not limited to 
desire and a substantial number of women on the team, the 
Audit and Risk Committee decided that Mazars South Africa 
was the most suitable firm for RH Bophelo at this time.

The Audit and Risk Committee was pleased to recommend the 
appointment Mazars South Africa as the auditor of RH Bophelo 
Limited and its subsidiaries, with Rochelle Murugan being 
appointed as the designated Audit Partner of the Company.

We thank Deloitte for their many years of service to RH Bophelo 
and wish them all the best in their future assignments.

Focus for the year ahead

During the coming year, the Audit and Risk Committee will 
continue developing relevant methodologies to monitor the 
Company’s risk exposure.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE OUTLOOK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

46 RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 202046 RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 

responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for the 

reporting period.

Dr Solly Motuba
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
Members

Colin Clarke (Chairman)  
Fulu Makwetla
Dr Solly Motuba 
Vuyokazi Nomvalo
Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana  
John Oliphant
Dr David Sekete
Dinao Lerutla

The Investment Committee is a non-statutory extension of RH 
Bophelo’s Board. The Committee is governed by the Investment 
Charter, Investment Policy and Procedures for the execution of 
the Company’s investment strategy as well as overseeing the 
IC’s corporate actions. The Investment Committee establishes 
investment parameters and regularly reviews the performance of 
the Company’s asset acquisition activity.

As custodian of the Fund’s portfolio of assets, the Committee 
is accountable to the Board. The Investment Committee’s 
responsibilities and duties are stipulated in its Charter, and its 
mandate is aligned with the Company’s business strategy as an 
investment holding entity.

The Company’s Investment Policy prescribes the objectives, 
distribution policies and investment guidelines that govern the 
Investment Portfolio Committee’s activities.

The Investment Policy was formulated by taking RH Bophelo’s 
financial needs, risk appetite and tolerance into consideration. 
It is managed consistently with the short-term and long-term 
financial goals of the Company in mind. However, it allows 
for sufficient investment flexibility in lieu of changing market 
conditions and/or financial circumstances.

The Committee will review the Investment Policy statement at 
least once a year, and changes can only be made by affirmation 
of the majority of the Committee members and subject to 
shareholder approval as per paragraph 15.7 of the JSE Listing 
Requirements.

During 25 February 2019, the Board approved an Investment 
Delegation of Authority (DOA) to RH Bophelo’s Investment 
Committee to permit it to make certain investments on behalf 
of RH Bophelo. The DOA is limited to investments in any one 
financial year of twenty million rand (R20 million), which is in 
keeping with RH Bophelo’s strategy and mandate. During the 
2020 financial year, no investments were made through the DOA.

During September 2019, the Board approved an Executive 
DOA to RH Bophelo’s Executive Committee to permit 
it to make certain investments on behalf of and for RH 
Bophelo. The DOA is limited to investments in any one 
financial year of ten million rand (R10 million) and is in 
keeping with RH Bophelo’s strategy and mandate.

The Investment Committee met 7 (seven) times during the 
Financial Year end 29 February 2020.

ROLE OF THE INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The Investment Committee acts in a fiduciary capacity with 
respect to the Portfolio and is accountable to the Board 
of RH Bophelo, for overseeing the investment of all assets 
owned in the Portfolio.

This Investment Policy Statement sets forth the investment 
objectives, distribution policies, and investment guidelines 
that govern the activities of the Investment Committee and 
any other parties to whom the Committee has delegated 
investment management responsibility for its portfolio assets.

The investment policies for RHB have been formulated in 
consideration of RHB’s anticipated financial needs and 
its tolerance and appetite for assuming investment and 
financial risk.

Evaluation

When RH Bophelo listed in July 2017, there was never any 
doubt amongst the executives concerning what they wanted to 
achieve, which is to: “change the face of healthcare provision in 
South Africa and Africa.”

Refer to the portfolio accumulation under Section 2 of the 
report.

Of the initial R500 million raised, approximately 90.4% of the 
funds have been committed. Though we have experienced 
rapid growth, we do so cognizant of our mandate, the people 
we serve and the faith that our investors have placed in us.

For us, it is all about doing good by doing well.

Colin Clarke 
Chairman of the Investment Committee

“ When RH Bophelo listed, there 
was never any doubt amongst the 
executives concerning what they 
wanted to achieve, which is to “invest 
in affordable healthcare that caters to 
the person on the street.” — Colin Clarke 
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REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE
Members

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana (Chairperson) 
John Oliphant
Dinao Lerutla

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee comprises 
of three Non-Executive Directors, the majority of whom 
are independent, and is chaired by an Independent Non-
Executive Director.

The role of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
has been codified in the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee Charter approved by the Board. This charter has 
been aligned with the requirements of King IV, the Companies 
Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

The Company currently does not have any direct employees; 
therefore, all reference to ‘employees’ refers to future 
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee has been 
established by the Board to:

• Assist the Board in determining and administering the 
remuneration policy;

• Approve the remuneration of all the Executives; 

• oversee incentivisation of all employees;

• Consider any other matters relevant to remuneration of the 
Executive Directors and staff;

• Identify suitable Board candidates to fill vacancies on the 
Board; 

• Ensure that there is a succession plan in place for key 
management and members of the Board; and

• Assess the independence of Non-Executive Directors and 
the composition of the Board Sub-committees.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee met three (3) 
times during the financial year end 29 February 2020.

Activities of the Committee during the year

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee’s 
responsibilities and duties are governed by a charter that 
was approved by the Board. The Board reviewed the Charter 
during the 2020 financial year.

Changes to the Board

It was with great sadness that we had to report on the 
untimely passing of Londeka Anelisiwe Shezi on the 7 July 
2019. Londeka was an independent Non-Executive Director of 
the Board, Chairperson for the Audit and Risk Committee and 
member of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee.

Londeka was a key member of RH Bophelo, and her valuable 
contributions will be dearly missed. The RH Bophelo Board will 
always remember Londeka as a young, enthusiastic, ambitious 
and a well-liked person who saw an opportunity in challenges 
and was very committed to making a difference.

During the current financial year, the Committee gave specific 
focus to the composition of the Board and the balance of 
skills and experience of the Non-Executive Directors. The 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee provided a 
mandate to the Executive Committee of RHB to design a 
process and methodology for the selection of members with 
suitable skills and experience to be appointed to the Audit 
and Risk Committee and the Board of RHB. The Executive 
Committee’s role was to interview potential candidates and 
present a report with recommendations for appointments to the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee.

Candidates were chosen based on the following criteria:

• Educational qualifications;

• Business acumen;

• Investment expertise;

• Experience serving on boards of other companies; 

• Audit committee experience; 

• Gender; and

• Race (ethnicity).

Out of the eight (8) candidates considered, three (3) were 
appointed. Dinao Lerutla, Refiloe Nkadimeng and Bojane 
Segooa were appointed as Non-Executive Directors to the 
Board on the 4 October 2019. Colin Clarke, the Chairman of 
the Investment Committee, was appointed as an Executive 
Director of RH Bophelo on the 2 September 2019.

The Board now comprises of seven (7) Non-Executive 
Directors and four (4) Executive Directors.

Directors' independence evaluation

During the current financial year, the Board, with the assistance 
of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee, undertook 
an evaluation of the Non-Executive Directors’ independence. 
Through the analysis undertaken, which is reflected in the King 
Code and Corporate Governance Report on pages 54 - 64, the 
Board was able to classify five (5) Directors as independent and 
two (2) Directors as non-independent.

Board evaluation

Formal evaluations of the Board, its sub-committees 
and individual Directors, including the Board Chairman, 
were undertaken during the current financial year. These 
assessments are performed at least every second year. During 
the review period, a questionnaire was administered by the 
Company secretary. The answers to the questionnaire were 

Board Committees and Responsibilities continued
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analysed, and the overall feedback was positive. Refer to 
the King IV Compliance Report on pages 54 - 64 for further 
details on the Board evaluation feedback.

Remuneration Policy Review

An independent consultant was utilised to revise the 
Company’s remuneration policy. The policy was to be based 
on current board remuneration practices in the market and the 
realisation of a benchmark study of similar size organisations 
in the financial services sector. The revised remuneration 
policy provides the approach and guidelines necessary with 
regards to the remuneration of services rendered to the 
Board by its members. The methodology used included the 
following:

• Study of the annual reports;

• Remuneration practices of the Company;

• Frequency of meetings;

• Skills levels of board members (ascertained through 
discussions with management);

• Size of the Company; and 

• The Company’s previous remuneration policy document.

RH BOPHELO REMUNERATION POLICY 
EXTRACTS
Remuneration of boards

1.  Board members will be remunerated in the form of meeting 
fees per meeting attended as well as an annual retainer fee 
paid quarterly. Meeting fees incorporate meeting preparation, 
research, and post-meeting follow-up (collectively “pre-
meeting preparation”), as well as the length of the meeting 
itself, based on an estimate of the total time required. The 
meeting fees payable to Boards are attached, as stated in 
the Financial Statements of the Company.

2.  If a Board Member is requested by the Board to form part 
of a task team or attend a Strategic Planning Session of 
the Board, they will be remunerated at the rate of a Board 
meeting fee for each sitting of the Committee, irrespective 
of the number of days over which the sitting takes place.

3.  Board members who are not formal members of a specific 
committee shall be remunerated for attending such a 
committee meeting if the Chairperson of that committee 
has formally invited the Board member to attend or if 
the Chairperson of the Committee on which the Board 
is serving formally requests the Board to represent 
the Committee. The Board Member’s attendance is 
remunerated at an hourly rate in accordance with the 
specific agenda item.

4.  If a Board member who is not a committee member of 
a specific meeting attends a meeting without a formal 
invitation, no remuneration or subsistence or travel claim 
will be processed in favour of that Board member.

5.  A Board member is expected to attend at least three-
quarters of a meeting, otherwise, the meeting fee for that 
meeting shall not be paid.

Retainer Fee

Principles of the Retainer Fee

The following principles for the payment of a retainer fee 
should be followed:

1.  A retainer fee will be paid to Board members for their 
contribution, including emails, round-robin approvals, and 
for any work performed other than meeting attendance. 

2.  Retainer fees will be paid to Board members, Chairpersons 
of Board committees, and the Chairperson of the Board.

3.  The annual retainer fee will be paid on a quarterly basis to 
RHB Board members.

General provisions

1.  The Board remuneration is benchmarked to the  
2nd percentile. 

2.  The Chairman of the Board shall not be a chairman of any 
other committee of the Board.

3.  No fees, remuneration or incentives shall be paid to 
Executives who sit on the RH Bophelo committees ex-officio.

4.  For the purposes of determining the remuneration 
benchmark for Board members, the following principles shall 
be applied:

• RH Bophelo shall be benchmarked and calculated on the 
median fee of a Non-Executive of an equivalent group of 
a JSE small size listed company at a turnover and asset 
size equivalent to that of RH Bophelo. The parameter of 
the comparator JSE Company shall be R600m to R1,2b 
asset value.

5.  Board members will not be remunerated for non-
attendance of meetings.

6.  Where a Board member attends a meeting where there 
is no quorum, the attendees of the meeting will be 
remunerated as per the meeting fee applicable, i.e. as if 
there were a quorum.
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7.  If a Board member is appointed to sit on a Board or any 

other such structure on behalf of the Board and qualifies 

for remuneration in terms of that Board or structure’s 

remuneration policy, then such a person may elect to 

be remunerated either in terms of RH Bophelo’s Board’s 

remuneration policy or in terms of the policy of that Board 

or structure. The election of preferred remuneration 

would be applicable for the entire term of the person’s 

appointment to that Board or structure.

8.  Board fees and retainers may not be escalated at an 

amount greater than an average increase that is offered to 

Executives and employees.

9.  The Board and Remuneration and Nominations 

Committee shall recalibrate Board fees every second year 

to ensure relevance.

10.  Board and committee assessments should be performed 

regularly to assess the individual Board member’s 

contributions.

11.  There should be control and regular review of the number 

of committees on which Board members serve to ensure 

that they have the ability and capacity to discharge their 

duties effectively.

12.  The CEO will submit a written report, regarding all 

payments made to all Board members, to the Board on 

an annual basis.

13.  To minimise the number of Investment Committee 

meetings, the Board should consider delegating a 

percentage of asset allocation to management.

Limitations and conditions

1.  The rules of the Company will take precedence in the 
event of any apparent conflict or dispute in respect of the 
interpretation of this Policy.

2.  The remuneration of Board members in terms of this policy 
specifically excludes travel, accommodation, and other 
authorised reasonable expenses incurred by Board members 
as it is provided for in the RH Bophelo Travel Policy.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee and Board 
approved the revised Remuneration Policy in February 2020.

REMUNERATION IMPLEMENTATION REPORT
Background

RH Bophelo Limited does not have any employees. A 
management contract has been entered into between RH 
Bophelo Limited and RH Bophelo Management Company 
Proprietary Limited (ManCo). RH Bophelo’s Remuneration Policy 
guides the ManCo on best practice principles to be applied. 
The management agreement discharges all staffing obligations 
from RH Bophelo to the ManCo. The ManCo has developed 
a remuneration policy for Executive Directors and staff, and a 
Performance Scorecard Matrix with Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) to measure the performance of executives and staff.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REMUNERATION
Non-Executive Directors’ fees reflect the Directors’ role and 
membership on the Board and its sub-committees. The Non-
Executive Directors do not participate in any short-term or long-
term incentives and do not have an employment contract with 
the Company.

Cape Town, South Africa

Board Committees and Responsibilities continued
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The fees for Non-Executive Directors are based on proposals 
from the Board of Directors and the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee, which are submitted to shareholders 
for approval in accordance with the Companies Act. The fees 
for Non-Executive Directors are annually reviewed by the Board 
and the Remuneration and Nominations Committee. Increases 
are based on inflation, and the Committee utilises benchmark 
studies on similar-sized investment holding companies.

The fee paid to Non-Executive Directors comprises of a 
monthly retainer fee and a per meeting attendance fee. The 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee, with the assistance 
of an external consultant, completed a review against the 
industry market for Director’s remuneration during 2020. The 
fees proposed for Non-Executive Directors are in line with 
similar size companies listed on the JSE. Refer to page 119 for 
Non-Executive Directors' fees paid.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REMUNERATION
Remuneration principles

• Remuneration is aimed at being competitive in the 
appropriate market. It is normal practice to reward 
employees between the market 25th and 75th percentiles, 
while aiming to reward acceptable performers at the market 
50th percentile.

• Rewarding management gives due consideration to 
internal equity but also allows for a reasonable level of 
differentiation, i.e. rewarding high performers at the 75th 
percentile of the market and the developing or newly 
promoted employees at the market 25th percentile. Where 
employees are paid outside the salary range of the 25th 
and 75th percentile, future increments shall be treated as a 
cost of living allowance until such time as the employee falls 
within the band.

• The ManCo considers the individual employee’s merit and 
performance in determining employee salary levels as well 
as salary increases.

• Remuneration is reviewed and benchmarked regularly 
through independent external professional service providers 
to maintain external competitiveness of reward and address 
any possible pay anomalies.

• In setting remuneration levels, consideration is given to the 
following:

•  The position, including job size and internal relativities 
(job grade);

• The competencies that the person brings to the role;

• The ManCo’s capacity to pay; and

• The relevant market comparisons.

Pay Premiums

The ManCo will pay a premium where appropriate. A premium 
is not guaranteed and will take into consideration a number of 
factors, such as:

• The market for the particular job (position/scarcity 
premium);

• The skills and experience of the person (person specific/
skill/competency premium); and

• Role specific premium in case of blended/duel 
responsibilities.

Market premium

A market premium may be applicable where:

• There have been sustained and significant market pressures in 
recruitment and retention evidenced through supporting data;

• In consideration of current practice in competing 
organisations in relation to premiums, e.g. salary surveys 
or particular discipline, occupational group or industry 
segment in the general market; and

•  There has been a high turnover of staff in a particular area due 
to a lack of competitive remuneration.

Person Specific (skills / competency) Premium

A person specific premium may be applicable where:

• The staff member’s contribution is a critically important 
contribution to the achievement of strategic objectives of 
the organisation;

•  The staff member adds exceptional value to the 
organisation and, if lost would have a detrimental impact 
on the organisation;

•  The staff member has a critical skill set that if lost, would 
be detrimental to the organisation. Plans will need to be 
put in place to transfer critical knowledge and skills.

Role Specific Premium

A role specific premium may be applicable where:

• The position requires substantial additional duties above the 
current level of the individual’s classification.

Remuneration components

The ManCo adopts a total cost to company package. 
Remuneration refers to all forms of financial returns and tangible 
services and benefits staff members receive as part of an 
employment relationship. 

Total guaranteed package:

Total guaranteed package comprises the basic salary of 
employees or Executive Management, inclusive of all benefits 
such as pension, medical aid and insurance. The total 
guaranteed package is payable for doing the expected day-to-
day job requirements.
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Annual Short-Term Incentives (STI)

Employees are eligible for an annual STI, which is calculated on 

total guaranteed remuneration paid at the end of the financial 

year. If the employee has less than one (1) years’ service, but 

more than 6 months, the annual STI is paid on a pro-rata basis. 

The annual STI will only be paid to employees who are in the 

employ of the ManCo at the time the STI is paid.

A short-term incentive of 50% of annual guaranteed earnings for 

Executive Directors will be paid on achievement of an on-target 

performance level. Short-term incentive payments will be capped 

at a maximum of 80% of guaranteed annual remuneration for the 

CEO and 60% for other Executive Directors, with a sliding scale 

between the threshold and the maximum.

No STI was paid to staff or Executive Directors during this 

financial year in review.

Long-Term Incentives (LTI)

LTI for Executive Management will have two (2) mechanisms to 

affect their long-term interest in the ManCo. These mechanisms 

are structured in consideration of the low management fees and 

ability of the Fund to compensate management at market rates 

and to keep the Executive Management’s interest tied to the 

Fund. The two types of incentives are as follows:

a) Shareholding
Executives shall have a shareholding in the ManCo. The 

percentage shareholding shall be determined by the ManCo 

Board in consultation with the Executives and shall be set no 

later than three (3) years after the anniversary date of RHB’s 

listing on the JSE. The shares shall vest with the Executive 

Director after the fourth (4th) anniversary date of the listing.

b) Profit Share
A yearly profit share of 20% of the Net Distributable 

Earnings (NDE) of the ManCo shall be paid to the Executive 

Directors of RHB. The distribution of the profits to Executive 

Management shall be in accordance with the KPIs assigned 

to the Executive Management.

No LTI payments were made during this financial year in review.

Board Committees and Responsibilities continued

Remuneration implementation February 2020

Name Salary Bonus Other Profit Share
Total Guaranteed 

Package

Quinton Zunga R1,600,000 0 0 0 R1,600,000

Dion Mhlaba R1,239,000 0 0 0 R1,239,000

Colin Clarke R1,239,000 0 0 0 R1,239,000

Vuyokazi Nomvalo R960,000 0 0 0 R960,000

Disclosure of remuneration

Refer to note 17 in the annual financial statements for the remuneration paid to Directors for the year ended 28 February 2020. No 
deviations from the remuneration policy were authorised or paid during the year.

Focus for the year ahead

During the coming year, the Committee will focus on deepening and strengthening governance, ensuring that remuneration is 
balanced and fair, as well as ensuring that the wealth of skills and experience brought to the Board by each of its Non-Executive 
Directors are appropriately utilised to add value to RH Bophelo. 

The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for the reporting period.

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana

Chairperson of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
Members

Dr David Sekete (Chairman)
Dr Solly Motuba
Vuyokazi Nomvalo
Bojane Segooa

The Social and Ethics Committee is constituted as a statutory 
committee of the Company for those duties assigned to it in 
terms of section 72(4) of the Companies Act of 2008 (read in 
conjunction with regulation 43 of the Companies Regulations, 
2011) (the Act), and as a committee of the Board for all other 
duties assigned by the Board. 

In addition, as required in line with the King IV Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016, the Committee 
is to have oversight of and report on organisational ethics, 
responsible corporate citizenship, sustainable development 
and stakeholder relationships. This is to ensure sustainability 
while serving the interests of stakeholders on whom the 
business depends.

The Social and Ethics Committee will oversee and report 
on the Company’s ethics, responsible corporate citizenship, 
sustainable development and stakeholder relationships.

The Social and Ethics Committee is responsible for, inter alia:

• Fulfilling the statutory duties set out in regulation 43 to the Act;

• Overseeing and reporting on organisational ethics, 
responsible corporate citizenship, sustainable development 
and stakeholder relationships;

• Assisting the Board in facilitating and supporting the 
development of transformation objectives, ensuring the 
corporate culture is supportive of the approach and 
monitoring and reporting actual performance against 
transformation objectives;

• Monitoring the Company’s activities against global 
responsibility protocols, including the United Nations Global 
Compact (UNGC) and the principles of the Organisation 
for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 
recommendations regarding corruption;

• Monitoring compliance with the Broad-Based Black 
Empowerment (B-BBEE) Act, gender and race diversity; 
and monitoring corporate citizenship, consumer relations 
and the Company’s impact on the environment, health and 
public safety within its investments.

The Committee comprises of three (3) Non-Executive 
Directors and one Executive Director. The Social and Ethics 
Committee’s responsibilities and duties have been codified 
in the Committee’s charter that has been approved by the 
Board. The Charter was reviewed in the current financial year.

The Committee met twice during the 2020 financial year. The 
Company is committed to making a positive impact on the 
country, notably within the health care industry, through its 
investments in healthcare.

Activities of the Committee during the year

During the past year, the Committee focused on the Group’s 
B-BBEE compliance, gender and race diversity, stakeholder 
engagement and Corporate Social Initiative (CSI) projects 
Refer to page 77 for details on the Company’s CSI projects 
undertaken during the year.

Ethics Awareness

As the responsibility for the governance of ethics is one of 
the principles of King IV, the Committee plays a key role in 
setting the direction for how ethics should be approached 
and addressed by the Company. In giving direction, the 
Committee considered and approved for adoption by the 
Board, a revision of the following policies during the current 
financial year:

• Code of conduct and ethics policy 

• Anti-corruption and bribery policy

• Whistle-blower policy

• Non-discrimination policy

• Politically exposed persons policy

• Environmental sustainability policy

• Stakeholder relations policy

• Gifts and other courtesies policy

• Procurement policy

• Gender and race diversity policy

• B-BBEE policy

B-BBEE Level

The Company had undertaken a full B-BBEE rating analysis 
and has achieved a Level 8 B-BBEE rating. 

Focus for the year ahead

During the coming year, the Committee will focus on ensuring 
that our investments are undertaken in an ethical manner 
cognisant of BEE in all its forms, and working toward 
spreading the healthcare dividend.  
 
Dr David Sekete 
Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee
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King Code and Corporate Governance
The King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV) advocates an outcomes-based approach and 
defines corporate governance as the exercise of ethical and effective leadership towards the achievement of the following 
governance outcomes:

• Ethical culture 

• Good performance 

• Effective control 

• Legitimacy

The application of King IV is on an “apply and explain” basis and the practices underpinning the principles espoused in King IV 
are entrenched in the Company’s internal controls, policies and procedures.

The practices implemented as well as the progress made towards achieving the 17 principles in meeting those outcomes are 
listed below:

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME ONE: ETHICAL CULTURE

Principle Application and explanation

1. The governing 
body should lead 
ethically and 
effectively.

Board charter

RH Bophelo’s Board is its governing body.
A formal Board charter was adopted by the Board and is complementary to the provisions of the Companies 
Act No. 71 of 2008 (Companies Act), the Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) of RH Bophelo, King IV, the JSE 
Listings Requirements and the provisions governing the relationship between the Board and its sub-committees 
as contained in the charters of the sub-committees, which have been adopted by the Board.

The Charter sets out the ethical foundation on how the Company operates as well as the Board’s composition, 
delegation, duties, roles and responsibilities, meetings procedures and other related matters for the Company. 
The Board reviewed the Charter in February 2020.

The Company’s business code of conduct and ethics policy expresses the commitment of the Board, senior 
management and employees of RH Bophelo to the values, principles and standards the Company adheres to.

The Board meets to consider the business and strategy of the Company. The Board reviews reports from the sub-
committees and independent advisors.

During the financial year end 29 February 2020, five Board meetings were held. Agendas for Board meetings are 
prepared by the Company Secretary in consultation with the Chairman and the CEO.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME TWO: PERFORMANCE AND VALUE CREATION

Principle Application and explanation

2. The governing 
body should 
govern the 
ethics of the 
organisation in a 
way that supports 
the establishment 
of an ethical 
culture.

Ethical performance

The Board has a fiduciary duty to act in good faith, with due care and diligence and in the best interests of the 
Company and its stakeholders. It is the primary body responsible for the corporate governance values of the 
Company.

While control for the day-to-day management of the Company is delegated to management, the Board retains full 
and effective control over the Group. The Board exercises ongoing oversight of the management of ethics through 
its various committees.

Social responsibility and ethics in the Company is led by the Social and Ethics Committee, which is the social 
conscience of the Group.

RH Bophelo has adopted the following policies towards the application of the Company’s ethical standards:

Code of conduct and ethics policy

The policy provides a framework of the standards of business conduct and ethics that are required of the Board, 
management and employees in order to promote and enforce ethical business practices within the Company.

Anti-corruption and bribery policy

The Company’s policy is to conduct all its business in an honest and ethical manner. The Board prohibits 
corruption in any form, whether direct or indirect, and applies a zero-tolerance approach to acts of bribery and 
corruption by any of its members, employees, business partners, suppliers and service providers.

Whistle-blowing policy

The Company has a culture of ethical conduct and openness and encourages honest whistle-blowing. Employees, 
suppliers and stakeholders are advised to report malpractice without fear of penalty or punishment. The policy provides 
the Company and the whistle-blower with all the rights and duties as defined in the Protected Disclosure Act.

The monitoring of adherence to the Company’s ethical standards is undertaken by the Company’s Social and 
Ethics Committee on a biennial basis.

The Board is not aware of any transgressions of its ethics policies during the financial year.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL

Principle Application and explanation

3. The governing 
body should 
ensure that the 
organisation is 
and is seen to 
be a responsible 
corporate citizen.

Responsible corporate citizen

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall responsible corporate citizenship performance of RH Bophelo. 
The Board, through its Social and Ethics Committee, oversees and monitors on an ongoing basis how the 
consequences of the Company’s activities and outputs affect its status as a responsible corporate citizen.

Oversight and monitoring are performed against measures detailed in the Company’s Stakeholder Engagement 
Plan as detailed on pages 71 to 74.

4. The governing 
body should 
appreciate that 
the organisation’s 
core purpose 
– its risks and 
opportunities, 
strategy, 
business model, 
performance 
and sustainable 
development are 
all inseparable 
elements of the 
value creation 
process.

Functions of the Board

The Board’s predominant responsibility is to ensure that RH Bophelo creates value for its shareholders. In so 
doing, the Board considers the legitimate interests and expectations of its stakeholders.

The Board assumes responsibility for the Company’s performance by steering and setting the direction for the 
realisation of the Company’s core purpose and values through its investment policy strategy. A strategy workshop 
was undertaken by the Board during October 2019.

The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board with the governance of risk. The Committee monitors the 
Company’s risks and ensures the implementation of various mitigating controls. This responsibility is contained in 
the Board and the Audit and Risk Committee charters.

Role of the Directors

Members of the Board assume collective responsibility for:

• Steering and setting the direction of the Company; 

• Approving policy and planning;

• Overseeing and monitoring implementation and execution by management; and 

• Ensuring accountability for the Company’s performance.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Board, its committees and 
individual Directors.

King Code and Corporate Governance continued
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL continued

Principle Application and explanation

5. The governing 
body should 
ensure that 
reports issued by 
the organisation 
enable 
stakeholders to 
make informed 
assessments of 
the organisation’s 
performance, and 
its short, medium 
and long-term 
prospects.

Reporting

The Company is committed to good corporate governance in ensuring that all material information is timely and 
accurately communicated to its stakeholders, in line with regulatory requirements.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Committee, ensures that the necessary controls are in place to verify and 
safeguard the integrity of the Company’s annual reports and any other disclosures. The Audit and Risk Committee 
oversees and reviews the annual financial statements, which are audited by the external auditors.

In its interim and annual report to stakeholders, RH Bophelo details both its historical and future performance 
outlook.

This, together with supplementary information in the integrated report, enables stakeholders to make informed 
assessments of RH Bophelo prospects.

Refer to pages 14 - 30 for RH Bophelo’s performance.

6. The governing 
body should 
serve as the 
focal point 
and custodian 
of corporate 
governance in the 
organisation.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is the focal point and custodian of corporate governance of RH Bophelo. Although certain 
responsibilities are delegated to committees or management, the Board acknowledges that it is not discharged 
from its obligations regarding these matters.

The Board has an approved protocol to be followed in the event that it, or any of its members or committees, needs 
to obtain independent, external professional advice at the cost of the Company on matters within the scope of its 
duties.

The Board’s role and responsibilities, and the way that it executes its duties and decision-making, are 
documented and set out in the Board charter.

The Board has developed appropriate governance policies and frameworks to ensure that the Company adheres 
to the required governance standards.

Prior to each Board meeting, an information pack, which provides background information on the performance 
of the Company and any other matters for discussion at the meeting, is distributed to each Board member. 
At meetings, the Board considers both financial and non-financial information that may have an impact on 
stakeholders.

Details of the Board meetings held during the year ended 29 February 2020, as well as the attendance at the 
Board sub-committee meetings by individual Directors, are disclosed on pages 42 to 43.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL continued

Principle Application and explanation

7. The governing 
body should 
comprise the 
appropriate 
balance of 
knowledge, skills, 
experience, 
diversity and 
independence for 
it to discharge 
its governance 
role and 
responsibilities 
objectively and 
effectively.

Composition of the Board

RH Bophelo has a unitary Board with 11 Directors, the majority of whom are Non-Executive Directors. The Board 
comprises four Executive Directors, five independent Non-Executive Directors and two Non-independent, Non-
Executive Directors.

Changes to the Board are reflected on page 44 of the Remuneration Report.

The JSE Listings Requirements prescribes that the Chairperson must either be an independent Non-Executive 
Director, failing which the Company must appoint a Lead Independent Director. The Board is chaired by John 
Oliphant, and Dr Solly Motuba has been appointed as a lead independent Director.

The Board has approved a policy on the Balance of Power at Board level to ensure a clear division of 
responsibilities at Board level. The roles of the Chairperson and CEO are separate, and the composition of the 
Board ensures a balance of authority, precluding any one Director from exercising unfettered powers of decision-
making. 

The Board of RH Bophelo comprises the appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity and 
independence, facilitating independent judgement and broad deliberations in the decision-making process. All 
Directors, including the independent Directors, have a comprehensive understanding of the healthcare industry as 
well as the business of the Group.

The Board has established arrangements for periodic, staggered rotation of its members so as to invigorate its 
capabilities by introducing members with new expertise and perspectives while retaining valuable knowledge, 
skills and experience and maintaining continuity. The Board has an immediate and interim succession plan in the 
event of an unforeseen event.

No Director has an automatic right to a position on the Board. All Directors are required to be elected by 
shareholders at an AGM. In a general meeting, the shareholders may appoint any person to be a Director, subject 
to the provisions of the MOI.

Board and Directors’ performance evaluation

New Directors are subject to a ‘fit and proper’ test.

The performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual Directors are conducted every second 
year as recommended by King IV. During February 2020, a formal review of the effectiveness of the Board, its 
sub-committees and individual Directors was undertaken through the Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
with the assistance of the Company secretary. Each director completed an evaluation questionnaire and an 
analysis of the findings was presented.

Two of the weaknesses identified related to the poor timing of the distribution of board packs and the need 
for a Human Resources specialist to sit on the Remuneration and Nominations Committee. Overall, there was 
agreement that the Board was operating effectively.

Ongoing training and development

At the Company’s first Strategy Session meeting held during October 2019, Directors underwent an induction 
provided on the JSE Listings Requirements and King IV by the Company’s Sponsors, Deloitte & Touche.

All new Directors are provided with an induction pack containing information on the Company’s constitution 
documents, policies and charters.

For details of Directors’ full names, their dates of appointment and a brief career synopsis, refer to pages 35 - 41.

King Code and Corporate Governance continued
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL continued

Principle Application and explanation

7. The governing 
body should 
comprise the 
appropriate 
balance of 
knowledge, skills, 
experience, 
diversity and 
independence for 
it to discharge 
its governance 
role and 
responsibilities 
objectively and 
effectively. 

Gender and race diversity at Board level

The Board is committed to actively managing diversity as a means of enhancing the Company’s performance. The 
Board has adopted a policy on the promotion of gender and race diversity at Board level. The process to identify 
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board takes into consideration diversity and inclusion.

The current Board structure comprises of 92% Black Directors of which 50% are female. The Social and Ethics 
Committee set the following targets for gender and race diversity for the Company:

Gender Race

Male Female Black Non-black

 Current Current  Current Current

50% 50% 92% 8%

Target Target Target Target

 50% 50%  70% 30%

The Board has achieved the targets set for gender and race representation.

The gender and race diversity policy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that it continues to facilitate the 
principles of gender and race diversity at Board level.

The Board is satisfied that there is a balance of skills, experience, diversity and knowledge needed to discharge 
its role and responsibilities.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL continued

Principle Application and explanation

8. The governing 
body should 
ensure that its 
arrangements for 
delegation within 
its own structures 
promote 
independent 
judgement and 
assist with 
balance of power 
and the effective 
discharge of its 
duties.

Independence of Directors

Non-Executive Directors of the Board are categorised as independent if it has been concluded that there is 
no interest, position, association or relationship which, when judged from the perspective of a reasonable and 
informed third party, is likely to influence unduly or cause bias in decision-making in the best interests of the 
Company.

The Board’s independence from the Executive Management team is ensured by the following:

• Separation of the roles of Chairman and Managing Director. 

• The appointment of a Lead Independent Director. 

• The Board being dominated by Non-Executive Directors.

• The Audit and Risk Committee, Remuneration and Nominations Committee and Social and Ethics Committee 
having a majority of Independent Directors.

• Non-Executive Directors not holding service contracts.

• All Directors having access to the advice of the Company Secretary. 

• By prior arrangement with the Chairman, all Directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice 
concerning the affairs of the Company at the Company’s expense.

The independence evaluation of Non-Executive Directors is an annual requirement in terms of King IV. The Board, 
through the Remuneration and Nominations Committee, undertook an exercise to evaluate the independence 
of all Non-Executive Directors during February 2020 and all Non-Executive Directors completed an assessment 
matrix to analyse their independence. Five Non-Executive Directors were considered to be independent in terms 
of the requirements of King IV.

Factors considered during the independence inquiry, including whether or not a particular director:

• is a significant provider of financial capital, or of ongoing funding to the Company; or is an officer, employee or 
representative of such provider of financial capital or funding;

• participates in a share-based incentive scheme offered by the Company;

• owns securities in the Company, the value of which is material to the personal wealth of the director;

• has been in the employ of the Company as an Executive Manager during the preceding three financial years, or 
is a related party to such Executive Manager;

• has been the designated external auditor responsible for performing the statutory audit for the Company, or a 
key member of the audit team of the external audit firm, during the preceding three financial years;

• is a significant or ongoing professional advisor to the Company, other than as a member of the Board;

• is a member of the Board or the Executive Management of a significant customer of, or supplier to, the 
Company;

• is a member of the Board or the Executive Management of another organisation which is a related party to the 
Company; or

• is entitled to remuneration contingent on the performance of the Company.

King Code and Corporate Governance continued
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL continued

Principle Application and explanation

8. The governing 
body should 
ensure that its 
arrangements for 
delegation within 
its own structures 
promote 
independent 
judgement and 
assist with 
balance of power 
and the effective 
discharge of its 
duties. Continued.

Board committees

The Board has established four sub-committees to assist the Directors in fulfilling their duties and responsibilities.

The committees are as follows:

• Audit and Risk Committee 

• Investment Committee

• Remuneration and Nominations Committee 

• Social and Ethics Committee

Each committee has a formal charter and reports to the Board at regular intervals. The charters, which set out the 
objectives, authority, composition and responsibilities of each committee, have been approved by the Board. All the 
committees are free to obtain independent professional advice, as and when required, at the expense of the Company.

Membership of the committees is as recommended in King IV. Non-Executive Directors chair the various sub-
committees of the Board.

All sub-committees are appropriately constituted, and members are appointed by the Board, with the exception of the 
Audit and Risk Committee whose members are nominated by the Board and elected by shareholders of the Company.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee reviews the composition of Board committees and makes 
recommendations to the Board with regard to their composition, considering factors such as diversity and skills 
and the need to create a balance of power.

Refer to pages 46 - 48 for the members of each committee and their reports.

Independence of external auditor

Subject to legal provisions, each member of the Board and related parties to the Board submit a declaration of all 
their financial, economic and other interests at least annually, or whenever there are significant changes.

The CFO is the head of the finance function, and he has a senior manager reporting to him. The CFO is 
responsible for overseeing and co-ordinating the effective functioning of the outsourcing arrangement. An 
assessment of the effectiveness of the CFO function is performed annually by the Audit and Risk Committee.

The external auditors report directly to the Audit and Risk Committee. The Committee considered the nature, risks 
and internal control environment at the head office and concluded that it was not necessary to have a dedicated 
internal audit function. Specific internal audit assignments are considered on a periodic basis and outsourced. 

Directors’ interests

Subject to legal provisions, each member of the Board submits a declaration of all financial, economic and other 
interests held by the Director and related parties to the Board at least annually, or whenever there are significant 
changes.

At the beginning of each meeting of the Board or its committees, all Directors are required to declare whether 
any of them has any conflict of interest in respect of a matter on the agenda. Any such conflicts are proactively 
managed as determined by the Board and subject to legal provisions.

Directors recuse themselves from any discussion and decision on matters in which they have a material financial interest.

Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company are disclosed on page 134.

Dealing in securities by the Directors

Dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors and Company officials is regulated and monitored as required 
by the JSE Listings Requirements. In addition, RH Bophelo maintains a closed period from the end of a financial 
period to the date of publication of the financial results and during any period when the Company’s shares are 
trading under a cautionary announcement.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL continued

Principle Application and explanation

9. The governing 
body should 
ensure that the 
evaluation of its 
own performance 
and that of its 
committees, 
its chair and 
individual 
members, 
support continued 
improvement in 
its performance 
and effectiveness

The Board and sub-committee charters include the onus of annual assessments. The Directors believe the Board 
and the sub-committees have discharged all their responsibilities in terms of their respective charters.

The performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual Directors are conducted every second 
year, as recommended by King IV. During February 2020, a formal review of the effectiveness of the Board, its 
sub-committees and individual Directors was undertaken through the Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
with the assistance of the Company secretary. Each Director completed an evaluation questionnaire, and an 
analysis of the findings was presented.

Two of the weaknesses identified related to the poor timing of the distribution of board packs and the need for a 
Human Resources specialist to sit on Remuneration and Nominations Committee. Overall, there were no major 
issues or concerns that were identified, and it was agreed that the Board was operating effectively.

10.  The governing 
body should 
ensure that the 
appointment of, 
and delegation 
to, management 
contribute to 
role clarity 
and effective 
exercise of 
authority and

Delegation of Authority (DOA)

In line with the Board charter, the Board’s responsibilities include the appointment of the CEO, CIO, CFO and the 
implementation of the Company’s strategy, risk management and corporate governance. The Board reviews and 
approves the business plans and monitors the financial performance of the Company and the implementation of 
the strategies.

The Board approved a Delegation of Authority policy that details the powers and matters reserved for itself and 
those to be delegated to management.

The Board ensures that key management functions are led by suitably competent individuals. The Board is 
satisfied that RH Bophelo is appropriately resourced and its delegation to management contributes to an effective 
arrangement by which authorities and responsibilities are exercised.

Company Secretary

Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited, represented by Ragni Naicker, acts as Company Secretary to RH 
Bophelo, duly appointed by the Board in accordance with the Companies Act. All Directors have unlimited access 
to her services, and she is responsible to the Board for ensuring that proper corporate governance principles are 
adhered to.

In compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board has considered and is satisfied that the individuals 
who perform the Company Secretary role are suitably qualified and experienced to competently carry out the 
duties and responsibilities of Company Secretary and that there is an arms-length relationship between itself and 
the Company Secretary. In addition, the Board confirms that Ragni has not served as a Director on the Board, nor 
does she take part in Board deliberations, but only advises on matters of governance, form and procedure.

11.  The governing 
body should 
govern risk in a 
way that supports 
the organisation 
in setting and 
achieving 
its strategic 
objectives.

Governance of risk

The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board with the governance of risk. The Board is aware of the 
importance of risk management as it is linked to the strategy, performance and sustainability of the business.

The Audit and Risk Committee implemented a process whereby inherent risks of the Company are identified and 
managed within acceptable parameters. The Audit and Risk Committee delegates to management to continuously 
identify, assess, mitigate and manage risks within the Company’s operating environment. Mitigating controls are 
formulated to address the risks, and the Board is kept up to date on progress on the risk management plan.

Refer to pages 66 - 69 for an overview of RH Bophelo’s risks.

King Code and Corporate Governance continued
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL continued

Principle Application and explanation

12.  The governing 
body should 
govern 
technology and 
information 
in a way that 
supports the 
organisation 
setting and 
achieving 
its strategic 
objectives.

The Board, together with the Audit and Risk Committee, oversees the governance of technology and information 
(IT). The Board is aware of the importance of IT in relation to RH Bophelo’s strategy.

13.  The governing 
body should 
govern 
compliance with 
applicable laws 
and adopted, 
non-binding 
rules, codes 
and standards 
in a way that 
supports the 
organisation 
being ethical 
and a good 
corporate 
citizen.

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Company Secretary, ensures that the 
Company complies with applicable laws and legislation.

There were no regulatory penalties, sanctions or fines for contravention of or non-compliance with statutory 
obligations.

14.  The governing 
body should 
ensure that the 
organisation 
remunerates 
fairly, 
responsibly and 
transparently so 
as to promote 
the achievement 
of strategic 
objectives 
and positive 
outcomes in the 
short, medium 
and long-term.

The Board, assisted by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee, ensures that Directors are remunerated 
fairly, responsibly, transparently and in line with industry standards so as to promote the creation of value in a 
sustainable manner. This responsibility is contained in the Remuneration and Nominations Committee’s charter 
and the Company’s remuneration policy.

An independent consultant was utilised to revise the Company’s remuneration policy. The policy was based 
on current board remuneration practices in the market and the realisation of a benchmark study of similar 
size organisations in the financial services sector. The revised remuneration policy provides the approach and 
guidelines necessary with regards to the remuneration of services rendered to the Board by its members.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee and Board approved the revised remuneration policy in February 
2020. Since Executive Directors are paid for from the ManCo, the ManCo has developed a scorecard of key 
performance measures that will be utilised to measure the executives’ performance. The Executive team were 
then tasked to provide a guideline to RH Bophelo’s investors on the methodology used to select the different 
metrics, and the meeting with investors has since been held.

RH Bophelo’s remuneration implementation report is reflected on pages 50 to 52, and individual Directors’ 
remuneration is disclosed on page 119 of the financial statements.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL continued

Principle Application and explanation

15.  The governing 
body should 
ensure that 
assurance 
services and 
functions enable 
an effectively 
controlled 
environment, 
and that these 
support the 
integrity of 
information 
for internal 
decision-making 
and of the 
organisation’s 
external reports.

The Board, assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee, ensures that the combined assurance from the external 
auditors appropriately addresses the identified company risks.

The Board is satisfied that the assurance results indicate an adequate and effectively controlled environment and 
integrity of reports for better decision-making. This responsibility is contained in the Board Charter and the Audit 
and Risk Committee Charter.

Refer to pages 84 - 86 for information on assurance contained in the Audit and Risk Committee report.

16.  In the execution 
of its governance 
roles and 
responsibilities, 
the governing 
body should 
adopt a 
stakeholder-
inclusive 
approach that 
balances the 
needs, interests 
and expectations 
of material 
stakeholders 
in the best 
interests of the 
organisation  
over time.

The Board believes that corporate social responsibility policies are intended to promote a culture of social 
responsibility within the Company, which will help improve the wellbeing of people, promote the economic and 
social development of the communities in which it has a presence, and create sustainable value for shareholders 
and investors, employees, investee companies, suppliers and other stakeholders of the Company.

The Board has adopted a stakeholder relations policy to foster a framework of relations based on the principles of 
transparency, active listening, and equal treatment that favours the inclusion of stakeholders in the business and 
activities of the Company. The policy is based on information-gathering, surveying, engagement, and collaboration 
with the stakeholders.

The Social and Ethics Committee is ultimately responsible for supervising and coordinating the development 
of the strategy for relations between the Company and its stakeholders through the Company’s stakeholder 
engagement plan. Various stakeholder groups have been identified and the Board will balance its legitimate and 
reasonable needs, interests and expectations.

Refer to pages 70 – 74 for information on RH Bophelo’s stakeholder relationship and engagements.

17.  The governing 
body of an 
institutional 
investor 
organisation 
should ensure 
that responsible 
investment is 
practiced by the 
organisation 
to promote the 
good governance 
and the creation 
of value by the 
companies in 
which it invests.

The Board, through RH Bophelo’s investment policy, ensures that responsible investment is practiced by RH 
Bophelo to promote good governance and the creation of value by the body of companies in which RH Bophelo 
invests.

King Code and Corporate Governance continued
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Johannesburg, South Africa
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RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES 
Risk management is integrated into the Company’s strategy and considered an intrinsic part of doing business. We 

acknowledge that the success of our Company depends on its ability to efficiently manage and respond to risks. The Audit 

and Risk Committee has been mandated by the Board to monitor the Company’s risks.

Risk management is an ongoing process in every organisation, and everyone is a custodian for risk management in their 

department. A risk strategy workshop was held during September 2018, during which an in-depth review of the Group’s risks 

was analysed. The purpose of the workshop was to identify and address the current and potential risks of the Company. This 

was linked to the operations of the Company and its underlying investments, the strategic direction that the Company is taking 

and any other risks that affect the industry that the Company operates in. Different stakeholders attended this risk workshop 

and presented their professional opinions on the risks in the market and their potential impact on the Company. The workshop 

was hosted by the Audit and Risk Committee. The sponsors in attendance included the lawyers/legal counsel of the Company, 

the independent auditors and representatives from the companies that the business is insured with, and by invitation, the 

internal audit practitioners. Several of the Group’s employees, hospital managers and operators also attended. Thereafter, the 

Company engaged an independent company to assist with the development of a risk matrix.

Our risk management process

The risk matrix is part of the risk management process. It involves identifying risks, gathering background data, calculating their 

likelihood and severity, and outlining risk prevention and management strategies. The risk assessment matrix details the severity 

of an event occurring and the probability of it occurring. By visualising existing and potential risks, the Company can assess their 

impact and identify which ones are of the highest priority. The Company would then create a plan for responding to the risks that 

need the most attention.

The Company contracted the services of SkX Protiviti Proprietary Limited, a reputable internal audit firm, to assist in carrying out 

the process of developing a risk register. The project was divided into phases. SkX Protiviti was provided with the material of all 

the parties that presented at the risk workshop. SkX Protiviti went through the presented material to identify the risks that were 

specific to the Company and benchmarked these against industry practices.

Management identified key business processes from a strategic and operations level. For each process, SkX Protiviti had 

discussions with the process owners in order to obtain a more detailed understanding of that process, unearth more risks and 

also identify if there were any compensating controls.

Risk register document compilation:
The principal risks were identified and described within the different divisions.

The likelihood or frequency of the risk was assessed, within a range of 1 to 5 with 1 being the lowest and 5 the highest, and the 

impact it has on the business from normal to severe ranging from 1 to 5. Based on this, the inherent risk would be determined.

There was also an assessment of whether there was a compensating control for the risk identified, as this would then determine 

the level of residual risk, if any.

The document was then provided to management for updating and commentary. The draft risk register was then formulated from 

this process.

Risk Management
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RISK REGISTER

Strategic Risk

Risk Risk Description Division Existing Controls Monitoring Body

1 Capital raising Inability to raise additional 
capital

Office of the CEO Ensure adequate funding available for 
capital requirements. Company has thus far 
been successful in capital raising.

Investment Committee

2 Return on 
investments

Investments not meeting 
targeted returns

Office of the CEO Project due diligence and Investment 
Committee approvals.

Investment Committee

3 Compliance Non-compliance with JSE 
requirements, Non-compliance 
with King IV, Non-compliance 
with NHI (Emerging Risk), Non-
compliance with Companies 
Act, Non-compliance with 
Health Act

Office of the CEO The Company engages both in-house and 
external legal advisors.

Training is provided where relevant new 
legislation is introduced.

Management and the auditors monitor 
compliance with the legal requirements.

The Group’s employees regularly attend 
conferences and training specific to their 
area of responsibility within the Company 
that would assist in the identification of the 
new and relevant legislation.

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Operational Risk

4 Compliance Timeous renewal of hospital 
licenses

Hospitals The Department of Health undertakes an 
audit for the licence renewal prior to expiry 
of licence.

Audit and Risk 
Committee

5 Anti-
corruption / 
promotion of 
BEE

Procurement in line with BEE 
codes of practice

Support Services A Social and Ethics Committee has been 
established to monitor compliance.

Social and Ethics 
Committee

Financial and Reporting Risks

6 Insurance Insurance cover not optimised Finance Assets and staff are covered by the 
Company.

Professional Indemnity reviewed and in 
place. Insurance placed through brokers 
with sufficient financial backing to sustain 
cover period.

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Health and Safety Risk

7 Policy and 
procedure

Inadequate standard operating 
procedures for fire evacuation

Hospitals A valid fire certificate is held for all 
hospitals. There are also evacuation 
procedures documented in case of a fire.

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Human Resource Risk

8 Skills Shortage of specialised skills Hospitals The remuneration of key staff is aligned 
with the interest of shareholders.

Investment Committee

Socio-Economic Risk

9 Market Negative economic growth 
resulting in declining revenue

Office of the CEO Keeping abreast of any changes in the 
market, especially the healthcare industry. 
Market studies are performed in any area 
where the acquisition will be made.

Investment Committee

Technology Risk

10 Disaster 
recovery

Failure to be adequately 
prepared for a disaster

Support Services Regular backups are performed.

Modern IT infrastructure and processes in 
place to ensure accuracy.

A Business Continuity Plan will be 
established and documented.

Board
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Risk Management continued

RISK AROUND COVID-19

THE OUTBREAK OF THE 
CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC
EFFECT ON THE GOING CONCERN 
ASSESSMENT
The outbreak of the COVID-19 (Coronavirus) in December 
2019 has had profound consequences for the world at 
large. The various measures implemented in order to contain 
the spread of the outbreak have fundamentally altered the 
way societies, governments and policymakers interact and 
collaborate with each other. The measures that have been 
implemented, ranging from the healthcare-specific to the 
broader measures aimed at containing the resultant economic 
and social impacts, have forced all stakeholders to revisit their 
place in the global health and socioeconomic value chain.

In South Africa, the measures implemented have been lauded 
by the World Health Organisation for their promptness and 
effectiveness. As a player in the healthcare sector value chain 
in South Africa, our business has found itself at the frontline of 
the intervention measures.

In the aftermath of the Coronavirus outbreak, the Board has 
revisited the key ratios used in the assessment of its solvency, 
profitability and liquidity indicators – and concluded that they 
remain within the range that the Board deems appropriate to 
support the going concern assumption. A key factor in this 
assessment was the fact that the Company’s operating units 
are in the healthcare sector and were classified as essential 
services. The impact of this classification is that the decline in 
occupancy rates and capacity utilisation was marginal, and all 
units continued to operate within the normal range. To this end, 
the going concern assumption has been determined to be the 
appropriate basis for financial reporting as at 29 February 2020.

IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period are the accounting 
standard that guides how companies need to account for 
events that occur from its reporting date (29 February 2020) to 
the date of the publication of the annual financial statements. 
Events that do materialise during that time are classified either 
as ‘adjusting’ or ‘non-adjusting’ events. The primary distinction 
is that adjusting events must provide further evidence or insight 

into matters that already existed at the reporting date (29 
February 2020). Non-adjusting events, on the other hand, relate 
to events that materialised only after the reporting date and 
consequently do not provide evidence or insights into matters 
that already existed on the reporting date.

In relation to the Coronavirus outbreak, the Board has 
concluded that the outbreak of the virus and its spread 
across the world represents an event that materialised after 
the reporting date of 29 February 2020. This is in line with 
the fact that the World Health Organisation only classified the 
virus as a pandemic on the 11 March 2020. In addition, the 
government of the Republic of South Africa only declared 
a National State of Disaster on the 15 March 2020. The 
resultant impact on the financial statements of the Company 
would therefore not relate to events that existed on the 
reporting date of 29 February 2020. Rather, they are events 
that materialised in the timeframe between the reporting 
date and the date of the publication of the annual financial 
statements. The conclusion, therefore, is that the outbreak of 
the Coronavirus represents a non-adjusting event in terms of 
IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period.

“ In South Africa, the measures 
implemented have been lauded by 
the World Health Organisation for 
their promptness and effectiveness. 
As a player in the healthcare 
sector value chain in South Africa, 
our business has found itself at 
the frontline of the intervention 
measures.”— RH Bophelo
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Stakeholder Relations
The Company believes that 
accountability will be demonstrated 
in its willingness to take ownership 
of roles, responsibilities, actions and 
outcomes and by honouring the 
obligations to all stakeholders.

The Board has adopted a Stakeholder 
Relations Policy to foster a framework 
of relations based on the principles 
of transparency, active listening, and 
equal treatment. Our policies favour 
the inclusion of stakeholders in the 
business and activities of the Company 
by means of effective coordination and 

“ The Board has  
adopted a Stakeholder 
Relations Policy to 
foster a framework 
of relations based 
on the principles of 
transparency, active 
listening, and equal 
treatment.”— John Oliphant

communication that are forthright and 
foster relations based on trust on an 
ongoing basis. The Social and Ethics 
Committee is responsible for monitoring 
the Company’s compliance in relation to 
stakeholder engagement.

The corporate website of the Company 
is the channel of communication 
serving the Company’s Stakeholder 
Relations Policy.

The Company’s ultimate goal is to 
encourage the engagement of all of the 
Company’s stakeholders.

IDENTIFY

PLANENGAGE

ANALYSE
COMMUNICATE

In its relations with stakeholders, the Company accepts  
and promotes the following basic principles: 

Stakeholder  
Management
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
Management is proactive in responding to the needs, expectations and concerns of stakeholders, recognizing that several 
groups impact on our ability to create value over the short, medium and long-term. 

We identify our key stakeholders based on their influence on our business decision-making processes. These stakeholders 
include shareholders and investors, government and regulators, patients, workforce, specialists, suppliers, communities and 
the media.

The table below briefly outlines the stakeholder groups who have a substantive impact on our ability to create value and how they 
impact on value, and identifies some of their primary interests relating to our business activities.

Shareholders and investors

Our shareholders and investors provide the financial capital needed to sustain and grow.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

• Annual and interim results presentation

• Trading updates and statements 

• Updating investors on material developments through the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange News Service (SENS) 

• Company website

• The integrated report

• Investor interaction, including roadshows, conferences, 
meetings for specific topics 

• Annual General Meeting

• Strategy to ensure sustained financial performance

• Responsible investments to ensure growth, and to 
manage the risks and opportunities in our industry

• Timeous and adequate information

• Minimizing the risk of their investment

• Sound corporate governance practices

• Promotion of ethical corporate governance

Key initiatives undertaken

• We communicate our long-term focus and strategy through our integrated report. Refer to page 12 – 13 for the Company’s 
strategy.

• The Company’s AGM was held on 2 August 2019.

• Integrated Annual Report published on SENS and distributed to shareholders.

• Shareholders were invited by the Company to discuss the Company’s remuneration policy.

• Material events published on SENS.

• Meetings with current and potential shareholders were held to expand and deepen RH Bophelo’s investor base.

• Securing well trained and competent staff well versed in governance and other moral and ethical standards with respect to 
investing and investment management.

• Continuous risk monitoring through our risk analysis and impact assessments. Refer to page 66.

• During the COVID-19 outbreak, we have remained committed to operational efficiencies through our investments that will 
take the Group beyond this pandemic. This includes providing our services in the most economically efficient and socially 
responsible way possible.
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Government and regulators

The custodians of legislative and regulatory requirements, and providers of licences. 

Nature of engagement Priority interests

• Consultations and periodic meetings with regulatory authorities, 
both through direct contact and through industry organisations

• Membership in industry associations

• Investment in healthcare

• Regulatory compliance 

Key initiatives undertaken

• Liaising with government health departments directly and through industry forums.

• Participation in government forums.

• Meetings held with government healthcare officials around NHI.

• Engagements with the National Hospital Network, exploring possibilities with respect to setting our own fee tariffs through 
our investments.

• Monitoring regulatory compliance within our healthcare facilities.

• Through our interactions with society and our stance on affordable healthcare, we have begun to change the debate and 
become one of the thought leaders on the topic of affordability as it relates to healthcare. 

• We have also begun to focus on products (health insurance), and other products as a way to expand the affordable 
healthcare franchise at price points our people can afford.

• Since the the outbreak of COVID-19 in March 2020, RH Bophelo has been actively involved in working together with the 
DoH and Government in preparing its hospitals for readiness to admit COVID-19 patients. 

• We are committed to the government protocols on pandemic management and have availed our facilities to provide service 
to the nation.

 To date, we have implemented the following:

• Offered hospitals as dedicated facilities in five provinces to assist the DoH.

•  Through our subsidiaries, Africa Health Care Proprietary Limited and Galindo Trading Proprietary Limited, we have 
commenced with the manufacturing of non-surgical masks and protective gowns. 

• Training on COVID-19 protocols as set out by the NoH for our facilities.

Customers

Our customers are the patients that utilise our medical facilities, providing the basis for revenue growth. 

Nature of engagement Priority interests

• Investment strategy 

• Patient surveys

• Affordable healthcare

• Quality healthcare

Key initiatives undertaken

• The Company’s investment strategy is to pursue acquisitions of healthcare assets in exceptionally managed commercial 
entities or special situations across the South African market. A 10th of the fund is allocated for the acquisition of social 
assets.

• Our focus on health insurance products and other products as a way to expand the affordable healthcare.

• Patient surveys undertaken within our investments, including analysis and feedback. 

• We remain committed to providing state of the art medical facilities to patients inflicted with the Coronavirus. Our facilities are 
ready to provide support and care during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Stakeholder Relations continued
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Workforce

'Our workforce' refers to employees based at the health facilities in which we are involved. Their skills and involvement 
determine our ability to provide quality healthcare services.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

• Benchmarking remuneration

• Employee committees and regular meetings

• Employee surveys

• Suggestion boxes

• Training and development committees within the Group’s 
hospitals

• Fair and market-related remuneration

• Open channels of communication

• Career development opportunities

• Transformation at all levels

• Employees are encouraged to participate and give feedback to stimulate two-way communication. 

• Formalised induction to ensure information is relevant, clear and easily retrievable for new employees.

• Remuneration is benchmarked against industry companies. 

• Staff are supported and encouraged to improve their skills and capabilities to remain relevant.

• Employee promotions are considered, where suitable, and are encouraged in internal career growth.

• Nurses and hospital staff are exposed in the frontline of the Coronavirus, and we are committed to protecting all our indirect 
employees. This includes proper knowledge, training and protective equipment to enable them to serve our communities. 

Doctors and Specialists

The doctors and specialists that provide services at our healthcare facilities, enabling our facilities to provide quality and cost-
effective healthcare services.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

• Specialist committees and regular meetings

• Continuing Professional Development (CPD) programmes held 
for specialists, utilising the Groups’ hospitals facilities

• Surveys

• Open channels of communication

• Clinical support

• Consultative forums and hospital-based committees

• Engagement with doctors and specialists on quality, clinical support

• Hospital facilities are utilised to host CPD programmes for doctors and specialists

• Doctors and specialist surveys

Suppliers

The companies that provide medicines, equipment, consumables, IT services and professional and outsourced services. Our 
suppliers’ impact on our ability to cost-effectively provide services.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

• Maintain processes for supplier registration and meetings with 
suppliers

• Contract and service agreement negotiations

• Continuous engagement with our suppliers throughout the 
procurement and vendor application process 

• Fair negotiations

• Quality and cost-effectiveness

• Fair payment terms

• Local representation and opportunities to uplift small 
enterprises

• We have begun the process of strategising on enforcing efficiencies through the RH Bophelo network of hospitals. We have 
come to the realisation that we require a larger footprint to do so. 

• We now also understand that we must force efficiencies in conjunction with RH Managers as they have a larger network of 
hospitals. 

• We have streamlined payment processes to minimise delays.
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Communities and the environment

These are communities within which our healthcare facilities operate. They add to the longer-term viability of our business by 
strengthening the socio-economic context in which we operate. 

Nature of engagement Priority interests

• CSI

• Company website

• Direct engagement around community concerns facilitated 
through personal interaction

• Opportunities for job creation and socio-economic 
development, including transformation

• Business opportunities for entrepreneurs and local 
business owners

• Climate change, biodiversity, energy efficiency, and 
water management

• RH Bophelo is committed to being a good corporate citizen and frequently evaluates the impact of its projects and 
developments on society and the environment.

• Strong emphasis is placed on supporting local business as well as ensuring local employment through the various service 
providers.

• The inclusion of local groups as shareholders within our investment.

• Interactions within the community included meetings with church leaders, municipalities, schools, South African Police 
Service (SAPS) and old age homes.

• Community outreach programmes undertaken by hospitals.

• CSI projects are undertaken by RH Bophelo, as reflected on page 77.

• ESG reporting within hospitals.

Media

The media has a critical role in keeping stakeholders informed of business developments, new products and services and the 
impact of our business operations.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

• Press releases 

• Individual and group meetings 

• A mailbox for questions on the corporate website 

• Channels of communication on social networks

• Crafting a clear and concise message setting out the 
direction and strategic imperatives of RH Bophelo

• A mailbox that allows the public to engage with the Company.

• With the recent outbreak of COVID-19 and its impact on the Group, RH Bophelo has provided numerous media updates 
based on the Company’s role within the healthcare industry. The following interviews were undertaken:

• 17 March 2020: Metro FM -The private sector’s role in the current crisis

• 20 March 2020: CNBC – What are SA’s private healthcare companies doing about Covid-19: RH Bophelo’s role

• 21 March 2020: Newsroom Afrika – Managing the Coronavirus 

• 23 March 2020: SAfm -Managing the Coronavirus

• 23 March 2020: eNCA -Managing the Coronavirus

• 24 March 2020: SABC News -Managing the Coronavirus

• 25 March 2020: KAYA FM -The private sector’s role in dealing with COVID-19

Stakeholder relations continued
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Cape Town, South Africa
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RH Bophelo recognises and accepts the 

responsibility of environmental management as 

a priority to ensure sustainable development. In 

demonstrating our commitment to more effective 

and efficient Environmental Management System 

(EMS), we endeavour to strive to apply ISO 14000 

(International Organisation for Standardisation 

14000) standards within our operations over time.

RH Bophelo Limited commits to establishing policies and 
practices for conducting operations in an environmentally 
sound manner; to respect and protect the local, regional and 
global environment; and to support sustainable, social and 
economic development while fulfilling our healthcare mission.

The Company has an obligation to assess all our business 
activities to minimise their negative impact on the environment 
and to keep our stakeholders informed of our environmental 
performance. Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
reporting is undertaken through independent assurance 
providers at all RH Bophelo’s assets twice annually. Corrective 
action plans are drawn up, and time frames are provided to 
rectify any shortcomings discovered. The reports are tabled 
to the Social and Ethics Committee, who monitors the 
compliance thereof.

TRANSFORMATION AND BROAD-BASED BLACK 
ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT (B-BBEE)
The Board of RH Bophelo is committed to the transformation 
and empowerment objectives of South Africa. The Company 
believes that a B-BBEE policy is necessary to detail the plan 
that the Company needs to follow to ensure adherence with 
social and economic transformation.

We recognise that integrating transformation into our 
business practice is crucial for the sustainability of the 
Company and industry, and it is especially imperative in the 
context of South Africa.

The Company recognises the importance of a multifaceted, 
broad-based and integrated approach to BEE in the 
transformation of the macro socio-economic space where it 
is active, as well as for the long-term sustainability of South 
Africa; these are essential ingredients in ensuring continued 
stability and prosperity.

In this context, the Company has developed its B-BBEE policy 
based on the following principles:

• The Company recognises its responsibility towards its 
shareholders, to continually deliver attractive returns on 
their investment and that any B-BBEE initiative must remain 
cognisant of the interests of shareholders as stakeholders in 
the business.

• An inclusive approach to BEE, which is broad-based 
and deliberately advances previously disadvantaged 
communities, ensuring that the benefits are spread as 
widely as possible.

• The empowerment of the Company’s own employees 
remains a priority. However, being a responsible 
corporate citizen, the Company has a role to play in 
the empowerment, economic development and social 
upliftment of the broader society.

• In advancing B-BBEE, the Company ensures that there 
is a positive net effect on its business interests. Human 
resources, development and skills transfer remain critical 
components for sustainable B-BBEE, and they are 
perceived to be the key ingredients in the success of any 
B-BBEE programme.

• The Board is committed to promoting diversity in its 
members across a variety of attributes relevant for 
promoting better decision-making and effective governance, 
including the field of knowledge, skills and experience as 
well as age, culture, independence, race and gender.

• The Board has approved a race and gender policy that sets 
out the Board’s commitment and approach in promoting 
race and gender diversity at Board level over a reasonable 
transition period. The Board, through its Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee, sets targets for gender and 
race representation in its membership. The Company has 
disclosed its performance against these targets on page 59 
of the King Compliance Report. 

• RH Bophelo has recently undergone a B-BBEE evaluation 
and has achieved a B-BBEE Level 8 rating. The Company 
has identified that the previously applied B-BBEE and 
transformation strategy needs improvement and has 
performed a detailed analysis of its B-BBEE score 
and, together with the Social and Ethics Committee, 
developed a strategy to improve RH Bophelo’s rating 
from its current Level 8 rating with an aim to achieve a 
Level 6 rating by 2021.  

Creating Sustainable Value
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY  
(#RHBCARES)
RH Bophelo participated in a number of CSI projects through 
the RH Foundation NPC and other structures. The Company 
made donations in line with the mandate from the Social 
and Ethics Committee, where the spend was prioritised 
into education and training initiatives, corporate and social 
responsibility projects. The following projects were supported 
in the current year.

Initiatives with partners 

RH Bophelo assisted an orphanage in Cosmo City with 
donations towards gift cards for groceries, bedding, toiletries 
and funds to attend a youth development programme and a 
year-end camp.

Thuthuzela Aid Community Centre

The Thuthuzela Aid Community Centre (Thuthuzela) is an 
orphanage and day-care centre that provides a place of safety 
for Alexandra’s abandoned, abused and neglected children. 
The centre has the vision to educate, care for and develop 
the children in the centre and offer them the opportunity to 
enhance their future. The donation will be used to fund their 
operational costs to run the centre. This includes paying 
salaries, electricity, toiletries and medication.

Outreach Organisation

We worked with an outreach organisation that supports 
senior citizens from various underprivileged communities by 
hosting a memorable year-end function. Their mission is to 
give hope to senior citizens and to share gifts of love. Our 
support in assisting with the event included catering for 140 
senior citizens and transporting them from various townships 
to the venue.

Virtual Club

RH Bophelo partnered with Virtual Club, which supports 
runners from all over South Africa by creating a home for 
running enthusiasts irrespective of their location. Their 
mission is to provide an inclusive, accessible, safe, fun and 
empowering running environment. Our support enabled them 
to host their Women’s Day High Tea event that celebrates 
the strength of women and also aims to motivate, inspire and 
connect women.

Literacy Programme for Prisoners at Leeuwkop Prison

We partnered with correctional services in Leeuwkop to 
promote a culture of reading and literacy for prisoners. This 
is part of the prisoner’s rehabilitation process and it facilitates 
their integration into the community once they have served 
their time in prison. It gives inmates a voice, opens up doors 
to a better future and helps to restore their self-esteem and 
social competence.

Education and Training

Bursaries were awarded for different fields of studies including 
accounting, medicine, law and investments. We are supporting 
a graduate programme that sees newly qualified graduates 
obtain work experience for accounting, IT travel and tourism. 

The graduate programme runs for a duration of 18 months to 
gain valuable work experience, develop and refine skills and 
gain career experience. 

In addition, training on organisational skills for employees 
was conducted during the financial year to ensure better job 
satisfaction, efficiency and productivity and that employees 
have a consistent experience and background knowledge.
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Special Resolutions Passed 
Financial Year ended 28 February 2020

1.  REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
 RESOLVED THAT in terms of Section 66(9) of the Companies Act the Company be and is hereby authorised to remunerate its 

Non-Executive Directors for their services as Directors on the basis set out below, provided that this authority will be valid until 
the next AGM of the Company.

Fee per meeting 
attendance

Board meeting R10 000

Investment Committee meetings (including Chairperson) R10 000

Audit and Risk Committee meetings (including Chairperson) R10 000

Social and Ethics Committee meetings (including Chairperson) R10 000

Remuneration and Nominations Committee meetings (including Chairperson) R10 000

2. INTER-COMPANY FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
 RESOLVED THAT in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, the Board of the Company be 

and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial assistance (‘financial assistance’ 
will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) that the Board of the Company may deem 
fit to any person, company or corporation that is related or interrelated (‘related’ or ‘interrelated’ will herein have the meaning 
attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts that the 
Board of the Company may determine, provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next AGM 
of the Company.

3. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FOR THE SUBSCRIPTION/OR ACQUISITION OF SHARES IN THE 
COMPANY OR A RELATED OR INTERRELATED COMPANY

 RESOLVED THAT, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, the Board of the Company 
be and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial assistance (‘financial 
assistance’ will herein have the meaning attributed to it in sections 44(1) and 44(2) of the Companies Act) that the Board of the 
Company may deem fit to any company or corporation that is related or interrelated to the Company (‘related’ or ‘interrelated’ 
will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) and/or to any financier who provides funding 
by subscribing for preference shares or other securities in the Company or any company or corporation that is related or 
interrelated to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts that the Board of the Company may determine for 
the purpose of, or in connection with the subscription of any option, or any shares or other securities, issued or to be issued 
by the Company or a related or interrelated company or corporation, or for the purchase of any shares or securities of the 
Company or a related or interrelated company or corporation, provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid until 
the date of the next AGM of the Company.
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Sandton, South Africa
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The following supplementary information does not form part of the audited 
annual financial statements and is unaudited:

Supplementary Information 134

Johannesburg, South Africa

The audited annual financial statements for the year ended 29 

February 2020, as set out on pages 93 to 131 were prepared under 

the supervision of Dion Mhlaba, BCom Honours, CA(SA). 
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual financial statements of RH Bophelo 
Limited. The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with the IFRS, including interpretations of such standards as 
issued by the Interpretations Committee, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, 
the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008.

The Directors consider that in preparing the annual financial statements they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all International Financial 
Reporting Standards that they consider to be applicable have been followed. The Directors are satisfied that the information 
contained in the annual financial statements fairly presents the results of operations for the year and the financial position of the 
Company at the end of the financial year.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 
Company, and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Directors to meet these 
responsibilities, the Directors set standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. 
The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Company 
and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Company’s business is conducted in 
a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, an endeavour 
is made to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The annual financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis. The assets of the Company, fairly valued, exceed its 
liabilities fairly valued. The Directors are of the opinion that the Company will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements were audited by the independent auditors, to whom unrestricted access was given to all financial 
records and related information, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the Board of Directors and committees of the Board.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 95 - 134 for the year ended 29 February 2020 were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 31 August 2020 and have been signed on its behalf by:

Dion Mhlaba 
Director

31 August 2020

Quinton Zunga 
Director

31 August 2020
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Company Secretary’s Certification 
Declaration by the Company Secretary in respect of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act

In my capacity as the Company Secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of the South African Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as 
amended, that for the year ending 29 February 2020, RH Bophelo Limited has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such 
returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Act, and that all such returns are, to the best of my knowledge and 
belief, true, correct and up to date.

 
Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited 
Ragni Naicker  
Company Secretary 

31 August 2020
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Audit and Risk Committee Report 
INTRODUCTION 
The Audit and Risk Committee (“the Committee”) presents its report for the financial year ended 29 February 2020. The 
Committee reports that it has adopted formal terms of reference as its Audit and Risk Committee Charter (“the Charter”), and 
that it has discharged all of its responsibilities for the current financial year, in compliance with the Charter.

OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE 
Functions of the audit committee:
• Nominating an auditor that the audit committee regards as independent;

• Determining the audit fee and the auditor’s terms of engagement and ensuring that the appointment of the auditor complies 
with the Companies Act and other relevant legislation;

• Determining the nature and extent of non-audit services;

• Pre-approving any proposed agreement with the auditor for the provision of non-audit services;

• Preparing a report to be included in the annual financial statements describing how the Committee carried out its functions, 
stating whether the auditor was independent, and commenting on the financial statements, accounting practices and internal 
financial control measures of the Company;

• Making submissions to the Board regarding the Company’s accounting policies, financial controls, records and reporting;

• Oversight of the internal audit function, playing a key role in the risk management process and performing oversight of financial 
risks and reporting, internal financial controls, as well as fraud and risks relating to information and technology as they relate to 
financial reporting;

• Satisfying itself with regard to the expertise, resources and experience of the finance function;

• Oversight of the external audit process;

• Ensuring that the Company has established appropriate financial reporting procedures and that those procedures are 
operating;

• Requesting relevant information from the auditors in order to assess the suitability for appointment of the audit firm and 
designated individual partner; and

• When recommending the auditor for appointment or re-appointment at the AGM, ensuring that the proposed individual auditor 
does not appear on the JSE list of disqualified individual auditors. 

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee consists of four independent Non-Executive Directors, who are appropriately qualified and experienced to execute 
their responsibilities. Two members are required to have a quorum. During the year, the members of the Committee were as follows:

• Dr Solly Motuba (Chairperson)
• Refiloe Nkadimeng
• Dinao Lerutla
• Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana

In addition, Quinton Zunga (CEO), Dion Mhlaba (CFO), Vuyokazi Nomvalo (Investment Executive) and Deloitte & Touche (the external 
auditors) are also permanent invitees to the meetings of the Committee.

MEETINGS 
The Committee held four scheduled meetings during the year and the quorum was met at all the meetings. 

2020 OVERVIEW 
The Committee is satisfied that an adequate system of internal controls is in place to reduce significant risks faced by the 
Company to an acceptable level, and that these controls have been effective throughout the period under review. The system is 
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure and to maximise opportunities to achieve business objectives. This 
can provide only reasonable, but not absolute assurance, that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. In addition, the Committee reviewed the financial control systems and the accounting systems and is 
satisfied with the design and effectiveness of the systems utilised during the current period.
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As required by the JSE Limited Listing Requirements 3.84(f), the Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied itself that Dion Mhlaba, 
who served as the CFO throughout the financial year under review, has the appropriate experience and expertise to fulfil the 
responsibilities of the finance function.

The Committee has considered the key audit matter set out in the independent Auditor’s Report and is satisfied that it is 
appropriately presented.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed

Valuation of financial 

assets at fair value 

through profit or loss

The Audit and Risk Committee received presentations on the material investments across the Group, 

including an analysis of the key judgements and assumptions applied, and approved the valuation 

adjustments proposed by management for the year ended 29 February 2020 and the appropriateness of the 

IFRS 13 disclosures on fair value.

The judgements and assumptions used in the process of valuation for the investments in unlisted equities, 

were based on inputs that were corroborated by multiple external sources, and benchmarked to the SNG 

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance and Birkett Stewart Mchendrie Corporate Finance calculations for 

reasonability. The Audit and Risk Committee challenged and debated the significant subjective inputs and 

assumptions, and the valuation principles applied in the valuation of unlisted investments and properties. 

The Audit and Risk Committee was satisfied that the process applied in the valuation process was 

sufficiently robust to give a fair indication of the fair value of all investments.

The review of the Integrated Report together with the annual financial statements are also the responsibility of the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The Committee has evaluated the Integrated Report and annual financial statements of RH Bophelo Limited for the year 
ended 29 February 2020, and based on the information provided to the Audit and Risk Committee, considers that it complies, in all 
material respects, with the requirements of the various acts and regulations governing disclosure and reporting.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Committee considered the nature, risks and internal control environment at the head office and concluded that it was not 
necessary to have a dedicated internal audit function given the nature of the business. As part of its Charter, the Committee has 
adopted the following approach in relation to internal audit:

•  The internal audit function is being outsourced from a periodical basis to reputable service providers based on internal audit issues 
that may be identified from time to time;

•  By practice, the Audit and Risk Committee holds risk workshops in order to update and assess its risk register and tasks an 
outsourced service provider to perform a risk rating on each risk identified; and

•  In the current year, there was no risk workshop as the risk assessment and risk rating was concluded in the preceding year, where 
the Committee was satisfied that there were no significant changes to the business to warrant a risk review.

PROACTIVE JSE MONITORING 
The Audit and Risk Committee has considered the JSE Pro-active monitoring letter dated 19 February 2020 in the review of the 
current year annual financial statements. The Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied itself that the Company has taken appropriate 
actions to address the letter. Refer to note 3.3. of the financial statements for additional disclosure.

EXTERNAL AUDIT 
The Committee is further satisfied that Eugene Zungu (Engagement Partner), who has been designated as the lead partner for 
the current year, complies with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listing Requirements. The Committee is 
satisfied with Mr Zungu's independence in relation to the Company and also with his fitness after having reviewed his qualifications 
and past experience.

Deloitte has served as external auditors of the Company since its inception. Deloitte complies with the Independent Regulatory 
Board for Auditors ("IRBA") ruling on prescribed mandatory audit firm rotation, which recommends rotation every 10 years. In line 
with its Charter, the Committee has reviewed the tenure of Deloitte and was satisfied with its independence.
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NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
Deloitte & Touche Sponsor Services (Proprietary) Ltd provides sponsorship services to the Company. The Committee also 
considered the impact of the non-audit services that are provided by Deloitte & Touche Sponsor Services (Proprietary) Ltd and 
concluded that the auditor's independence was not compromised as the advisory function is a separate business unit from the audit 
function within Deloitte.

During the current year, the Company spent approximately R151 800 (2019: R120 000) on sponsorship services.

OTHER MATTERS 
The Committee applied its judgement to the treatment of the various post-reporting period events, including the classification of the 
events and the additional disclosures provided in note 21. The Committee is satisfied that the post-reporting period events have 
been adequately assessed, and where applicable, have been disclosed appropriately.

RECOMMENDATION FOR APPROVAL 
Based on the information obtained and discussions with management and the external auditors, the Committee has no reason to 
believe that there was any material breakdown in the design and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls during the 
year. The Committee therefore believes that the financial records may be relied upon as the basis for the preparation of the annual 
financial statements.

In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee evaluated significant judgements and reporting decisions; determined that the 
going concern basis of reporting is appropriate; evaluated the material factors and risks that impact the annual financial statements 
and associated reports; and evaluated the completeness of the annual financial statements and the disclosures included therein.

The Committee is of the opinion that the annual financial statements comply in all material respects with the statutory requirements 
of the various regulations governing their disclosure and reporting. These include IFRS, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides issued 
by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council, as well as the requirements of the Companies Act and the JSE Listing Requirements for Investment Entities.

The Committee accordingly recommended the annual financial statements to the Board for its approval.

 
Dr Solly Motuba  
Audit and Risk Committee Chairperson  
31 August 2020

Audit and Risk Committee Report continued
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the director of RH Bophelo Limited 
Opinion

We have audited the annual financial statements of RH Bophelo Limited (the Company) set out on pages 95 to 133 which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 29 February 2020. The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the annual financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of RH Bophelo Limited 
as at 29 February 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our Audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together with 
the IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. 
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with 
other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding 
sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) respectively. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the annual 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the annual financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Valuation of financial assets through profit and loss

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

As disclosed in note 6, the carrying value 
of financial assets through profit and loss is 
R509.7 million at 29 February 2020 (2019: 
R157.9 million).

The fair value, of financial assets, is based 
on future cash flows of its underlying 
investments, and the use of appropriate 
discount rates. There is estimation involved 
in forecasting and discounting future cash 
flows, with the growth rates and discount 
rates being the most significant assumptions 
impacting the valuation.

As the financial assets at fair value, through 
profit and loss balance is material to the 
Company, and the Directors exercise 
significant judgement in determining the fair 
value, the valuation thereof is considered to 
be a key audit matter.

In assessing the fair value of financial assets, we obtained and assessed the fair 
valuation of the underlying investments and performed the following procedures: 

• We engaged our Corporate Finance and Financial Services Advisory valuation 
specialists to assist us with:

•  Evaluating the Company’s fair value calculations and the principles and 
methodology of the discounted cash flow models; 

•  Testing of inputs into the cash flow forecast against the companies’ 
strategic plans;

•  Testing the assumptions used to calculate the discount rates and 
recalculating those rates;

• Recomputing of the fair values; and

•  Comparing the growth rates used for strategic plans and historical 
performance.

• We assessed the design and implementation of controls around the valuation 
of the underlying investments.

• We evaluated the disclosures against the requirements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

Based on the results of the above procedures, we consider the carrying value of 
the financial asset through profit and loss to be reasonable and the disclosures 
to be appropriate.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document 
titled "RH Bophelo Limited Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 29 February 2020", which includes the 
Directors' Report, Directors' Responsibility Statement, Certification by the Company Secretary and the Audit and Risk Committee 
Report as required by the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report, and 
the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other information does not include the annual 
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not and will not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the annual financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the annual financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the director of RH Bophelo Limited continued 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Annual Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation, and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Annual Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the director of RH Bophelo Limited continued 
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Annual Financial Statements (Continued) 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, actions are taken to eliminate threats or related safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the annual financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Deloitte & 
Touche has been the auditor of RH Bophelo Limited for four years.

 

Deloitte and Touche 
Registered Auditors 
Per Eugene Zungu  
Partner 
31 August 2020

5 Magwa Crescent  
Waterfall City  
Johannesburg  
Gauteng 
2090
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Directors’ Report 
1.  THE COMPANY
 The annual financial statements have been prepared for the year ended 29 February 2020.

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
 RH Bophelo Limited (the Company) is an investment entity listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) and the 

Rwanda Stock Exchange (RSE). The Company seeks to generate returns for its shareholders through various investments 
in the healthcare sector and financial services. The Company engages in making equity, quasi-equity, and equity-related 
investments in healthcare and financial services, specifically in operational infrastructure, health insurance, private hospital 
infrastructure, pharmaceuticals, retail and distribution. The Company executes its investment mandate primarily through 
two wholly-owned subsidiaries, RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited (RHBO) and RH Financial Services 
Proprietary Limited (RHFS). These subsidiaries are utilised to acquire various investments on behalf of the Company.

3. FINANCIAL RESULTS
 The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company produces a set of annual financial statements that fairly 

present the state of affairs of the Company at the end of each financial year and the profit or loss for the year, in 
accordance with IFRS, the Companies Act, and the interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides, the Financial Reporting Pronouncements (as issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council) and the JSE.

 For the financial period ending 29 February 2020, the Company recorded a total comprehensive income of R69 988 958 
(2019: R21 160 889). Full details of the financial position and financial performance of the Company are contained in the 
detailed annual financial statements as set out on pages 95-133.

4. DIVIDENDS 
There were no dividends declared in the current year or prior year.

5. DIRECTORS’ FEES AND REMUNERATION 
The Directors' emoluments and earnings have been disclosed under note 17.

6. DIRECTORATE 
During the period covered by this report, the Directors of the Company were:

Solomon Motuba Independent, Non-Executive

Kgaugelo Ntshwana Independent, Non-Executive

Londeka Shezi Independent, Non-Executive Deceased -7 July 2019

Refiloe Nkadimeng Independent, Non-Executive Appointed -10 October 2019

Dinao Lerutla Independent, Non-Executive Appointed -10 October 2019

Bojane Segooa Independent, Non-Executive Appointed -10 October 2019

John Oliphant Non-Executive Chairman

David Sekete Non-Executive

Peter Mehlape Non-Executive Resigned -2 August 2019

Quinton Zunga Executive

Dion Mhlaba Executive

Vuyokazi Nomvalo Executive

Colin Clarke Executive Appointed -3 September 2019
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7. GOING CONCERN
 The annual financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis, as the Directors are of the view that the Company 

has adequate financial resources to continue for the foreseeable future, based on cash flow forecasts and available cash 
resources. As at year end the Company had a positive net asset value of R646 608 844 (2019: R530 119 886) and a positive 
net current asset position of R123 476 138 (2019: R375 940 776). Refer to note 10 below for the assessment made on the 
impact of Covid-19 on the Company's going concern assumption.

8. STATED CAPITAL
 The Company’s authorised stated capital is 10 000 000 000 “A” no par value ordinary shares with voting rights. (2019: 10 000 

000 000 “A” no par value ordinary shares with voting rights).

 The Company also has 1 “B” restrictive class of shares with voting rights. (2019: 1 “B” restrictive class of shares with voting rights).

 During the year, the Company issued 4 684 179 shares at an average price of R9.93 per share to fund acquisitions made in 
the current year.

 The total number of ordinary shares in issue as at 29 February 2020 is 55 934 179 (2019: 51 250 000).

9. MATERIAL EVENTS
Investments and loans 

 During the year, the Company increased its investments in unlisted equity investments and provided additional loans to 
investee companies.

 Investments in unlisted investments (classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) for the current year were 
R272.9 million (2019: R141.3 million). This comprised:

• Investment in RHFS – R3.7 million;

• Investment in RHBO – R266.7 million; and

• Investment in the RH12J fund – R2.5 million.

 The additional investments were deployed to facilitate the following transactions:

 New acquisitions made by RHFS:

• Wesmart Financial and Administration Solutions Proprietary Limited (Wesmart)

 New acquisitions made by RHBO:

• RH Bell Proprietary Limited and Notamed Proprietary Limited (RH Bell Clinic);

• BMC Gilliwie Proprietary Limited and Magnacorp Proprietary Limited (Medicare Private Hospital);

• Fauchard Sentrum Proprietary Limited (Fauchard Day Clinic); and

• Phelang Bonolo Healthcare Procurement and Management Proprietary Limited (PBHPM).

 Additional investments made by RHBO:

• Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited (Africa Healthcare); and

• Vryburg Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited (Vryburg Private Hospital).

Loans provided to investee companies 

 The Company provided loans amounting to R34 million to Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited (R14 million) and Notamed 
Proprietary Limited (R20 million) to fund various operational requirements.

 Further details regarding the investments and loans made in the current year are contained in notes 6 and 7.

Directors’ Report continued 
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10. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
 Since the end of the financial reporting period on 29 February 2020, a series of events have materialised that the Directors 

wish to bring to the attention of all stakeholders. The events are classified into the following categories:

• Corporate events;

• Dual listing;

• The outbreak of the Coronavirus pandemic; and

• The approach of the South African government in managing the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic.

Corporate events

 The Company has concluded the following transactions in the period between 29 February 2020 and the publication of this 
set of annual results:

• Acquisition of 25% of issued share capital in Genric Insurance Company Limited from existing shareholders;

• Acquisition of 70% of Rondebosch Medical Centre Proprietary Limited from existing shareholders; and

• Approval of R10 million financial support package during the COVID period to assist investee companies. 

 Refer to note 21 for further details. 

Dual listing 

 On 1 June 2020, the Company concluded its secondary listing on the RSE by way of an introduction (RSE Listing). The 
Company’s primary listing and exchange will remain as the Johannesburg Stock Exchange with the RSE Listing being a 
secondary listing (Secondary Listing). The purpose of the RSE Listing is to enable the Company’s A Ordinary Shares (Shares) to 
be available to the wider East African investor public, to further diversify the Company’s investor base and provide an easy and 
efficient way for the Company’s stakeholders and partners in the region to participate beneficially in the growth and fortunes of 
the Company through direct ownership. No capital was raised during the listing.

 The listing has no impact on the annual financial statements for the year ended 29 February 2020.

The outbreak of the Coronavirus pandemic 

Effect on the going concern assessment

 The outbreak of the Covid-19 (Coronavirus) in December 2019 has had profound consequences for the world at large. 
The various measures implemented in order to contain the spread of the outbreak have fundamentally altered the way 
societies, governments and policymakers interact and collaborate with each other. The measures implemented – ranging 
from the healthcare-specific measures to the broader measures aimed at containing the resultant economic and social 
impacts – have forced all stakeholders to revisit their place in the global health and socio-economic value chain. In 
South Africa, the measures implemented have been lauded by the World Health Organisation for their promptness and 
effectiveness. As a player in the healthcare sector value chain in South Africa, our business has found itself at the frontline 
of the intervention measures.

 In the aftermath of the Coronavirus outbreak, the board has revisited the key ratios used in the assessment – solvency, 
profitability and liquidity indicators – and concluded that they remain within the range that the Board deems appropriate to 
support the going concern assumption. A key factor in this assessment was the fact that the Group’s investments operate 
in the healthcare sector and were classified as essential services. The impact of this classification is that the decline in 
occupancy rates and capacity utilisation was marginal and all units continued to operate within the normal range. To 
this end, the going concern assumption has been determined to be the appropriate basis for financial reporting as at 29 
February 2020. Refer to note 21 for additional disclosure.
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 Application of IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period 

 IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period are the accounting standard that guides how companies need to account for 
events that occur from its reporting date (29 February 2020) to the date of the publication of the annual financial statements. 
Events that do materialise during that time are classified either as ‘adjusting’ or ‘non-adjusting’ events. The primary 
distinction is that adjusting events must provide further evidence or insight into matters that already existed at the reporting 
date (29 February 2020). Non-adjusting events, on the other hand, relate to events that materialised only after the reporting 
date and consequently do not provide evidence or insights into matters that already existed on the reporting date.

 In relation to the Coronavirus outbreak, the Board has concluded that the outbreak of the virus and its spread across the 
world represents an event that materialised after the reporting date of 29 February 2020. This is in line with the fact that the 
World Health Organisation only classified the virus as a pandemic on the 11 March 2020. In addition, the government of the 
Republic of South Africa declared a National State of Disaster on the 15 March 2020. The resultant impact on the annual 
financial statements of the Company would therefore not relate to events that existed on the reporting date of 29 February 
2020. Rather, they are events that materialised in the timeframe between the reporting date and the date of the publication 
of the annual financial statements. The conclusion, therefore is that the outbreak of the Coronavirus represents a non-
adjusting event in terms of IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period.

 Additional details on post-reporting period events are contained in note 21 to the annual financial statements.

Directors’ Report continued 
10. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD continued
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Statement of Financial Position  
as at 29 February 2020 

Notes
2020  

R
2019  

R

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 509 735 040 157 896 791

Loans to group companies 7 35 945 632 –

545 680 672 157 896 791

Current Assets

Loans to group companies 7 4 307 909 2 338 541

Other receivables 8 1 120 555 1 432 736

Current tax receivable 9 – 332 216

Cash and cash equivalents 10 120 069 140 373 548 658

125 497 604 377 652 151
Total Assets 671 178 276 535 548 942

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Stated capital 11 547 339 672 500 839 672

Retained income 99 269 172 29 280 214

646 608 844 530 119 886

LIABILITIES
Non-Current Liabilities

Deferred tax 9 22 547 966 3 717 681

Current Liabilities

Other payables 12 1 582 078 1 711 375

Current tax payables 9 439 388 –

2 021 466 1 711 375
Total Liabilities 24 569 432 5 429 056
Total Equity and Liabilities 671 178 276 535 548 942
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  
for the year ended 29 February 2020 

Notes
2020  

R

Restated* 
2019  

R

INVESTMENT INCOME
Interest income 13 21 526 749 24 490 345

Interest expense 13 (203 859) –

Gains from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 14 84 063 771 16 596 791

Total investment income 105 386 661 41 087 136
Other income 15 1 984 110 230 475

EXPENSES
Professional services fees (7 911 712) (5 164 314)

Management fees (3 374 698) (4 363 015)

Other operating expenses (5 625 632) (3 647 227)

16 (16 912 042) (13 174 556)
Total income before tax 90 458 729 28 143 055
Income tax 9 (20 469 771) (6 982 166)

Total income after tax 69 988 958 21 160 889
Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income 69 988 958 21 160 889

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Per share information
Basic earnings per share (R) 24 1.31 0.42

Diluted earnings per share (R) 24 1.31 0.42

*Refer to note 3.5 for the details of the restatement.
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 29 February 2020 

Notes

Total stated 
capital  

R

Retained 
income  

R

Total  
equity  

R

Balance at 1 March 2018 487 826 373 8 119 325 495 945 698
Total comprehensive income for the year – 21 160 889 21 160 889

Shares issued 13 013 299 – 13 013 299

Balance at 1 March 2019 500 839 672 29 280 214 530 119 886
Total comprehensive income for the year – 69 988 958 69 988 958

Shares issued 46 500 000 – 46 500 000

Balance at 29 February 2020 11 547 339 672 99 269 172 646 608 844
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Statement of Cash Flows  
for the year ended 29 February 2020 

Notes
2020  

R
2019  

R

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Total income before tax 90 458 729 28 143 055

Non-cash items:

Interest accrued on loans to group companies 13 (1 106 504) –

Gains from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 14 (84 063 771) (16 596 791)

Changes in working capital:

Decrease / (increase) in other receivables 8 312 181 (1 432 736)

Decrease in other payables 12 (129 297) (1 406 345)

Cash generated from operations 5 471 338 8 707 183

Income tax paid 9 (867 882) (3 596 701)

Net cash generated from operating activities 4 603 456 5 110 482

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 6 (226 421 515) (128 286 701)

Loans to group companies repaid 7 2 338 541 –

Loans issued to group companies 7 (34 000 000) (2 338 541)

Net cash utilised from investing activities (258 082 974) (130 625 242)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (253 479 518) (125 514 760)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 373 548 658 499 063 418

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 10 120 069 140 373 548 658
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
 RH Bophelo Limited (the Company) is a legal entity registered in the Republic of South Africa. The Company engages in 

making equity, quasi-equity and equity-related investments in healthcare and financial services, specifically in operational 
infrastructure, including health insurance, private hospital-related infrastructure, pharmaceuticals, retails and distributions.  
The Company was incorporated on 13 December 2016.

 RH Bophelo Operating Proprietary Limited (RHBO) and RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited (RHFS) are wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Company, which are utilised to acquire investments on behalf of the Company.

 The Company has appointed RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited as its investment manager, to manage 
its investment portfolio, which includes advice on the Company’s investment decisions, in line with section 15 of JSE listing 
requirements. The relationship between the Company and RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited is 
governed by a shareholder-approved management agreement.

2. NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS IN ISSUE
2.1 The following accounting standards, interpretations and amendments became effective during the current year.

New standards issued and effective:

• IFRS 16 Leases;
• Annual improvements to IFRS Standards (2015 -2017); and
• IFRIC 23 -Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments.

Adoption of IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases if effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 
Leases along with three interpretations (IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a lease; SIC 15 operating 
Leases - incentives; and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease). IFRS 16 
requires the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability in the statement of financial position by 
a lessee. The Company is a lessee as it currently rents its head office premises. Upon adoption of the new standard, the 
Company concluded that the lease relating to its head office premises is a short-term lease as defined in IFRS 16. The 
Company elected to recognise the lease payments as an expense on a straight lines basis over the lease term.

Adoption of IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

 IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments has been issued by the IASB to clarify how the recognition and 
measurement requirements of IAS 12 Income Taxes, are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. In the 
preparation of its annual financial statements, the Company has not identified any material transactions whose tax treatment is 
uncertain under the tax laws of its primary jurisdiction of South Africa. Consequently, the adoption of IFRIC 23 had no impact 
on the annual financial statements for the year ended 29 February 2020.

Amendments to existing standards: 
• Annual improvements to IFRS Standards (2015 -2017);
• IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation;
• IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement; and
• IAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures.

The amendments of these new standards had no material impact on the Company and its financial results.

2.2   The following accounting standards, interpretations and amendments have been issued but were not yet effective as at  
29 February 2020: 

New standards issued: 
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.

Amendments to the following standards:
• References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards;

• IFRS 3 Business Combinations;
• IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 9 Financial instruments and IAS 39: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform; and
• IAS 1 Presentation and Disclosure and IAS 8: Definition of Material.

The adoption of these new standards is not expected to have a material impact on the Company.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION
3.1 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS as issued by the IASB, the SAICA 
Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the Financial Reporting Pronouncements 
as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South 
Africa and the JSE Listing Requirements. These annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis, except where indicated otherwise.

3.2  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the annual financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The annual financial statements are 
presented in South African Rand, which is also considered by the Directors to be the Company’s functional currency. 

3.3  JSE Proactive Monitoring

The JSE proactive monitoring panel reviewed the 2019 audited annual financial statements, where disclosure deficiencies 
were identified. In the current year, the Company has enhanced its disclosures and its policies in order to improve its 
reporting in line with IFRS and the assessment outcome by the JSE proactive monitoring panel.

The Company updated its accounting policy on loans to group companies and improved its disclosure and the notes to 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans to group companies, taxation and related parties. Notes relating 
to other payables, gains from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, interest income and expense, other 
income, total expenses, commitments and financial support and segment reporting have been disclosed for the first time 
when compared to the prior year financial statements.

3.4 Supplementary information

The supplementary information includes non-IFRS disclosures that have been included as part of JSE reporting 
requirements. It also includes details regarding major shareholders and shareholder analysis per JSE Listing 
Requirements 3.43 of public and non-public shareholders.

3.5  Restatement of prior year results

The prior year restatement is due to changes in the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and notes to the annual financial statements. This restatement does not result in a change in the 
earnings per share and headlines earnings per share recognised in the prior year audited financial statements.

	Impact	of	changes	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	and	other	comprehensive	income:

In the prior year, the amounts relating to ‘other income’ of R230 475 were disclosed under total investment income. In 
the current year, ‘other income’ has not been presented as part of ‘investment income’, due to the nature of the income 
included in other income not regarded as an investment income. Other income comprises of due diligence recovered, 
board fees accrued, and other fees accrued to the Company.

	Impact	of	changes	to	notes	to	the	financial	statements:

The nature, amounts and reasons for reclassifications are explained in detail in the disclosure of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss (note 6), loans to group companies (notes 5,4 and 7), other receivables (note 8), related 
parties (note 18) and market risk (note 26.3). The nature, amounts and reasons for reclassifications are explained in 
detail in the respective notes.

3.6  Change statement

The change statement highlights the changes between the annual financial statements and published reviewed results 
on 31 July 2020. These changes had no impact on earnings per share, headline earnings per share and/or the amounts 
presented in the statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows.

The changes in the notes to the financial statements included in ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ and 
‘related parties’.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
 The preparation of the annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected.

 In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the annual financial statements includes the 
determination of fair value for assets that are carried at fair value through profit or loss.

4.1 Investment entities 

The Company and its subsidiaries – RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited (RHBO) and RH Bophelo 
Financial Services Proprietary Limited (RHFS) are classified as investment entities in line with IFRS 10 Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

According to IFRS 10, an investment entity that acquires an interest in a subsidiary and/(or) associate shall be exempt 
from consolidation or equity accounting in terms of amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 and shall measure an 
investment in a subsidiary and/(or) associate at fair value through profit or loss.

An investment entity is defined as an entity that:

• Obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investors with investment management 
services;

• Commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest in companies solely for returns from capital appreciation, 
investment income, or both; and

• Measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis.

After conducting an assessment of the Company’s activities and business purpose, the Board have concluded that the 
Company meets the definition of an investment entity as per IFRS 10 based on the following factors:

• The Company obtained funds from more than one investor with the purpose of providing those investors with 
investment management services;

• The Company also committed to its investors that its business purpose is to invest in commercially viable healthcare 
and financial services assets that are cashflow positive or will be cashflow positive within 12 months; and

• The Company measures and evaluates the performance of all its investments on a fair value basis.

Furthermore, the Company has more than one investment; the Company also has more than one investor, and its 
investors are not related parties. Additionally our interest is mainly in equity form in all our investments. The Company’s 
approved investment policy documents the Company’s exit strategy, which outlines the Company's approach to 
managing its investments.

The Company has set up RHBO and RHFS as separate legal entities in line with the business model for managing 
healthcare and financial services as discrete business segments. RHBO and RHFS also committed to investors that their 
business purpose is to invest in commercially viable healthcare and financial assets that are cashflow positive or will be 
cashflow positive within 12 months. The two entities measure and evaluate the performance of all investments on a fair 
value basis.

Based on the above assessment it was concluded that the Company and its subsidiaries (RHBO and RHFS) are 
investment entities and are therefore exempt from consolidation in line with IFRS 10.31. The underlying investments in 
subsidiaries and associates held by the Company are accounted for as financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Additionally, as RHBO and RHFS are investment entities in their own capacity 
that have been structured separately in order to distinguish between the healthcare and the financial services portfolio, 
they are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY continued

The Company received its investment management services from RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited 
(RHBM), an entity that is not controlled by the Company. The Investment Management Company is an autonomous 
entity, which is not influenced or controlled by RH Bophelo Limited, as RH Bophelo has no shareholding or managerial 
involvement in RHBM. RHBM is able to provide investment management services and to raise capital for parties other 
than RH Bophelo. As a result, even though RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited provides management 
services to the Company, it is not a service subsidiary in terms of IFRS 10 and is therefore not consolidated.

4.2 Unlisted investments

In valuing unlisted investments that form part of the financial assets of the Company, key assumptions and judgements 
are applied in determining the weighted average cost of capital (WACC), terminal growth rate (TGR), earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA), compounded annual growth rate (CAGR) and capitalisation rates 
to be used in the sum of the parts valuation (SOTP).

The basis for valuing unlisted investments is fair value. At the reporting date, an assessment is made of the value of each 
investment to determine any changes required in the fair value of the investments. Judgement is applied in identifying the 
most appropriate valuation method to determine the fair value of each investment. The Company considers the different 
valuation methods ranging from the earnings multiple method to the earnings yield method and discounted cash flow 
method. In the current year, the Company has applied the discounted cash flow method for all its investments. This 
ensures consistency and comparability across different investments across the two segments.

The Company uses a SOTP valuation method, where all the different investee company businesses and properties held 
are valued separately and then added together, less any net debt in order to calculate the total value of the Company. 
The cash flows of the different businesses are valued using a discounted cash flow (DCF) method, whilst the properties 
are valued according to the capitalisation rate method.

The discounted cash flow method is used to derive the enterprise value of each investment using reasonable 
assumptions that are supported by external, third party inputs when applicable. Such inputs include market yields on 
corporate bonds, economic growth estimates provided by the SA Reserve Bank, and estimations of inflation rates over 
the investment horizon. In deriving the enterprise value, judgement is applied in estimating future post-taxation cash 
flows and the terminal value (free cash flows available to the Company), and then discounting to the present value by 
applying an appropriate risk-adjusted rate that captures the risk inherent to the Company’s projected WACC.

To provide an illustration of the sensitivity of the recognised fair values to changes in inputs, the Company has identified 
key inputs used in computing the DCF valuations and provided a sensitivity analysis based on changes – both favourable 
and unfavourable – to the inputs. The details of significant inputs are included in note 6.

5. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 Other than the accounting policies relating to leases, the principal accounting policies set out below, have been applied 

consistently for all periods presented in these annual financial statements. 

5.1 Financial instruments 

5.1.1 Recognition and classification 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

Non-derivative financial instruments 

 Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity securities, trade and other receivables, cash 
and cash equivalents, loans to group companies and other payables. Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised when the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
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Financial assets 

 The Company classifies its financial assets on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

The Company’s financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: 

• Financial assets at amortised cost; and

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Company classifies financial assets as held at amortised cost only if both of the following criteria are met:

• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows; and

• The contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.

 Financial assets that do not meet the requirement to be classified as financial assets held at amortised cost are 
carried at fair value through profit or loss.

At 29 February 2020, the Company’s financial assets comprised of the following:

• Investments in associates and subsidiaries - classified at fair value through profit or loss;

• Loans to group companies - classified at fair value through profit or loss;

• Other receivables - classified at amortised cost; and

• Cash and cash equivalents - classified at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities 

The Company classifies financial liabilities as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

5.1.2 Initial measurement 

 Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value. For financial instruments that are not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the instrument. Transaction costs 
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss. Transaction costs 
associated with the issue of the Company’s own equity instruments are set off against the proceeds from the issue 
of equity instruments.

 The transaction price of the consideration received or given in exchange for a financial instrument is generally 
regarded as the fair value of the financial instrument. However, the Company occasionally provides financial 
support to investee companies on terms that are different from market-related terms. When the fair value of the 
financial instrument differs from the transaction price at initial recognition, the Company accounts for the  
Day 1 gain or loss as a deferred gain or loss in line with IFRS 9. For transactions between equity participants, the 
deferred gains and losses are presented as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. 

5.1.3 Subsequent measurement 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are subsequently measured in accordance with the initial classification  
category.

• A gain or loss on a financial asset that is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss will be 
recognised in profit or loss;

• Financial assets classified at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method; and

• Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

 As an investment entity, the Company measures its investments in associates and subsidiaries at fair value through 
profit or loss. Loans to group companies are not held under a business model of collecting contractual cash flows 
made up solely of interest and principal. Rather, they are managed on a basis similar to the measurement of the 
performance of the investee companies. Such loans are therefore classified and subsequently measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.
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5. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Impairment of financial assets 

 The impairment model is applied only on financial assets measured at amortised cost. The Company measures 
its financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with the exception of ‘other receivables’ and cash and cash 
equivalents that are both measured at amortised cost.

 The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach in measuring expected credit losses for its other receivables, 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, other receivables have 
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the number of days past due. No loss allowance is 
calculated on receivables due from SARS.

 Expected credit losses on other receivables are presented as credit losses within operating expenses. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

 Due to the short-term nature of the cash and cash equivalents, and the fact that all counter parties are well 
established financial institutions with a good credit rating; no credit losses are estimated for the cash balances.

5.1.4 Derecognition of financial assets 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when:

• The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expires; or

• The financial asset is transferred, resulting in the transfer of substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership 
and the Company no longer retains control of the asset.

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Company derecognises a financial liability when the obligation per the contract has been fulfilled or expired.

5.2 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified at amortised cost. Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash equivalents, the 
amortised cost approximates fair value. No credit loss allowances are provided for on cash and cash equivalents.

5.3 Other receivables 

Other receivables are initially measured at fair value. The transaction price is the amount of the consideration to which an 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods and services, excluding amounts collected on 
behalf of third parties.

Other receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost and derecognised upon settlement by the counterparty 
or when impaired.

For the purposes of applying the impairment model on other receivables, the Company measures the loss allowance at 
an amount equal to the life time expected credit losses using the simplified approach.

5.4 Loans to group companies 

The Company provides loans to investee companies based on the needs to fund critical projects of the investee 
companies. In providing the loans, the Company regards the financial assistance as a necessary intervention in ensuring 
that the investee companies can maximise returns, which in turn improves the generation of investment income and 
capital appreciation for the Company. The intention of the Company is not primarily the recovery of the contractual 
cashflows (capital and interest), but mainly to facilitate growth capital to investee companies for expansion purposes.
In line with its strategy of monitoring the performance of the investee companies on a fair value basis, the Company 
measures the loans advanced to investee companies as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

This is primarily due to the fact that the measurement of the loans at fair value is more reflective of the way the Company 
measures and monitors its investments in associates and subsidiaries. Additionally, the focus on the evaluation and 
management of the performance of the associates and subsidiaries, rather than the nature of the loans advanced to the 
investee companies, results in more relevant information for the Company and its shareholders.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

BUSINESS OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE OUTLOOK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

104 RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020104 RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



The valuation process for the loans to group companies is further explained in note 6, disclosed in terms of IFRS 7 and 
IFRS 13. The Company recognises Day 1 gains and losses on all loans to group companies where the transaction price 
differs from the fair value of the loan. When such transactions involve equity participants, the deferred gains and losses 
are presented as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.

5.5 Unlisted investments 

The Company’s unlisted investments are investments in subsidiaries and associates. As the Company is an investment 
entity, the subsidiaries are not consolidated and the associates are not equity accounted. Rather the investments are 
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The investments are initially measured at fair value with the transaction costs expensed in profit or loss.

Beyond initial measurement, the Company determines the fair value of each investment on a continuous basis. The 
valuation techniques applied to the valuation of each investment incorporate level 3 inputs. The allocation of a valuation 
input into the fair value hierarchy is determined based on the level of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety. Fair value changes are accounted for in profit or loss for the year.

A summary of the unlisted investments is contained in note 6.

5.6 Equity instruments

  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised as the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

5.7 Income tax 

  Income tax represents current tax and deferred tax. The adoption of IFRS 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
had no effect on how the Company accounts for income tax.

 5.7.1 Current tax assets and liabilities

  The current tax asset or liability is based on taxable profit or loss for the year. Taxable profit or loss differs from profit/
loss as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

 5.7.2 Deferred tax liabilities

  Deferred tax is recognised as the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Such deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

  Deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

5.8 Leases

 IFRS 16 Leases replaced the previous standard on leasing arrangements IAS 17 Leases.

  For all rental arrangements in which the Company is a party, the Company assesses whether the arrangement is or 
contains a lease. An agreement is or contains a lease if it transfers the right to control the use of an asset identified by 
a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company once again reassesses if an agreement is or contains a 
lease only if the terms and conditions of the agreement change.

  In the current year there was only one lease that was short-term in nature. The short-term exemption allowed by IFRS 
16 was applied in respect of this lease. The rental expense in respect of this lease has been disclosed in note 16.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

5. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

5.9 Investment income

  The Company's investment income is made up of interest and gains or losses on financial assets that are recognised 
on the accrual basis.

 •  Interest income (interest income from loans to group companies and interest income from bank balances) is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

 •  Fair value movements through profit or loss consist of fair value gains or loss from financial assets measured at fair 
value through profit or loss. These are recognised on a bi-annual basis, using a suitable valuation methodology.

5.10 Other income 

 Other income mainly comprises due diligence costs recovered after a transaction has been successfully concluded.

5.11 Segment reporting

  The Company's Executive Committee – made up of the CEO, the CFO and all operational executives – fulfils the role 
of the chief operating decision maker (CODM). The Executive Committee has been allocated the responsibility to 
continuously monitor the various components of the business and allocate capital and strategic resources based on 
the performance of each component. The Committee achieves this through internal reporting on each component on a 
monthly and quarterly basis.

  The Executive Committee – as the CODM – has identified the following components as operating segments both for 
management and external reporting purposes:

 • Healthcare segment – focusing on investments in healthcare infrastructure, and property companies; and 
 • Financial services segment – focusing on investments in insurance and financial services relating to healthcare.

  The reporting segments were identified after applying the quantitative thresholds and after aggregating operating 
segments with similar characteristics. The related nature and complementarity of the services and focus areas are 
considered in aggregating operating segments into a reportable segment. Furthermore, discrete financial information is 
prepared and evaluated by the CODM in relation to the two segments identified.

  The CODM regularly reviews the operating results of the healthcare and financial services segment and allocates 
resources based on the results of the reviews. In line with the exemption from consolidation and applying equity 
accounting, the Company does not account for associates in each segment using the equity method. Such 
investments are accounted for at fair value.

 The financial performance and financial position of each segment have been disclosed in note 25.
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2020
R

2019
R

Opening balance 157 896 791 -

Additions- acquired in shares 46 500 000 13 013 299

Additions- acquired in cash 226 421 515 128 286 701

Day 1 gains * (5 768 178) -

Fair value gains 84 684 912 16 596 791

509 735 040 157 896 791
Additions include investments in unlisted equities for the current year in RHBO, RHFS and RH 12J. The Company’s investments are made in entities that 
are operating in South Africa. The investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The investments under RHBO and RH 12J have been 
allocated to the healthcare investment portfolio and those under RHFS have been allocated to the financial services investment portfolio. 

*Loans provided to the investee companies are regarded as transactions between equity participants, and the resultant Day 1 gains and losses; are 
presented as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the investments (see Notes 5.5 and 7).

Investments in unlisted equity instruments – reconciliation 

2020 

R Opening balance Additions*
Fair value 

changes** Day 1 Gains Closing balance

RHFS – 3 650 000 96 257 – 3 746 257

RHBO 157 896 791 266 771 515 84 874 210 (5 768 178) 503 774 338

RH 12J – 2 500 000 (285 555) – 2 214 445

157 896 791 272 921 515 84 684 912 (5 768 178) 509 735 040

2019

R Opening balance Additions
Fair value 

changes Closing balance

RHBO - 141 300 000 16 596 791 157 896 791

* Refer to note 20 for additional disclosure.

**Refer to note 14. 

The valuation of the investments in unlisted equities relies on various unobservable inputs that are sensitive to changes that would affect the 
recognised value of the investments in the annual financial statements. To aid stakeholders understand the significant unobservable inputs that 
influence the valuation process, the Company has identified the key inputs used in the valuations. A sensitivity analysis on this input has been 
prepared and disclosed in order to illustrate the potential impact of the changes to this input on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
Refer to note 6.2.

In relation to the sensitivity analysis, forward-looking information and assumptions relating to EBITDA and WACC are limited by the fact that the 
Covid-19 impact on the future projections is still difficult to predict and estimate with a high degree of confidence. As a result, the sensitivity analysis 
for investments excludes the Covid-19 impact. Refer to note 21
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS continued

6.1 Summary of significant investments

2020

Entity Description
Economic 

interest
Fair value at 
year end (R) WACC

Proportion 
of total 

investments

Investments in subsidiaries* 

Africa Healthcare Operates and 
owns hospitals 
and manufactures 
healthcare clothing 100% 224 517 546 17.2% 44%

Vryburg Private Hospital Hospital services and 
investment property 81% 26 545 792 17.2% 5%

Medicare Hospital Hospital services and 
investment property 51% 120 282 740 16.9% 24%

RH Bell Clinic Hospital services and 
investment property 100% 39 088 060 19.0% 8%

Fauchard Clinic Hospital services and 
investment property 100% 28 452 081 20.2% 6%

Investment in associates* 

Rondebosch Medical Centre Hospital services 30% 46 130 735 18.3% 9%

*Each of the investments listed here represents at least 5% of the total value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss. The DCF 
method was used to value all investments using a terminal growth rate of 5.1%.

RHBO has an option to acquire a further 21% in Rondebosch Medical Centre. The exercise price will only be determined independently based 
on the market conditions at the time of sale; therefore the valuation of the option was determined to be nil.

2019

Entity Description
Economic 

interest
Fair value at 
year end (R) WACC

Proportion 
of total 

investments

Investments in subsidiaries* 

Africa Healthcare Hospital services and 
investment property 60% 95 489 661 18.0% 60%

 Vryburg Private Hospital** Hospital services and 
investment property 76% 28 421 964 18.0% 17%

Investments in associate*

Rondebosch Medical Centre Hospital services 30% 35 000 001 18.0% 22%

*  Each of the investments listed here represents at least 5% of the total value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss. The DCF 
method was used to value all investments using a terminal growth rate range of 6.5% and 7.3%.

**  Reported in the prior year is an amount of R27 154 529, excluding a shareholder loan to Vryburg Private Hospital of R1 267 435. In the 
current year, the investment includes both the value of the investments and shareholder loan to Vryburg Private Hospital. Consequently, 
prior year and reviewed results has been restated.
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6.2 Sensitivity analysis 

The ranges (and absolute values) used for the key unobservable inputs are as follows:

Input Range used (2020) Range used (2019)

Capitalisation rate 10% to 12% 11%

TGR (Terminal Growth rate) 5.1% 6.5% and 7.3%

WACC (Weighted Average Cost of Capital) 16.9% to 22.2% 18.0%

EBITDA (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) 8% *10%

Market interest rate 9.75% to 10.75% 10% to 10.25%

*  The disclosures relating to EBITDA are based on a seven-year compounded annual growth rate and have been provided as part of the 
enhanced reporting on the sensitivity analysis for investments.

Explanation of key valuation inputs and possible impact of changes in inputs:

Significant unobservable input
Current unit of 
measurement Favourable changes Unfavourable changes

Capitalisation rate# 10% -12% Decrease by 25 basis points, will 
result in an increase in the value 
of investments at year end.

Increase by 25 basis points, will 
result in decrease in the value of 
investments at year end.

Terminal Growth rate 5,1% Increase by 25 basis points, will 
result in increase in the value of 
investments at year end.

Decrease by 25 basis points, will 
result in decrease in the value of 
investments at year end.

WACC (range) 16,9%-22,2% Decrease by 25 basis points, will 
result in increase in the value of 
investment at year end.

Increase by 25 basis points, will 
result in decrease in the value of 
investments at year end.

EBITDA (Using the seven 
year compounded annual 
growth rate on EBITDA)

8% Increase by 250 basis points, will 
result in an increase in the value 
of investments at year end.

Decrease by 250 basis points, 
will result in a decrease in the 
value of investment at year end.

Market interest rate (Prime 
+ 1%) (for loans to group 
companies)

9,75-10,75% Decrease by 25 basis points, 
will result in increase in the loan 
balance at year end.

Increase by 25 basis points, will 
result in decrease in the loan 
balance at year end.

Sensitivity analysis provided as part of the JSE Proactive monitoring process, see note 3.3.

# The capitalisation rate is used in the valuation of properties acquired as part of investments.

The Company does not expect the unobservable inputs to fluctuate by more than 25 basis points on the capitalisation rate, terminal 
growth rate, weighted average cost of capital and market interest rates and 250 basis points earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation was deemed as an appropriate measurement for the sensitivity analysis on investments.

2020 2019

Significant unobservable input
Favourable 

changes (+)
Unfavourable 

changes (-)
Favourable 

changes (+)
Unfavourable 

changes (-)

Capitalisation rate 11 854 303 (11 327 445) 3 672 018 (3 508 818)

Terminal growth rate* 4 519 454 (4 023 933) 1 399 957 (1 246 464)

WACC 8 213 262 (7 573 753) 2 544 160 (2 346 064)

EBITDA 12 512 709 (12 189 157) 3 947 420 (3 789 523)

Total 37 099 728 (35 114 288) 11 563 555 (10 890 869)

Current fair value as at year end 509 735 040 509 735 040 157 896 791 157 896 791
Fair value after accounting for total effect of 
changes in inputs 546 834 768 474 620 752 169 460 346 147 005 922

* The sensitivity analysis relating to the terminal growth rate was applied on the combined terminal value for all investments of R209 517 476  
(prior year: R81 407 741).
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS continued

6.3 Sensitivity analysis: properties

Included in some of the investment balances are amounts relating to properties that are acquired as part of the 
investee companies. The capitalisation rate used to value each property is a significant unobservable input. An increase 
in the capitalisation rate results in a decrease in the fair value of the property and – by extension – the fair value of 
the investment. A decrease in the capitalisation rate results in an increase in the fair value of the property and – by 
extension – the fair value of the investment.

The sensitivity analysis relating to the property component of each investment with a fair value that has a property 
element is as follows:

Investments with a property 
component

Total fair value 
at year end  

(R)

Property value 
included in 

valuation  
(R)

Capitalisation 
rate  
(%)

Changes in  
capitalisation rate 

(R)

2020
Favourable  

(-25 bps)
Unfavourable 

(+25 bps)

Africa Healthcare 224 517 546 11 000 000 12 234 043 (224 490)

Vryburg Private Hospital 26 545 792 22 906 800 11 532 716 (509 040)

Medicare Private Hospital 120 282 740 50 457 715 10 1 293 788 (1 230 676)

RH Bell Clinic 39 088 060 34 000 000 12 755 556 (723 404)

Fauchard Clinic 28 452 081 13 000 000 12 288 889 (276 596)

Investments with a property 
component

Total fair value 
at year end 

(R)

Property value 
included in 

valuation 
(R)

Capitalisation 
rate 
(%)

Changes in  
capitalisation rate  

(R)

2019
Favourable  

(-25 bps)
Unfavourable 

(+25 bps)

Vryburg Private Hospital 28 421 964 20 520 000 11 477 209 (456 000)

Sensitivity analysis provided as part of the JSE Proactive monitoring, refer to note 3.3. 
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6.4 Sensitivity analysis – significant investments in unlisted equities 

The table below reflects the effect of changes in significant unobservable inputs that affect the valuation of the 
Company’s most significant financial assets (each making up at least 5% of the total investments). As the investments 
are held at fair value through profit or loss; the changes – if they materialised – would be reflected in the statement of 
profit or loss. 

2020 

Significant 
unobservable 
input WACC EBITDA TGR

Subsidiaries

Total fair 
value at  

year end
Favourable

-25 bps
Unfavourable

+25 bps
Favourable

+250 bps
Unfavourable

-250 bps
Favourable

+25 bps
Unfavourable

-25 bps

Africa 
Healthcare 224 517 546 4 241 113 (4 074 127) 7 049 825 (7 079 825) 2 246 292 (2 155 443)

Vryburg Private 
Hospital 26 545 792 206 493 (283 882) 428 852 (438 852) 143 667 (137 969)

Medicare 
Private Hospital 120 282 740 1 419 415 (1 744 523) 1 866 691 (1 966 691) 919 392 (881 124)

RH Bell Clinic 39 088 060 438 914 (576 060) 779 500 (779 916) 272 040 (262 402)

Fauchard Clinic 28 452 081 342 962 (436 485) 532 691 (536 951) 182 148 (176 223)

Associates

Rondebosch 
Medical Centre

46 130 735 879 844 (1 099 905) 1 293 576 (1 293 576) 496 374 (477 868)

2019

Significant 
unobservable 
input WACC EBITDA TGR

Subsidiaries

Total fair 
value at  

year end
Favourable

-25 bps
Unfavourable

+25 bps
Favourable

+250 bps
Unfavourable

-250 bps
Favourable

+25 bps
Unfavourable

-25 bps

Africa 
Healthcare 95 489 661 1 888 944 (1 648 003) 2 998 364 (3 011 124) 1 040 331 (831 773)

Vryburg Private 
Hospital 28 421 964 251 403 (240 980) 438 852 (436 850) 143 667 (137 969)

Associates

Rondebosch 
Medical Centre

35 000 001 658 200 (822 825) 981 453 (981 453) 728 818 (847 682)

In the prior year, the sensitivities were based on +5 bps and -5 bps, in order to maintain consistency with the current year disclosure, an 
average current year movement based on +25 bps and -25 bps has been applied for the WACC and TGR.

Change statement relating to the sensitivities on investments for unobservable inputs has been recalculated and corrected when compared to 
reviewed results.
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS continued

6.5 Investment portfolio reconciliation of current year movements

The table has been provided as part of the section 15 of the JSE listing requirements.

2020-RHBO portfolio

Subsidiaries

Opening 
balance  

R
Additions  

R

Fair value 
changes  

R Day 1 gains

Closing  
balance  

R

Africa Healthcare 95 489 661 60 000 000 71 524 867 (2 496 982) 224 517 546

Vryburg Private Hospital* 28 421 964 2 818 000 (4 694 172) – 26 545 792

Medicare Private Hospital 60 000 120 937 068 (714 328) – 120 282 740

RH Bell Clinic – 41 118 893 1 240 363 (3 271 196) 39 088 060

Fauchard Clinic – 25 232 344 3 219 737 – 28 452 081

Associates

Rondebosch Medical 
Centre**

35 000 001 – 11 130 734 – 46 130 735

Phelang Bonolo Healthcare 
Procurement and Management 
Proprietary Limited

– 12 504 000 (997 935) – 11 506 065

158 971 626 262 610 305 80 709 266 (5 768 178) 496 523 019

Other (1 074 835) 4 161 210 4 164 944 – 7 251 319

157 896 791 266 771 515 84 874 210 (5 768 178) 503 774 338

2020 RHFS portfolio

Subsidiaries

Wesmart*** - 3 650 000 96 257 – 3 746 257

- 3 650 000 96 257 – 3 746 257
* Includes shareholder loan issued by RHBO for R1.25 million. The loan had a fair value of R3,1 million at 29 February 2020.

** Includes shareholder loan issued by RHBO with a fair value of R33.8 million as at 29 February 2020.

*** Includes shareholder loan issued by RHFS for R0.9 million. The loan had a fair value of R0.9 million as at 29 February 2020.

2019 RHBO portfolio

Subsidiaries

Opening 
balance  

R
Additions  

R

Fair value 
changes  

R

Closing  
balance  

R

Africa Healthcare – 62 500 000 32 989 661 95 489 661

Vryburg Private Hospital* – 25 587 435 2 834 529 28 421 964

Medicare Private Hospital – 60 000 – 60 000

Associates

Rondebosch Medical Centre** – 50 000 000 (14 999 999) 35 000 001

– 138 147 435 20 824 191 158 971 626

Other – 3 152 565 (4 227 400) (1 074 835)

– 141 300 000 16 596 791 157 896 791
*Includes shareholder loan issued by RHBO for R1.2 million. The loan had a fair value of R1.2 million as at 28 February 2019.

**Includes shareholder loan issued by RHBO for R50 million. The loan had a fair value of R35 million as at 28 February 2019.

The presentation has been reorganised in order to improve the reconciliation of the underlying investments in line with the JSE proactive 
monitoring panel; consequently, the prior year comparison has been restated.

Restatement
In the 2019 annual financial statements, a loan made by RHBO to a consortium of doctors to fund the acquisition of their stake in an 
investment in Vryburg Private Hospital, was erroneously noted as a loan made by the Company in the notes to the annual financial statements. 
Such an error related to the presentation of the balance of the loan (R5 042 230) and did not impact on the reported profit for the year and the 
fair value of the investments made by the Company. Due to its nature as a presentation matter, the error is not regarded as material and no 
restatement has been processed in the financial statements. The note disclosure for the prior year has been updated in relation to this amount.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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7. LOANS TO GROUP COMPANIES

2020
R

2019
R

Opening balance 2 338 541 –

Additions 34 000 000 2 338 541

Day 1 gains 5 768 178 –

Capital repayments (2 338 541) –

Interest accrued 1 106 504 –

Fair value adjustment (621 141) –

40 253 541 2 338 541

Classification

Current assets 4 307 909 2 338 541

Non-current assets 35 945 632 –

40 253 541 2 338 541
In determining the Day 1 gains or losses and the fair value adjustments; the Company discounts all expected cash flows at the market-related rate to 
determine the fair value of each loan. In cases where there is a difference between the actual loan advanced (transaction price) and present value of 
the cash flows discounted at the market rate (fair value), a Day 1 gain or loss is recognised.

When the fair value of the loan differs from the transaction price at initial recognition, the Company accounts for the Day 1 gain or loss as a deferred 
gain or loss in line with IFRS 9. Such gains and losses are deferred until the loan is derecognised, unless the fair value of the loan is determined using 
observable inputs (level 1 in the fair value hierarchy), in which case the gains or losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss. For transactions 
between equity participants, the deferred gains and losses are presented as an adjustment to the carrying amount. This policy was adopted for the 
first time in the 2020 financial year.

At the end of the financial period, remaining cash flows are discounted at the prevailing market rate of prime +1%. The difference between the 
present value of the remaining cash flows (discounted at the market rate) and the cumulative balance on the loan accounts, is a fair value adjustment 
for the period.

The classification between current and non-current assets is based on the expected date of settlement. Any amounts due within 12 months that are 
made up of any capital and interest are classified as current; the remainder is classified as non-current.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

7. LOANS TO GROUP COMPANIES
7.1 Reconciliation of loans to group companies held at fair value through profit or loss

2020
R

2019
R

Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited:
Opening balance – –

Additions 14 000 000 –

Day 1 gain deferred 2 496 983 –

Interest accrued 359 695 –

Fair value adjustment (615 046) –

16 241 632 –
The Company issued the loan to Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited in December 2019 at 15% interest rate which is repayable after 5 years 
to enable Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited to finance expansions.

Notamed Proprietary Limited
Opening balance – –

Additions 20 000 000 –

Day 1 gains deferred 3 271 195 –

Interest accrued 746 809 –

Fair value adjustment (6 095) –

24 011 909 –
The Company issued the loan to Notamed Proprietary Limited in December 2019 at 15% interest rate which is repayable after 5 years to 
enable Nomated Proprietary Limited to finance expansions.

RH Bophelo Operating Proprietary Limited:
Opening balance 2 338 541 –

Additions – 2 338 541

Repayments (2 338 541) –

– 2 338 541
The loan between the Company and RHBO was an interest-free short-term loan that was fully settled during the year. No fair value 
assessment was performed in the prior year as the cost was deemed to approximate fair value.
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7.2 Sensitivity analysis

Explanation of key valuation inputs and possible impact of changes in inputs:

The Company has a financial assistance policy that governs the provision of financial assistance to group companies. A 
key input – the interest charged on the financial assistance – is dependent on the profile of each entity and is regarded 
as an unobservable input. This input is central to the valuation of the loans provided to group companies. As a result, 
any change to this and other unobservable input would affect the recognised value of the loans in the annual financial 
statements. To aid stakeholders understand the possible impact of the change in significant inputs that influence the 
valuation process for the loans to group companies, the Company has prepared a sensitivity analysis based on changes 
– both favourable and unfavourable – to the inputs.

The table below reflects the effect of changes in significant unobservable inputs that affect the valuation of the 
Company’s loans. As the loans are held at fair value through profit or loss; the changes – if they materialised – would be 
reflected in the statement of profit or loss.

Loans at fair value through Profit or Loss 

R 2020 2019

Significant unobservable input

Favourable 
changes  

(-25 bps)

Unfavourable 
changes (+25 

bps)

Favourable 
changes  

(-25 bps)

Unfavourable 
changes  

(+25 bps)

Market interest rate (prime + 1%) 337 170 (347 280) 19 588 (20 175)

Current fair value as at year end 40 253 541 40 253 541 2 338 541 2 338 541
Fair value after accounting for total effect of 
changes in inputs 40 590 711 39 906 261 2 358 129 2 318 366

Restated to include sensitivity analysis for 2019, which had been omitted.

8. OTHER RECEIVABLES
2020

R
2019

R
SARS VAT 795 529 1 022 587
Other related party loans* – 165 474
Fees receivable** 366 384 244 675
Allowance for expected credit losses*** (41 358) –

1 120 555 1 432 736
*  Short-term loans that relate to new special purpose vehicles in preparation for new investments and a favourable loan balance of R14 286 with 

RH Bophelo Management Company.

**  Included in the prior year fees receivable is an amount of R238 050 due from Rondebosch Medical Centre. Fees receivable include professional 
fees not yet recovered at year end.

*** Expected credit losses are calculated for some receivables held at amortised cost in line with the impairment model of IFRS 9.

The prior year note has been restated, where an amount R165 474 included as part of ‘other’ has been reclassified to ‘other related party loans’ and 
an amount of R244 675 included as part of ‘other related party loans’ has been reclassified to ‘fees receivable’.
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9. TAXATION
2020

R
2019

R

South African Income tax

Normal taxation -current year 1 639 486 3 264 485

Deferred taxation -current year 18 830 285 3 717 681

20 469 771 6 982 166
Normal tax reconciliation:

Profit before tax 90 458 729 28 143 055

Tax at 28% 25 328 444 7 880 055

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income

Less gain on financial assets through profit or loss at standard tax rate (23 537 856) (4 647 101)

Add gain on financial assets through profit or loss at capital gains tax rate 18 830 285 3 717 681

Add impact of non-deductible professional fees 540 213 31 531

Less investment in a s12 J fund (700 000) -

Add allowance for expected credit losses - s11j 8 685 -

20 469 771 6 982 166

Movement in deferred tax

Opening balance 3 717 681 –

Fair value through profit or loss investments 18 830 285 3 717 681

Closing balance 22 547 966 3 717 681

Income tax paid

Current tax receivable at the beginning of the year 332 216 –

Income tax for the year (1 639 486) (3 264 485)

Amount paid 867 882 3 596 701

Current tax (payable)/receivable (439 388) 332 216

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

2020
R

2019
R

Investment account 116 729 717 350 221 087
Current account 3 339 423 23 327 571

120 069 140 373 548 658
Cash and cash equivalents consists of the Company’s cash balances held in a current account and an investment account with First National Bank. 
Included in this balance is an amount of R3 million held in favour of Wesmart on behalf of Genric Insurance Company Limited, in terms of the cell 
captive agreement.
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11. STATED CAPITAL
 Authorised 

 10 000 000 000 “A” no par value ordinary shares with voting rights. (2019: 10 000 000 000 “A” no par value ordinary shares 
with voting rights.)

 1 “B” restrictive class of shares with no voting rights and not transferable. (2019: 1 “B” restrictive class of shares with no 
voting rights and not transferable.)

 Issued 

 55 934 179 “A” ordinary shares with no par value (2019: 51 250 000 “A” ordinary share in issue) 1 “B” share with no par 
value (2019: 1 “B” share in issue)

 Reconciliation of issued “A” shares 

Number of shares 
2020

Number of shares 
2019

Opening balance 51 250 000 50 000 000

Issued during the year* 4 684 179 1 250 000

Closing Balance 55 934 179 51 250 000
*  During the current year, 4 684 179 shares were issued at an average price of R9.93 as part of the settlement for the Africa Healthcare Proprietary 

Limited and Medicare Private Hospital acquisition respectively, whilst in the prior year only 1 250 000 at R10.00 were issued. Transaction costs 
associated with the issue of the Company’s shares are set off against the proceeds from the issue of equity instruments. Transaction costs related 
to the issue of the shares in 2020 were immaterial.

As at year end, the Company had 2.9 million unissued shares under the control of the Directors.

 Reconciliation of issued “B” shares 

RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited 1 1

 The Company manages its capital in a manner that seeks to ensure that it can invest in entities that will assist in maximising 
returns to shareholders. The Company is committed to utilising both debt and equity in acquiring strategic investments. This 
strategy remains unchanged from the prior year. The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

 The Board, through its Investment Committee, reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review, the 
Committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Company has a target 
gearing ratio of 30% determined as the proportion of net debt to equity. The gearing ratio at 29 February 2020 of 0% was 
below the target range and has remained at 0% since the reporting date.

 Net asset value per share and tangible net asset value per share as per below

 The net asset value per share at year end is R11.56 (2019: R10.34).
 The tangible net asset value per share at year end is R11.56 (2019: R10.34)

12. OTHER PAYABLES
2020

R
2019

R

Accounts payable* 1 532 078 1 711 375

Accrued expenses 50 000 –

1 582 078 1 711 375
* Accounts payable are mainly in relation to day-to-day administrative expenses of the Company.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

13.  INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE 
2020

R
2019

R

Interest income from the bank balances 19 291 752 24 490 345

Interest income from group loans* 2 234 997 –

Total interest income 21 526 749 24 490 345

Interest expense (203 859) –

21 322 890 24 490 345
*Interest income was from loans with Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited and Notamed Proprietary Limited, of which R1 106 504 had not been 
paid by year end. Refer to note 7 where loans to group companies are disclosed.

14. GAINS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
 Fair value gains

2020
R

2019
R

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss* 84 063 771 16 596 791

Fair value adjustment of loans to group companies* (621 141) –

Fair value adjustment of investments* 84 684 912 16 596 791

84 063 771 16 596 791
*Refer to note 6 and 7 for full detailed reconciliation.

15. OTHER INCOME
2020

R
2019

R

Professional fees recovered* 1 728 310 23 475

Other income** 255 800 207 000

1 984 110 230 475
* Recoveries are linked to costs incurred such as due diligence and conferencing.

** Fees for board participation in Rondebosch Medical Centre.

16. EXPENSES
 Other operating expenses included the following:

2020
R

2019
R

Marketing and advertising (1 375 278) (631 566)

JSE listing fees (343 888) (295 800)

Management fees (3 374 698) (4 363 015)

Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors (830 607) (600 704)

Office rent* (453 179) (429 826)

Due diligence expenses (3 657 641) (3 765 385)

Reporting and audit fees (1 268 741) (657 987)

Professional services (2 985 330) (740 942)

Estimated credit loss on other receivables (41 358) –

* The Company is a lessee as it currently rents its head office premises. Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Company concluded that the lease relating 
to its head office premises is a short-term lease. The Company elected to recognise the lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.
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17. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
 Remuneration paid to the Directors during the current period ended 29 February 2020 was as follows:

For services as 
a Director 

R
Remuneration  

R
Total  

R

Quinton Zunga* – 1 600 000 1 600 000

Vuyokazi Nomvalo* – 960 000 960 000

Dion Mhlaba* – 1 239 000 1 239 000

Colin Clarke* – 1 239 000 1 239 000

John Oliphant 110 000 – 110 000

Solomon Motuba 170 420 – 170 420

Kgaogelo Ntshwana 170 187 – 170 187

David Sekete 140 000 – 140 000

Londeka Shezi 14 000 – 14 000

Peter Mehlape 30 000 – 30 000

Refiloe Nkadimeng 40 000 – 40 000

Dinao Lerutla 106 000 – 106 000

Bojane Segooa 50 000 – 50 000

830 607 5 038 000 5 868 607
*  The Executive Directors are remunerated by RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited, remuneration for Executive Directors is made 

up of salaries only.

Fees for Non-Executive Directors exclude VAT.

 Remuneration was paid to the Directors during the 28 February 2019 period as follow:

For services as 
a Director 

R
Remuneration  

R
Total  

R

Quinton Zunga* – 1 206 665 1 206 665

Vuyokazi Nomvalo* – 675 000 675 000

Peter Mehlape* 10 000 433 333 443 333

Dion Mhlaba* – 951 666 951 666

John Oliphant 90 000 – 90 000

Solomon Motuba 140 000 – 140 000

Kgaogelo Ntshwana 150 704 – 150 704

David Sekete 130 000 – 130 000

Londeka Shezi 80 000 – 80 000

600 704 3 266 664 3 867 368
*  The Executive Directors are remunerated by RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited, remuneration for Executive Directors is made 
up of salaries only.

Fees for Non-Executive Directors exclude VAT.
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18. RELATED PARTIES
 Related parties are entities with the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over such party in 

making financial and operating decisions, or anyone that is part of the key management personnel (including Directors) of 
the Company. Management considered the key agreements, transactions and relationships between the Company and 
other entities and has classified the entities listed below as a related party. The Company discloses all its relationships in 
investments that are owned directly and indirectly. Direct investments include investments that are owned by RH Bophelo 
and indirect investments include investments that are owned through other investments of RH Bophelo. Where applicable, 
any transaction with a related party is disclosed below.

Relationships 

Relationship with direct subsidiaries

RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary 

Limited
100% shareholding unconsolidated subsidiary, cross 
directorship of Quinton Zunga, Vuyokazi Nomvalo, Kgaugelo 
Ntshwana, Solly Motuba, David Sekete, Dion Mhlaba, John 
Oliphant.

RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited 100% shareholding unconsolidated subsidiary, cross 
directorship of Dion Mhlaba and Colin Clarke.

RH Bophelo Property Proprietary Limited 100% shareholding unconsolidated subsidiary, cross 
directorship of Dion Mhlaba and Colin Clarke.

Relationship with indirect subsidiaries

Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited 100% shareholding unconsolidated subsidiary, cross 
directorship of Vuyokazi Nomvalo and Colin Clarke.

Vryburg Holding Company Proprietary Limited 81% shareholding unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
RHBO. Cross directorship of Colin Clarke.

Henley Solution Proprietary Limited 81% shareholding unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
Vryburg Holding Company, cross directorship of Colin Clarke.

Megafrack Proprietary Limited 100% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
RHBO, cross directorship of Dion Mhlaba and Colin Clarke. 

Fauchard Tandheelkundige Sentrum Proprietary 

trading as Fauchard Day Clinic
100% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
RHBO, cross directorship of Colin Clarke. 

RH Florida Proprietary Limited 100% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
RHBO, cross directorship of Colin Clarke. 

RH Bell Clinic Proprietary Limited 100% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
RHBO, cross directorship of Colin Clarke. 

Notamed Proprietary Limited 100% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
RHBO, cross directorship of Colin Clarke. 

Vutomi Health Membership 100% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
RHFS, cross directorship of Dion Mhlaba and Colin Clarke. 

RH Bophelo Pharma Proprietary Limited 100% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary

Fezinet Proprietary Limited trading as Vryburg 

Private Hospital
81% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
Vryburg Holding Company, cross directorship of Colin Clarke.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

BUSINESS OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE OUTLOOK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

120 RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020120 RH BOPHELO STAYING AHEAD OF THE CURVEINTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Relationship with indirect subsidiaries continued

Fenetiq Proprietary Limited 81% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
Vryburg Holding Company, cross directorship of Colin Clarke.

BMC Gilliwie Proprietary Limited trading as 

Medicare Private Hospital
51% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
Megafrack, cross directorship of Colin Clarke. 

Magnacorp 84 Proprietary Limited 50,1% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
Megafrack, cross directorship of Colin Clarke. 

Wesmart Financial and Administration Solution 
Proprietary Limited

60% shareholding, unconsolidated subsidiary held through 
RHFS, cross directorship of Dion Mhlaba and Colin Clarke. 

Relationship with indirect associates

Rondebosch Medical Centre Proprietary Limited 30% shareholding, unconsolidated associate held through 
RHBO, cross directorship of Dion Mhlaba and Colin Clarke.

Phelang Bonolo Healthcare Procurement  

and Management Proprietary Limited  

(“PBHPM”)

49% unconsolidated associate held through RHBO, manages 
and owns 8,3% in Botshilu Private Hospital Proprietary Limited, 
cross directorship of Vuyokazi Nomvalo.

Botshilu Private Hospital Proprietary Limited 8,3% owned by PBHPM, a hospital in Soshanguve.

Botshilu Properties Proprietary Limited 100% owned by Botshilu Private Hospital Proprietary Limited 
and owns the hospital property in Soshanguve.

RH 12J Limited Investment into a 12J fund in Healthcare infrastructure. Cross 
directorship for the following Directors in RH Bophelo Limited: 
Colin Clarke, Dion Mhlaba, Vuyokazi Nomvalo.

Relationship with Directors, shareholders and others

RH Bophelo Management Company  

Proprietary Limited
Cross directorship for the following Directors in RH Bophelo 
Limited: Quinton Zungu, Dion Mhlaba, Collin Clarke and John 
Oliphant. Provides investment management services and holds the 
B share.

RH Managers Proprietary Limited Cross directorship with RH Bophelo Limited: Quinton Zunga, 
Dion Mhlaba, and David Sekete (Non-Executive). The Company 
and RH Managers share an office space.

Metamax Proprietary Limited Dion Mhlaba is a director in both Megafrack and Metamax, 
both companies own majority shareholding in Magnacorp and 
Medicare hospital. Metamax owns 45% of Medicare hospital 
and 49% of Magnacorp Proprietary Limited.

RQ Capital Partners Proprietary Limited Quinton Zunga (CEO) is the majority shareholder and holds 3% 
issued shares of the Company.

Third Way Investment Group Proprietary Limited John Oliphant (chairman of RHB) is the majority shareholder and 
holds 2% issued shares of the Company.

RH Bophelo Energy Proprietary Limited Cross directorship of Dion Mhlaba and Colin Clarke.

Public Investment Corporation SOC Limited Shareholder with significant influence.

K2015398326 Proprietary Limited Loan receivable by RHBO for R5.1 million.

Medicare Practitioners Investment Holdings 

Proprietary Limited
Loan receivable to Medicare Private Hospital of R2.4 million.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

18. RELATED PARTIES continued

Related party balances reflected on the statement of financial position at year end
Loan accounts -Owing by related parties

2020
R

2019
R

Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited 16 241 632 –

Notamed Proprietary Limited 24 011 909 –

RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited – 2 338 541

40 253 541 2 338 541

Amounts included in other receivables due from related parties

2020
R

2019
R

RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited – 14 286

Megafrack Proprietary Limited – 91 188

Notamed Proprietary Limited – 60 000

Rondebosch Medical Centre – 238 050

– 403 524

Amounts included in other payables due to related parties

2020
R

2019
R

RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited 201 800 –

Rondebosch Medical Centre 23 230** –

225 030 –

Related party transactions with impact on the statement of profit or loss
Interest received from related parties

2020
R

2019
R

Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited* 1 488 188 –

Notamed Proprietary Limited 746 809 –

2 234 997 –

Interest paid to related parties

2020
R

2019
R

Medicare Private Hospital 203 859 –

203 859 –

Other income received from related parties

2020
R

2019
R

Rondebosch Medical Centre* 255 800 207 000

255 800 207 000
*  Rondebosch Medical Centre is a 30% associate of the Company where two of the Company's Executives serve on the Board, and the Company 

claims the monthly retainer, which is what constituted the Directors’ fees income.
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Professional fees recovered from related parties

2020
R

2019
R

Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited* 15 081 8 640

Medicare Private Hospital 422 016** –

Vryburg Holding Company 1 020 000** –

1 457 097 8 640

Administration fees paid to related parties

2020
R

2019
R

RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited 3 374 698 4 363 015

RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited 161 800 1 138 747

3 536 498 5 501 762
The Company has entered into a management agreement with RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited for providing operational 
management services. Management fees are 0.7% per quarter of the total capital raised, provided the Company has not deployed more than 60% 
of its initial capital raised. In October 2019, the Company had invested more than 60% of the Company’s initial capital, which resulted in a change 
in management fees calculations to 1% per quarter of the RH Bophelo’s enterprise value. The Executive Directors are remunerated by RH Bophelo 
Management Company Proprietary Limited.

Rent paid to related parties

2020
R

2019
R

RH Managers Proprietary Limited 453 179 429 826

453 179 429 826

 Restatement

 The following related party disclosures were omitted in the prior year disclosures due to lack of materiality and have been 
disclosed to aid stakeholders understand the nature and amount of related party transactions from 2019:

 • Professional fees recovered from Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited of R8 640;

 • Other income from Rondebosch Medical Centre of R207 000;

 • Administration fees paid in respect of RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited of R1 138 747; and

 • Rent paid in respect of RH Managers Proprietary Limited of R429 826.

 Change statement

 * these amounts changed due to reclassification when compared to the reviewed results. 
** these amounts were not included as part of the reviewed results.
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19.  COMMITMENTS AND FINANCIAL SUPPORT 
 The Company provides financial support to investee companies in line with its policy on financial assistance. During 

the 2020 financial period, the financial support was provided in the form of equity injections, loans, guarantees and 
loan commitments. This note is being disclosed for the first time in 2020 annual financial statements, in line with the 
recommendations of the JSE Proactive monitoring process.

  The Company has provided financial assistance to its unconsolidated subsidiaries through equity, loans and guarantees.

  • There are no restrictions on the loans.

 •  In line with the Company and group policy on intercompany loans, section 45 of the Companies Act is applied for each 
form of financial assistance approved within the Group and between group companies.

 •  Currently, the Company has no commitment to provide any of its subsidiaries with financial assistance, nor any 
commitment to assist its subsidiaries with obtaining financial support.

 •  The Company has no contractual obligation to provide financial support to its subsidiaries. 

A summary of transactions for financial support are as follows: 

Name of subsidiary Nature of financial support

Purpose for 
financial 
assistance

Equity  
R

Loan  
R

Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited – 14 000 000 Expansion

Notamed Proprietary Limited – 20 000 000 Expansion

RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited 3 650 000 – Expansion

RH 12J Limited 2 500 000 – Expansion

RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited 266 771 515 – Expansion

Note 7 6

 The loans to Africa Healthcare and Notamed are interest-bearing loans with an interest rate of 15% per annum and are 

repayable after five years from the date of issue.

 At 29 February 2020, the Company had no outstanding loan commitments to investee companies. In the prior year, a loan 

commitment of R20 million had been made in favour of Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited.

 In the current year, the Company provided a R3 million corporate guarantee on behalf of Wesmart in support of its cell 

captive agreement with Genric Insurance on actuarial losses. At year end there were no expected underwriting losses, rather 

the portfolio made a profit of R540 767.
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20.  SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFFECTING THE CURRENT YEAR REPORT
  The Company made the following acquisitions:
 Fauchard Day Clinic (“FDC”), Medicare Private Hospital (“MPH”), RH Bell Clinic, Africa Healthcare, PBHPM, Wesmart 

Financial and Administration Solution Proprietary Limited and RH 12J during the 2020 financial period. 

 Details of the Fauchard Day Clinic acquisition:

 In September 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of the 100% of Fauchard Tandheelkundige Sentrum Proprietary 
Limited trading as Fauchard Day Clinic through its wholly-owned subsidiary RHBO. The acquisition is for a combined 
consideration of R25 million cash (R15 million for the property and R10 million for the Day Clinic).

 Details of the Medicare Private Hospital acquisition: 

 On 31 July 2019, RHBO, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Megafrack Proprietary Limited (Megafrack) completed the 
acquisition of 51% of the issued share capital in BMC Gilliwie Proprietary Limited trading as Medicare Private Hospital (MPH) 
and 50.1% of the issued share capital in Magnacorp 84 Proprietary Limited (property company) through the purchase of 
existing shares, for a combined consideration of R149.5 million. The purchase consideration consisted of cash of R127 
million and R22.5 million through the Company's listed shares, using a 30-day volume weighted average price (VWAP) of 
R9 per share. Out of the R149.5 million, R121 million was funded through the Company and the balance of R28.5 million 
through a bank loan from Magnacorp 84 Proprietary Limited. The R121 million paid by the Company, consists of R98.5 
million in cash and R22.5 million in shares.

 Details of the Wesmart Financial and Administration Solutions acquisition:

 On 30 April 2019, the Company subscribed to 60% of the Wesmart Financial and Administration Solutions Proprietary 
Limited (Wesmart) through its wholly-owned subsidiary RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited for a total cash 
consideration of R2 750 000, loan consideration of R900 000 and corporate guarantee of R3 million in favour of Genric 
Insurance Company Limited. Wesmart is a registered authorised Financial Services Provider (FSP: 45769).

 Details of Bell Hospital acquisition:

 On 1 October 2019, the Company, through RHBO and its subsidiaries, Notamed and RH Bell Clinic, completed the 
acquisition of the 100% of Netcare Bell’s assets for R55.2 million from Netcare Hospitals, which consists of R1.6 million for 
the Bell Hospital and R53.6 million for the Bell Property. RHBO has also provided additional working capital of R5.9 million to 
RH Bell Clinic.

 Details of the Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited acquisition:

 On 3 September 2019, RHBO concluded the acquisition of the remaining 40% of the issued share capital in Africa 
Healthcare Proprietary Limited from the remaining shareholders for a total consideration of R60 million, consisting of cash of 
R36 million and R24 million through the Company's listed shares using a 30-day VWAP of R10.99 per share.

 Details of the Phelang Bonolo Healthcare Procurement and Management Proprietary Limited acquisition:

 On 28 January 2020, RHBO acquired 49% of the Phelang Bonolo Healthcare Procurement and Management Proprietary 
Limited (PBHPM), a hospital management company for R12.5 million. PBHPM currently manages Botshilu Private Hospital 
Proprietary Limited (BPH), a 100-bed private hospital that is situated in Soshanguve, a township that is about 30 km north of 
Pretoria.

 Details of the RH 12J investment:

 The Company approved an investment of R2.5 million into RH 12J Fund, a fund that is solely focused on the construction 
and development of new and existing infrastructure. As at 29 February 2020, the Fund had not done any transactions.

 Details of Vryburg investment

 RHBO successfully acquired an additional 5% for R1.56 million in the current year from existing shareholders of Vryburg 
Holdings Proprietary Limited, and an increase in shareholder loan for R1.25 million
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21. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 
 Since the end of the financial reporting period on 29 February 2020, a series of events have materialised that the Board 

wishes to bring to the attention of all stakeholders. The events are classified into the following categories:

• Corporate events;

• Dual listing;

• The outbreak of the Coronavirus pandemic; and

• The approach of the South African government in managing the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic.

 In relation to all these events, the Board has concluded that the each of the events materialised after the end of the financial 
reporting period and consequently do not reflect conditions that existed on 29 February 2020. The events are, therefore 
classified as non-adjusting events. They have been disclosed as the Board is of the view that the qualitative and/or 
qualitative impact of such events is material in relation to the annual financial statements.

21.1 Corporate events 

 The Company has concluded the following transactions in the period between 29 February 2020 and the publication of 
this set of annual results – 

Genric Insurance Company Limited transaction:

 On 13 March 2020, RHFS completed the acquisition of 25% of the issued share capital in Genric Insurance Company 
Limited (Genric) for a total consideration of R52.5 million, consisting of cash of R45 million and an interest bearing 
shareholders loan of R7.5 million at an interest rate of prime less 3.5%. (The R7.5 million will be paid through an issue 
of RH Bophelo shares at a VWAP).

Rondebosch Medical Centre acquisition:

 On 28 March 2020, RHBO finalised the acquisition of 70% of Rondebosch Medical Centre Proprietary Limited from 
existing shareholders for a total consideration of R93.75 million, made up of R15 million in cash payable immediately, 
R21.46 million to be settled through the issue of RH Bophelo shares issued at R9.85 each; and balance of R57.29 
million to be paid in cash or RH Bophelo shares at RH Bophelo’s election by no later than 30 September 2020.

COVID relief:

 The Company approved a financial assistance package of R10 million to support its investee companies through the 
COVID period. The support will be allocated to investee companies that will require short-term financial support in order 
to manage their liquidity and working capital. As at signature date, only R5.5 million had been disbursed to Vryburg 
Private Hospital by RHBO.

21.2 Dual listing

 The Company concluded its secondary listing on the Rwanda Stock Exchange (“RSE”) by way of an introduction (“RSE 
Listing”). The Company's primary listing and exchange will remain as the JSE with the RSE Listing being a secondary 
listing (“Secondary Listing”). The purpose of the RSE Listing is to facilitate the Company’s A Ordinary Shares (“Shares”) 
to be available to the wider East African public, to further diversify its investor base and provides an easy and efficient 
way for the Company’s stakeholders and partners in the region to participate beneficially in the growth and fortunes of 
the Company through ownership. No amount was raised at the listing; this was an introductory listing.

The listing has no impact on the 29 February 2020 annual financial statements.
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21.3 The outbreak of the Coronavirus pandemic

Effect on the going concern assessment

 The outbreak of the COVID-19 (Coronavirus) in December 2019 has had profound consequences for the world at 
large. The various measures implemented in order to contain the spread of the outbreak have fundamentally altered 
the way societies, governments and policymakers interact and collaborate with each other. The measures that have 
been implemented – ranging from the healthcare-specific measures to the broader measures aimed at containing 
the resultant economic and social impacts – have forced all stakeholders to revisit their place in the global health 
and socioeconomic value chain. In South Africa, the measures implemented have been lauded by the World Health 
Organisation for their promptness and effectiveness. As a player in the healthcare sector value chain in South Africa, our 
business has found itself at the frontline of the intervention measures.

 In the aftermath of the Coronavirus outbreak, the board has revisited the key ratios used in the assessment – solvency, 
profitability and liquidity indicators – and concluded that they remain within the range that the Board deems appropriate 
to support the going concern assumption. A key factor in this assessment was the fact that the Group’s investments 
operate in the healthcare sector and were classified as ‘essential’ services. The impact of this classification is that the 
decline in occupancy rates and capacity utilisation was marginal, and all units continued to operate within the normal 
range. To this end, the going concern assumption has been determined to be the appropriate basis for financial 
reporting as at 29 February 2020.

Application of IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period

 IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period are the accounting standard that guides how companies need to account 
for events that occur from its reporting date (29 February 2020) to the date of the publication of the annual financial 
statements. Events that do materialise during that time are classified either as ‘adjusting’ or ‘non-adjusting’ events. The 
primary distinction is that adjusting events must provide further evidence or insight into matters that already existed at 
the reporting date (29 February 2020). Non-adjusting events, on the other hand, relate to events that materialised only 
after the reporting date and consequently do not provide evidence or insights into matters that already existed on the 
reporting date.

 In relation to the Coronavirus outbreak, the Board has concluded that the outbreak of the virus and its spread across 
the world represents an event that materialised after the reporting date of 29 February 2020. This is in line with the 
fact that the World Health Organisation only classified the virus as a pandemic on the 11th of March 2020. In addition, 
the government of the Republic of South Africa only declared a National State of Disaster on the 15 March 2020. The 
resultant impact on the financial statements of RH Bophelo would therefore not relate to events that existed on the 
reporting date of 29 February 2020. Rather, they are events that materialised in the timeframe between the reporting 
date and the date of the publication of the annual financial statements. The conclusion therefore, is that the outbreak of 
the Coronavirus represents a non-adjusting event in terms of IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period.

 In relation to non-adjusting events, the Board has the responsibility to assess if the events that have materialised since 
the reporting date are material in nature and/or financial effect. The assessment of materiality is approached from the 
prism of whether the events would influence the economic decisions that users make on the basis of the financial 
statements. In other words, if the disclosure or otherwise of a non-adjusting event would influence decision-making, it is 
regarded as a material non-adjusting event. The estimate of financial effect cannot be determined.
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21. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

21.4 Summary of Covid-19 events and impact on the 2020 annual financial statements

The approach of the South African government in relation to the Covid-19 outbreak has been made up of the following  
 significant actions:

•  Implementation of State of Disaster and National Lockdown and National Institute for Communicable Diseases 
(“NICD”) guidelines

• Monetary policy interventions

• Fiscal policy interventions

In addition, sovereign ratings downgrade has occurred during the post reporting period.

 The Board has deliberated on the various events and identified those events that are regarded as material. In relation to 
the material events, the Board has further quantified the financial impact on the RH Bophelo business. The summary of 
the financial impact is as follows:

Event Qualitative impact on RH Bophelo Financial impact on RH Bophelo

Implementation of 
State of Disaster and 
National Lockdown 
and National 
Institute for 
Communicable 
Diseases (“NICD”) 
guidelines

The effect on the going concern status of the Company 
and its operating subsidiaries is assessed as negligible 
even if the lockdown is extended by up to six (6) 
months. This is due to the classification of healthcare 
as an essential service throughout the lockdown. 
The management accounts of the various operating 
subsidiaries during the initial phase of the lockdown 
indicated a negligible impact on financial performance.

The full lockdown and suspension of elective surgical 
procedures in the hospitals and closure of nonessential 
services have resulted in a loss and/(or) decrease of 
revenue for some of our investee companies.

Marginal, the Company’s 
going concern status remains 
appropriate as a basis for the 
preparation of the current year 
financial statements.

Monetary policy 
interventions

The reduction in the Repo rate by 275 basis points between 
March and July 2020 has had an adverse impact on the 
Company’s net interest income. Additionally, the loans to 
group companies have not been adjusted for the change in 
interest rates, and this represents an opportunity cost at the 
operating company level.

The effect of the changes in 
macroeconomic indicators and 
the various monetary policy 
interventions is reflected in the 
changes in risk-free rates and 
the cost of debt.

Fiscal policy 
interventions

The option to delay tax payments to SARS in relation to
employees’ tax and provisional corporate income tax is
available to the Company. This has been exercised by
the Group companies.

In relation to the Skills Development Levy contribution 
holiday, the Company expects a financial benefit 
to accrue for the four-month period in which the 
contribution holiday applies.

This benefit has resulted in a 
cashflow boost of our working 
capital, by exercising the delay 
in tax payments for up to four 
months.

Sovereign ratings 
downgrade

The ratings downgrade has a direct impact on a range of 
macroeconomic variables. Where such macroeconomic 
variables are integral in the valuation of the investments 
of the Company, the revised valuations have been 
incorporated into the assessment of the valuations.

The effect of the changes in 
macroeconomic indicators is 
reflected in the changes in risk-
free rates and the cost of debt.

The impact has seen a change in 
the WACC range from 16.2% to 
21.2% that has been estimated 
for 30 June 2020 compared to 
a WACC range of 16.9% and 
22.2% as at 29 February 2020.
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22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
 There were no contingent liabilities at year end.

23. GOING CONCERN
 The Board has undertaken a detailed review of the going concern capability of the Company with reference to certain 

assumptions and plans underlying various internal cash flow forecasts.

 The Board has not identified any events or conditions that individually or collectively cast significant doubt on the ability of 
the Company to continue as a going concern. To this end, the going concern assumption has been determined to be the 
appropriate basis for financial reporting as at 29 February 2020.

24.  EARNINGS, DILUTED AND HEADLINES EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Basic earnings per share 

 The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share is based on earnings of R69 988 958 (2019: R21 160 889) and a 
weighted average number of shares in issue of 53 592 090 (2019: 50 938 356). The basic earnings per share is 131 cents 
(2019: 42 cents).

Diluted earnings per share 

 The Company has no dilutive instruments, and as a result, the calculation of diluted earnings per ordinary share is based 
on diluted earnings of R69 988 958 (2019: R21 160 889) and a weighted average number of shares in issue of 53 592 090 
(2019: 50 938 356). The diluted earnings per share are 131 cents (2019: 42 cents).

Headline earnings per share 

 The calculation of headline earnings per ordinary share is based on headline earnings of R69 988 958 (2019: R21 160 889) 
and a weighted average number of shares in issue of 53 592 090 (2019: 50 938 356). The headline earnings per share are 
131 cents (2019: 42 cents).

Diluted headline earnings per share 

  The Company has no dilutive instruments and as a result, the calculation of diluted headline earnings per ordinary share is 
based on diluted headline earnings of R69 988 958 (2019: R 21 160 889) and a weighted average number of shares in issue 
of 53 592 090 (2019: 50 938 356). The diluted headline earnings per share are 131 cents (2019: 42 cents).

25.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
 The Company’s CODM – the Executive Committee – makes strategic resource allocations on behalf of the Company. The 

Company has identified operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed by the Executive Committee 
and used to inform decision-making. The Executive Committee regards the business as consisting of two segments – the 
healthcare segment and the financial services segment. The two segments are measured on the basis of the investment 
income and capital appreciation. The investment income comprises of gains or losses in the fair value of underlying 
investments in associates and subsidiaries, plus any interest income. In the prior year, all the Company’s activities were 
conducted through RHBO and no discrete operating segments were identified. During the current year, the Company added 
a new segment (financial services segment) relating primarily to the activities conducted through RHFS, and as a result, the 
Company is presenting the segment report for the first time.
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25.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION continued

 The segment information provided to the CODM for the year ended 29 February 2020 is as follows:

2020 segment information

Healthcare 
segment  

R

Financial 
services 
segment  

R Total

Gains from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 84 253 069 96 257 84 349 326

Interest income 2 234 997 – 2 234 997

Segment investment income 86 488 066 96 257 86 584 323

Segment other income 1 712 897 – 1 712 897

Segment income 88 200 963 96 257 88 297 220

Segment expenses (3 484 641) (173 000) (3 657 641)

Total segment net income 84 716 322 (76 743) 84 639 579
Segment assets

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 503 774 338 3 746 257 507 520 595

Loans to group companies 40 253 541 – 40 253 541

Total segment assets 544 027 879 3 746 257 547 774 136

 2019: In the prior year, all the Company’s activities were conducted through RHBO, and no discrete operating segments 
were identified; as a result there is no comparative segment report.

 Segment investment income is reconciled to total income before tax as follows:

2020
R

2019
R

Segment investment income 86 584 323 16 596 791

Non-segment investment income

Interest income 19 087 893 24 490 345

Losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (285 555) –

Total investment income 105 386 661 41 087 136
Segment other income 1 712 897 230 475

Non-segment other income 271 213 –

Total income 107 370 771 41 317 611
Segment expense (3 657 641) (13 174 556)

Non-segment expenses (13 254 401) –

Expenses (16 912 042) (13 174 556)

Total income before tax 90 458 729 28 143 055
Reportable segment assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

Segment assets for reportable segments 547 774 136 535 548 942

Other Investments at fair value through profit or loss 2 214 445 –

Other current assets 121 189 695 –

Total assets 671 178 276 535 548 942
Total liabilities 24 569 432 5 429 056

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 Overview 

 The Company is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

 • Liquidity risk;

 • Credit risk; and

 • Market risk (interest rate risk and price risk).

 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's risk management 
framework. The Board has established the risk committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the 
Company's risk management policies. The Committee reports quarterly to the Board of Directors on its activities.

 The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are 
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company's activities.

 The Company's Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the risk management policies 
and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company.

26.1. Liquidity risk 

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, 
as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The Company defines 
a default as an event where a counterparty’s payments are more than 90 days past due. This is in line with the rebuttable 
presumption of IFRS 9.

  Liquidity risk is monitored on a quarterly basis by the Company. The nature of the business is such that the majority of  
operating assets and liabilities are received and settled within one month.

 The following table discloses the contractual maturity of financial assets and liabilities: 

2020
Carrying 
amount 3 months or less 3 -12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years

Contractual cash inflows

Financial asset at fair value 
through profit or loss* 509 735 040 – – – 509 735 040

Loans to group companies 40 253 541 – 4 307 909 35 945 633 –

Other receivables 1 120 555 1 120 555 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 120 069 140 120 069 140 – – –

Contractual cash outflows

Current tax payable (439 388) (439 388) – – –

Other payables (1 582 078) (1 582 078) – – –

669 156 810 119 168 229 4 307 909 35 945 633 509 735 040
*  The Company’s portfolio includes Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss that are expected to mature or reach the terminal 

period in year 5 to 7.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT continued 

26.1. Liquidity risk continued

2019
Carrying 
amount 3 months or less 3 -12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years

Contractual cash inflows

Financial asset at fair value 
through profit or loss* 157 896 791 – – – 157 896 791

Loans to group companies 2 338 541 – 2 338 541 – –

Other receivables 1 432 736 1 432 736 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 373 548 658 373 548 658 – – –

Current tax receivable 332 216 – 332 216 – –

Contractual cash outflows

Other payables (1 711 375) (1 711 375) – – –

533 837 567 373 270 019 2 670 757 – 157 896 791

26.2. Credit risk 

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. The Company is exposed to credit risk on loans to group companies, other 
receivables, and cash and cash equivalents.

 Credit risk for exposures, other than those arising on cash and cash equivalents, are managed by making use of 
credit approvals, and continuous monitoring of counterparty credit risk profile. In relation to loans advanced to group 
companies, the Company only offers financial assistance for expansion purposes after cashflow projections have 
been extensively reviewed and approved. For the purposes of calculating expected credit allowances, the Company 
is required to identify a basis for identifying a default. In line with the rebuttable presumption of IFRS 9, the Company 
regards any counterparty payment that is more than 90 days past due as a default. The exposure to credit risk and the 
ability to repay the loans by the Group companies are continuously monitored.

 Credit risk exposure arising on cash and cash equivalents is managed by the Company through dealing with well-
established financial institutions with high credit ratings.

 In order to calculate credit loss allowances, management determines whether the loss allowances should be calculated 
on a 12-month or on a lifetime expected credit loss basis. This determination depends on whether there has been a 
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition. A change in the credit rating of the counterparty or a series 
of missed payments is regarded as an indication of a change in credit risk. If there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk, then the loss allowance is calculated based on lifetime expected credit losses. If not, then the loss 
allowance is based on 12-month expected credit losses. This determination is made at the end of each financial period. 
Thus, the basis of the loss allowance for a specific financial asset could change year on year.
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 The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposure to credit risk:

2020  
R

2019  
R

Loans to group companies 40 253 541 2 338 541

Other receivables 1 120 555 1 432 736

Current tax receivable – 332 216

Cash and cash equivalents 120 069 140 373 548 658

161 443 236 377 652 151

Cash and cash equivalents:

First National Bank 120 069 140 373 548 658

The credit rating at year end for First National Bank is as follows:

Standard and Poor BB BB+

Moody’s Ba1 Ba1

26.3. Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

 Market risk is made up of three components, which are currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The 
Company is only exposed to interest rate risk as it keeps its cash balances in an interest-bearing account. During the 
current year interest income of R19.3 million (prior year: R24.5 million) was generated on an average cash balance of 
R246.8 million (prior year: R436.3 million), reflecting an average interest rate of 8% (prior year: 6%). Had interest rates 
been 50 basis points higher or lower, the impact on the reported interest income would have been as follows:

 2020: 

Cash and cash equivalents Projected interest 
income (-50bps)

Actual interest 
income

Projected interest 
income (+50bps)

Interest income 18 057 708 19 291 752 20 525 797

 2019:

Cash and cash equivalents Projected interest 
income (-50bps)

Actual interest 
income

Projected interest 
income (+50bps)

Interest income 22 308 973 24 490 345 26 671 717

 In the current year, the sensitivity analysis of unobservable inputs has been calculated using a weighted average cash 
balances, which differs from the prior year method used. This has resulted in the prior year final sensitivity disclosure on 
the actual interest income from the bank to be restated.

 Fair value estimation 
Refer to notes 6 and 7 disclosure on the market risks of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, and loans to 
group companies.
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Supplementary Information
1.  MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
  Those shareholders who, insofar as is known to the Company, directly or indirectly, beneficially hold significant shareholding of 

3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company are set out below:

2020:

Shareholder
Number of A Ordinary 

Shares held
% of A Ordinary 

Shares held*
Public Investment Corporation SOC Limited 40 643 832 73 
Sentio Capital Management Proprietary Limited 3 013 100 5 
Dr Mandisa Joyce Gwendoline 1 816 470 3 
Stephanus Phillipus Vanhuyssteen 1 566 338 3 
RQ Capital Partners Proprietary Limited 1 500 000 3 

48 539 740 87 

2019:

Shareholder
Number of A Ordinary 

Shares held
% of A Ordinary 

Shares held*
Public Investment Corporation SOC Limited 40 812 182 80 
Sentio Capital Management Proprietary Limited 4 997 036 10 
RQ Capital Partners Proprietary Limited 1 500 000 3 

47 309 218 93 
*Rounded to zero decimal places

2. SHAREHOLDING SPREAD   
 Shareholder analysis per JSE Listing Requirements 3.43 of public and non-public shareholders:

2020:

Shareholder
Number of 

Shareholders
Number of ‘A’ 

Ordinary Shares held % Holding

Public shareholders 156 9 480 075 16.95 

Non-public shareholders 9 46 454 104 83.05 

Total 165 55 934 179 100.00 

2019:

Shareholder
Number of 

Shareholders
Number of ‘A’ 

Ordinary Shares held % Holding
Public shareholders 142 4 825 896 9.42 
Non-public shareholders 6 46 424 104 90.58 
Total 148 51 250 000 100.00 

3. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS OR SHAREHOLDINGS
Beneficial

Director Direct Indirect Total Percentage held
Quinton Zunga 1,500 1,500,000º 1,501,500 2.6
Dion Mhlaba 3,366 - 3,366 0.0
Colin Clarke – 3,584¹ 3,584 0.0
John Oliphant* 12,200 1,020,300² 1,032,500 1.8
David Sekete – 200,000³ 200,000 0.3
R Nkadimeng 3,000 – 3,000 0.0

20,066 2,723,884 2,743,950 4.7
° Held through a company controlled by Q Zunga, being RQ Capital Proprietary Limited.

¹ Held through an associate Mrs Angela Clarke

² Held through a company controlled by JR Oliphant, being Third Way Investment Group Proprietary Limited

³ Held through a trust, being Dr Sekete Family Trust

*  Dealings by Directors after financial year end: John Oliphant purchased 10 000 RH Bophelo shares at an average price of R9.84 per share on  
3 August 2020. There were no other share trades by Directors between year end date and the date of the integrated annual report.

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the audited annual financial statements and is unaudited
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RH Bophelo celebrates three years 
of finding new paths to growth  

and profitability.

For three years, RH Bophelo has successfully positioned health as an investment. Through the support of private 
and institutional investors, we aim to produce superior returns, while contributing to socio-economic value creation 
and the development of Africa. 

2020 marks the year of RHB’s evolution as a Pan-African investment entity. Our eyes are set on expanding our 
investment footprint across African healthcare sectors. Over the past three years, we have achieved much under 
the auspices of our investors. This past year has seen us successfully launch our investment strategy in the 
financial services sector. We acquired Wesmart and Genric Insurance Company Limited. 

This year, RHB reached a significant milestone in that we listed on the Rwanda Stock Exchange (RSE). This listing 
presents us with an opportunity for a wider spread of our shareholder base. Furthermore, it enables us to leverage 
off of the fact that Rwanda has an attractive investment climate and is the fastest growing economy in Africa. 

Our vision is to unlock investment opportunities in the healthcare and financial services sectors for South and 
Eastern Africans, ranging from middle to low-income earners, and to invest in a manner that achieves clinical 
excellence. 

We want to thank all our stakeholders and investors for joining RHB on its mission to grow healthcare sectors 
through strategic investments and partnerships with the government and healthcare professionals. We are looking 
forward to many more years of growth, profitability and transforming healthcare in Africa.

PROFITABILITY

START
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RH BOPHELO LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa 

(Registration number: 2016/533398/06) 

JSE & RSE Share Code: RHB, 

ISIN: ZAE000244737 (RHB or the Company)

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of 

shareholders of RH Bophelo Limited will be held entirely 

via a remote interactive platform Microsoft Teams on 

Wednesday, 30 September 2020 at 10h00 (the AGM), to 

conduct the business set out below and to consider and, if 

deemed fit, adopt, with or without modification, the ordinary 

and special resolutions set out in this notice. RH Bophelo 

will be assisted by Computershare Investor Services 

Proprietary Limited (the Company’s Transfer Secretaries) 

who will also act as scrutineers.

Cape Town, South Africa
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Notice of annual general meeting

SALIENT DATES 
The	following	dates	apply	to	the	Annual	General	
Meeting:

The Record Date for purposes of determining which 
shareholders are entitled to receive this notice is 
Friday, 21 August 2020. 

The Last Day to Trade in order to be eligible to 
participate and vote at the Annual General Meeting is 
Tuesday, 15 September 2020.

The Record Date for shareholders to be recorded in 
the securities register of RH Bophelo Limited in order 
to be able to attend, participate and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting is Friday, 18 September 2020.

Shareholders to lodge Proxy Forms by Monday,  
28 September 2020 at 10h00. 

Shareholders or their duly authorised proxies who 
wish to participate in the Annual General Meeting, 
must register to do so by lodging a completed 
Electronic Participation Application Form by Monday, 
28 September 2020 at 10h00.
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PURPOSE
The purpose of the AGM is to transact business set out in 

the agenda below.

AGENDA
Presentation of the Company’s audited annual financial 

statements, including the reports of the Directors, the Audit 

and Risk Committee report and the Auditor’s report for the 

year ended 29 February 2020.

Note: For any of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 20 

(inclusive) to be adopted, more than 50% of the voting 

rights exercised on each such ordinary resolution must be 

exercised in favour thereof, with the exception of ordinary 

resolutions numbers 16, 18 and 19 that require 75% of 

voting rights to be exercised in favour thereof. For special 

resolution numbers 1 to 3, at least 75% of voting rights must 

be exercised in favour thereof.

1.  APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
1.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

RESOLVED that the audited annual financial statements, 

including the Report of the Board of Directors, the 

Independent Auditor’s report and the Audit and Risk 

Committee report of the Company for the financial year 

ended 29 February 2020, be accepted and approved.

2.  RESIGNATION, RETIREMENT, RE-ELECTION 
AND CONFIRMATION OF APPOINTMENT OF 
DIRECTORS
2.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2

Confirmation of appointment of Colin Clarke, as an 

Executive Director and Chief Investment Officer (CIO).

RESOLVED that Colin Clarke who retires by rotation 

in terms of the MOI of the Company and the Listings 

Requirements of the JSE, being eligible, offers himself for 

re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as an Executive 

Director and CIO.

2.2 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

Confirmation of appointment of Dinao Lerutla as an 

independent Non-Executive Director.

RESOLVED that Dinao Lerutla, who retires by rotation 

in terms of the MOI of the Company and the Listings 

Requirements of the JSE, being eligible, offers herself for 

re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as an independent 

Non-Executive Director.

2.3 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4

Confirmation of appointment of Refiloe Nkadimeng as an 
independent Non-Executive Director.

RESOLVED that Refiloe Nkadimeng, who retires by rotation 
in terms of the MOI of the Company and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE, being eligible, offers herself for 
re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as an independent 
Non-Executive Director.

2.4 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5

 Confirmation of appointment of Bojane Segooa as an 
independent Non-Executive Director 

 RESOLVED that Bojane Segooa who, retires by rotation 
in terms of the MOI of the Company and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE, being eligible, offers herself for 
re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as an independent 
Non-Executive Director.

 The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers 2, 3 and 5 is 
that the MOI of the Company, the JSE Listings Requirements 
and, to the extent applicable, the South African Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (‘the Companies Act’), require 
that a component of the Non-Executive Directors rotate at 
every AGM of the Company and, being eligible, may offer 
themselves for re-election as Directors.

Brief CVs of all the Directors appear on pages 35 to 41 of 
this integrated annual report.

3.  APPOINTMENT, RE-APPOINTMENT, 
RESIGNATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT 
AND RISK COMMITTEE OF THE COMPANY
Note: For the sake of clarity and to avoid any doubt, 
all references to the Audit and Risk Committee of the 
Company is a reference to the Audit Committee as 
contemplated in the Companies Act.

3.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6

Re-election of Dr Solomon Motuba, as Chairperson and 
member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

RESOLVED that Dr Solomon Motuba, being eligible, be 
and is appointed as Chairperson and member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee of the Company, as recommended by 
the Board of Directors of the Company, until the next AGM 
of the Company.

3.2 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7

Re-election of Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, as member of the 
Audit and Risk Committee.

RESOLVED that Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, being eligible, 
be and is appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee of the Company, as recommended by the Board 
of Directors of the Company, until the next AGM of the 
Company.

Notice of annual general meeting continued
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3.3 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8

Re-election of Dinao Lerutla, as member of the Audit and 
Risk Committee.

RESOLVED that Dinao Lerutla, being eligible, be and is 
appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee 
of the Company, as recommended by the Board of 
Directors of the Company, until the next AGM of the 
Company.

3.4 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9

Re-election of Refiloe Nkadimeng, as member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee.

RESOLVED that Refiloe Nkadimeng, being eligible, be 
and is appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee of the Company, as recommended by the 
Board of Directors of the Company, until the next AGM of 
the Company.

Brief CVs of all the Directors appear on pages 35 to 41 of 
this integrated annual report.

4. CHANGE OF AUDITOR
4.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10

RESOLVED that Mazars South Africa hereby replace 
Deloitte & Touche as the Company’s auditors with Rochelle 
Murugan as the designated audit partner for Mazars for the 
ensuing year on the recommendation of the Audit and Risk 
Committee of the Company and the Board.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 10 is that the 
Company, being a public listed company, must have 
its financial results audited and such auditor must be 
appointed or re-appointed each year at the AGM of the 
Company as required by the Companies Act.

5.  NON-BINDING ENDORSEMENT OF RH 
BOPHELO LIMITED REMUNERATION POLICY 
AND REMUNERATION IMPLEMENTATION 
REPORT
5.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 11

RESOLVED that the shareholders endorse, by way of a 
non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration 
policy as set out on page 49 to 52 of the Integrated Report.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 11 is that King VI 
recommends that the remuneration policy and remuneration 
implementation report of the Company be endorsed through 
a non-binding advisory vote by shareholders.

Shareholders are reminded that in terms of King IV, the 
passing of this ordinary resolution is by way of a non-binding 
vote. Should 25% or more of the votes that are cast be 
against this ordinary resolution, the Company undertakes to 
engage with shareholders as to the reasons therefore.

6.  UNISSUED SHARES UNDER THE CONTROL 
OF THE DIRECTORS IN TERMS OF THE 
COMPANY’S GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE 
SHARES 
6.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 12

 RESOLVED that all the authorised but unissued A Ordinary 
Shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby 
placed under the control and authority of the Directors of 
the Company, which Directors are hereby authorised to allot 
and issue A Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company 
to such person or persons, upon such terms and conditions 
and at such times as the Directors of the Company may 
from time to time and in their sole discretion deem fit, until 
the next AGM, provided that:

a)  Such allotment, issue or disposal shall not in aggregate 
be in excess of 10% (ten percent) of the Company’s 
current issued share capital, representing 5 912 500 
A Ordinary Shares in terms of the Company’s general 
authority to issue shares for cash; 

b)  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the MOI 
of the Company and the Listings Requirements.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 12 is that in 
terms of the Company’s MOI, the Companies Act and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, the authority given to place 
the unissued A Ordinary Shares under the control of the 
Directors needs to be renewed at the Company’s AGM.

7.  UNISSUED SHARES UNDER THE CONTROL 
OF THE DIRECTORS IN TERMS OF THE 
COMPANY’S GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE 
SHARES IN THE RETAIL MARKET
7.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 13

RESOLVED that all the authorised but unissued A Ordinary 
Shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby 
placed under the control and authority of the Directors of 
the Company, which Directors are hereby authorised to allot 
and issue A Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company 
to such person or persons, upon such terms and conditions 
and at such times as the Directors of the Company may 
from time to time and in their sole discretion deem fit, until 
the next AGM, provided that:
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c)  Such allotment, issue or disposal shall not in aggregate 
be in excess of 7% (seven percent) of the Company’s 
current issued share capital, representing 4 138 750 A 
Ordinary Shares in terms of the Company’s intention to 
increase the spread of its shareholder base and as a 
result issue A Ordinary Shares to the retail market; and

d)  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the MOI 
of the Company and the Listings Requirements.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 13 is that in 
terms of the Company’s MOI, the Companies Act and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, the authority given to place 
the unissued A Ordinary Shares under the control of the 
Directors needs to be renewed at the Company’s AGM.

8.  UNISSUED SHARES UNDER THE CONTROL 
OF THE DIRECTORS IN TERMS OF THE 
RONDEBOSCH MEDICAL CENTRE CATEGORY 
2 TRANSACTION
8.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 14

RESOLVED that 5 574 423 authorised but unissued 
A Ordinary Shares be and are hereby placed under 
the control of the Directors for the specific purpose of 
concluding the Rondebosch Medical Centre Proprietary 
Limited Category 2 transaction as announced on SENS on 
26 March 2020. 

The reason for ordinary resolution number 14 is to allow 
the Directors to issue new A Ordinary Shares in terms of 
the Rondebosch Medical Centre Category 2 transaction 
as they currently do not have authority to do as such. The 
effect is that the Company will be able to issue A Ordinary 
Shares in terms of the Rondebosch Medical Centre 
Category 2 transaction.

9.  UNISSUED SHARES UNDER THE CONTROL 
OF THE DIRECTORS IN TERMS OF THE 
ISSUE OF SHARES ON THE RWANDA STOCK 
EXCHANGE
9.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 15

RESOLVED that 30 million authorised but unissued A 
Ordinary Shares be and are hereby placed under the 
control of the Directors for the specific purpose of issuing 
new A Ordinary Share on the Rwanda Stock Exchange, 
following the Company’s secondary listing on this exchange, 
as announced on SENS on 26 May 2020, subject to the 
Companies Act, the MOI and the provisions of the JSE 
Listings Requirements, be and is hereby approved. 

The reason for ordinary resolution number 15 is to allow 
Directors to issue new A Ordinary Shares in terms of the 
Company’s capital raise on the Rwanda Stock Exchange 
as they currently do not have authority to do as such. The 
effect is that the Company will be able to issue A Ordinary 
Shares in terms of this transaction. 

10.  RWANDA STOCK EXCHANGE ISSUE OF 
SHARES FOR CASH

10.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 16

RESOLVED that the Directors of the Company be and 
are hereby authorised to allot or issue all or any of the 
authorised but unissued A Ordinary Shares in the capital 
of the Company for cash in terms of raising capital on the 
Rwanda Stock Exchange, subject to the provision of the 
Company’s MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements. The allotment and issue of A Ordinary 
Shares for cash shall be subject to the following limitations: 

a)  That the securities which are the subject of this issue 
be of a class already in issue or, where this is not the 
case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are 
convertible into a class already in issue;

b)  The issue will be only for the issue of shares on the 
Rwanda Stock Exchange in terms of the proposed 
capital raise; 

c)  The issues will not exceed 30 million A Ordinary Shares, 
which is not greater than 34% (thirty four percent) in 
aggregate of the number of A Ordinary Shares (excluding 
treasury shares) in the Company’s issued share capital 
in issue at the date of this notice of the AGM. The 34% 
(thirty four percent) shall also take into account (and 
shall include, if applicable) any securities to be issued 
pursuant to a rights issue that has been announced, 
which is irrevocable and fully underwritten, or securities 
issued in terms of an acquisition that has had the final 
terms announced; 

d)  After the Company has issued equity securities, in 
terms of the approved issue for cash representing, on 
a cumulative basis within the financial year, 5% (five 
percemt) or more of the number of equity securities in 
issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an 
announcement giving full details of the issue, including:

ii.  The average discount to the weighted average trading 
price of the securities over the 30 days prior to the 
date that the issue was determined and agreed by the 
Directors of the Company; and 
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iii.  Impact on NAV, Net Tangible Asset Value (NTAV) and 
on Earnings and Headline Earnings per share shall 
be published at the time of any issue representing, 
on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% (five 
percent) or more of the number of A Ordinary Shares 
in issue, prior to such issue. 

e)  In determining the price at which A Ordinary Shares will 
be issued in terms of this authority, the maximum discount 
permitted shall be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted 
average traded price of such A Ordinary Shares, as 
determined over the 30-day business period prior to the 
date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed 
by the Directors of the Company. If no A Ordinary Shares 
have been traded in the said 30-day business period, a 
ruling will be obtained from the JSE; and 

f)  Any such issue will be made to public shareholders as 
defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.27 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements and not to related parties. 

For ordinary resolution number 16 resolution to be 
adopted, at least 75% of the shareholders present in 
person or by proxy and entitled to vote on this resolution at 
the AGM must cast their vote in favour of this resolution.

11.  DIRECTORS AUTHORITY TO ISSUE 
ORDINARY SHARES IN TERMS OF SECTION 
41(3) OF THE COMPANIES ACT
11.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 17

RESOLVED that in terms of section 41(3) of the 
Companies Act and in pursuance of the Company’s 
secondary listing on the Rwanda Stock Exchange 
(as announced on SENS on 26 May 2020), that the 
Directors be and are hereby authorised to issue from the 
Authorised Share Capital of the Company, A Ordinary 
Shares, pursuant to the issue of A Ordinary Shares to new 
investors on the Rwanda Stock Exchange. It being hereby 
resolved that the Directors are granted the authority to 
determine the number of A Ordinary Shares to issue on the 
Rwanda Stock Exchange (subject to issuing a maximum of 
30 million A Ordinary Shares) and to apply such A Ordinary 
Shares for purposes of the issuing A Ordinary Shares to 
new investors on the Rwanda Stock Exchange. 

The reason for ordinary resolution number 17 is for Ordinary 
Shareholders to authorise the Directors to issue A Ordinary 
Shares pursuant to the proposed listing of new A Ordinary 
Shares on the Rwanda Stock Exchange to be determined 
by the Directors in order to pursue the listing of new A 
Ordinary Shares on the Rwanda Stock Exchange. 

The effect of ordinary resolution number 17 is that the 
Directors shall be authorised to determine the issue price 

and as a result the number of A Ordinary Shares (subject 
to a maximum of 30 millon for the new listing of A Ordinary 
Shares on the Rwanda Stock Exchange and to issue 
the A Ordinary Shares pursuant to the new listing on the 
Rwanda Stock Exchange.

12.  GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES 
FOR CASH
12.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 18

RESOLVED that the Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised, by way of a general authority to allot or 
issue all or any of the authorised but unissued A Ordinary 
Shares in the capital of the Company for cash, as they, in 
their discretion, may be deemed fit, as and when suitable 
opportunities arise, subject to the provision of the Company’s 
MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

The allotment and issue of A Ordinary Shares for cash 
shall be subject to the following limitations:

a) The A Ordinary Shares are to be issued as follows:

i.  10% (ten percent), representing 5 912 500 A Ordinary 
Shares, in terms of the Company’s general authority to 
issue A Ordinary Shares for cash; 

b)  That the securities which are the subject of this general 
authority be of a class already in issue or, where this 
is not the case, must be limited to such securities or 
rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

c)  The general authority shall be valid until the Company’s 
next AGM, or for 15 months from the date on which 
the general authority for such ordinary resolution was 
passed, whichever date is earlier; 

d)  Issues in terms of this authority in any one financial 
year shall not exceed 5 912 500 A Ordinary Shares, 
which is not greater than 10% (ten percent) in 
aggregate of the number of A Ordinary Shares 
(excluding treasury shares) in the Company’s issued 
share capital in issue at the date of this notice of 
the AGM. The 10% (ten percent) shall also take 
into account (and shall include, if applicable) any 
securities to be issued pursuant to a rights issue 
that has been announced, which is irrevocable and 
fully underwritten, or securities issued in terms of an 
acquisition that has had the final terms announced; 

e)  After the Company has issued equity securities, 
in terms of the approved general issue for cash 
representing, on a cumulative basis within the financial 
year, 5% or more of the number of equity securities in 
issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an 
announcement giving full details of the issue, including: 
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iv. The number of securities issued; 

v.  The average discount to the weighted average 
trading price of the securities over the 30 days 
prior to the date that the issue was determined and 
agreed by the Directors of the Company; and 

vi.  Impact on NAV, Net Tangible Asset Value (NTAV) and 
on Earnings and Headline Earnings per share shall 
be published at the time of any issue representing, 
on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% (five 
percent) or more of the number of A Ordinary Shares 
in issue, prior to such issue. 

f)  In determining the price at which A Ordinary Shares will 
be issued in terms of this authority, the maximum discount 
permitted shall be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted 
average traded price of such A Ordinary Shares, as 
determined over the 30-day business period prior to the 
date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed 
by the Directors of the Company. If no A Ordinary Shares 
have been traded in the said 30-day business period, a 
ruling will be obtained from the JSE; and 

g)  Any such issue will be made to public shareholders as 
defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.27 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements and not to related parties. 

For this resolution to be adopted, at least 75% of the 
shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to 
vote on this resolution at the AGM must cast their vote in 
favour of this resolution.

12.2 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 19

RESOLVED that the Directors of the Company be and 
are hereby authorised, by way of a general authority to 
allot or issue all or any of the authorised but unissued A 
Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company for cash, 
as they, in their discretion, may be deemed fit, as and 
when suitable opportunities arise, subject to the provision 
of the Company’s MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

The allotment and issue of A Ordinary Shares for cash 
shall be subject to the following limitations:

h)  The A Ordinary Shares are to be issued in the following 
proportions:

ii.  7% (seven percent), representing nn A Ordinary 
Shares, in terms of the Company’s intention to 
increase the spread of its shareholder base and as a 
result issue A Ordinary Shares to the retail market; 

i)  That the securities which are the subject of this general 
authority be of a class already in issue or, where this is 
not the case, must be limited to such securities or rights 
that are convertible into a class already in issue;

j)  The general authority shall be valid until the Company’s 
next AGM, or for 15 months from the date on which 
the general authority for such ordinary resolution was 
passed, whichever date is earlier; 

k)  Issues in terms of this authority in any one financial year 
shall not exceed 4 138 750 A Ordinary Shares, which 
is not greater than 7% (seven percent) in aggregate of 
the number of A Ordinary Shares (excluding treasury 
shares) in the Company’s issued share capital in issue 
at the date of this notice of the AGM. The 7% (seven 
percent) shall also take into account (and shall include, if 
applicable) any securities to be issued pursuant to a rights 
issue that has been announced, which is irrevocable 
and fully underwritten, or securities issued in terms of an 
acquisition that has had the final terms announced; 

l)  After the Company has issued equity securities, in terms 
of the approved general issue for cash representing, 
on a cumulative basis within the financial year, 5% (five 
percent) or more of the number of equity securities in 
issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an 
announcement giving full details of the issue, including: 

vii. The number of securities issued; 

viii.  The average discount to the weighted average 
trading price of the securities over the 30 days 
prior to the date that the issue was determined and 
agreed by the Directors of the Company; and 

ix.  Impact on NAV, Net Tangible Asset Value (NTAV) and 
on Earnings and Headline Earnings per share shall 
be published at the time of any issue representing, 
on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% (five 
percent) or more of the number of A Ordinary Shares 
in issue, prior to such issue. 

m)  In determining the price at which A Ordinary Shares 
will be issued in terms of this authority, the maximum 
discount permitted shall be 10% (ten percent) of the 
weighted average traded price of such A Ordinary Shares, 
as determined over the 30-day business period prior 
to the date that the price of the issue is determined or 
agreed by the Directors of the Company. If no A Ordinary 
Shares have been traded in the said 30-day business 
period, a ruling will be obtained from the JSE; and 

n)  Any such issue will be made to public shareholders as 
defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.27 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements and not to related parties. 

For this resolution to be adopted, at least 75% of the 
shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled 
to vote on this resolution at the AGM must cast their vote 
in favour of this resolution.
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13.  REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
13.1 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

RESOLVED in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act that the Company be and is hereby authorised to remunerate its 
Non-Executive Directors for their services as Directors on the basis set out below, provided that this authority will be valid 
until the next AGM of the Company.

Fee per meeting 
attendance (R)

Board meeting 10 000

Board Chairperson 20 000

Investment Committee meetings (including Chairperson) 10 000

Audit and Risk Committee meetings 10 000

Audit and Risk Committee Chairperson 15 000

Social and Ethics Committee meetings (including Chairperson) 10 000

Remuneration and Nominations Committee meetings (including Chairperson) 10 000

Retainer (R)

Payable to board member monthly 10 000

The reason for special resolution number 1 is for the 
Company to obtain the approval of shareholders, by way 
of a special resolution, for the payment of remuneration 
to its Non-Executive Directors in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act.

The effect of special resolution number 1 is that the 
Company will be able to pay its Non-Executive Directors 
for the services they render to the Company as Directors 
without requiring further shareholder approval until the 
next AGM of the Company.

14.  INTER-COMPANY FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
14.1 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2

RESOLVED in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the 
Companies Act, as a general approval, that the Board 
of the Company be and is hereby authorised to approve 
that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial 
assistance (‘financial assistance’ will herein have the 
meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies 
Act) that the Board of the Company may deem fit to 
any person, company or corporation that is related or 
interrelated (‘related’ or ‘interrelated’ will herein have the 
meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies 
Act) to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for 
amounts that the Board of the Company may determine, 
provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid 
until the date of the next AGM of the Company.

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 
2 is to grant the Directors of the Company the authority, 
until the next AGM, to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance to any person, company or corporation that 

is related or interrelated to the Company. This means 
that the Company is authorised to grant loans to its 
subsidiaries and to guarantee the debt of its subsidiaries.

14.2 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

RESOLVED, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the 
Companies Act, as a general approval, that the Board 
of the Company be and is hereby authorised to approve 
that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial 
assistance (‘financial assistance’ will herein have the 
meaning attributed to it in sections 44(1) and 44(2) of 
the Companies Act) that the Board of the Company may 
deem fit to any company or corporation that is related 
or interrelated to the Company (‘related’ or ‘interrelated’ 
will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 
2 of the Companies Act) and/or to any financier who 
provides funding by subscribing for preference shares 
or other securities in the Company or any company 
or corporation that is related or interrelated to the 
Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts 
that the Board of the Company may determine for the 
purpose of, or in connection with the subscription of 
any option, or any shares or other securities, issued or 
to be issued by the Company or a related or interrelated 
company or corporation, or for the purchase of any 
shares or securities of the Company or a related or 
interrelated company or corporation, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the 
next AGM of the Company.
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The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 
is to grant the Directors the authority, until the next AGM 
of the Company, to provide financial assistance to any 
company or corporation that is related or interrelated 
to the Company and/or to any financier for the purpose 
of or in connection with the subscription or purchase of 
options, shares or other securities in the Company or 
any related or interrelated company or corporation. This 
means that the Company is authorised, inter alia, to grant 
loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee and furnish 
security for the debt of its subsidiaries where any such 
financial assistance is directly or indirectly related to a 
party subscribing for options, shares or securities in the 
Company or its subsidiaries. For example, the Company 
may rely on this authority if a subsidiary raises funds 
by way of issuing preference shares and the third-party 
funder requires the Company to furnish security, by way 
of a guarantee or otherwise, for the obligations of its 
subsidiary to the third-party funder arising from the issue 
of the preference shares. The Company has no immediate 
plans to use this authority and is simply obtaining same in 
the interests of prudence and good corporate governance 
should the unforeseen need arise to use the authority.

In terms of and pursuant to the provisions of Sections 
44 and 45 of the Companies Act, the Directors of 
the Company confirm that the Board will satisfy itself, 
after considering all reasonably foreseeable financial 
circumstances of the Company, that immediately after 
providing any financial assistance as contemplated in 
special resolution numbers 2 and 3 above:

• The assets of the Company (fairly valued) will equal 
or exceed the liabilities of the Company (fairly valued) 
(taking into consideration the reasonably foreseeable 
contingent assets and liabilities of the Company);

• The Company will be able to pay its debts as they 
become due in the ordinary course of business for a 
period of 12 months;

• The terms under which any financial assistance is 
proposed to be provided, will be fair and reasonable to 
the Company; and

• All relevant conditions and restrictions (if any) relating 
to the granting of financial assistance by the Company 
as contained in the Company’s MOI have been met.

15. IMPLEMENTATION OF RESOLUTIONS
15.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 20

RESOLVED that any Director and/or the Secretary of the 
Company, be and is hereby authorised to do all such 
things, sign all such documents and take all actions as 
may be necessary to implement the above ordinary and 
special resolutions.

In order for this ordinary resolution number 20 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 50% of the total number 
of votes, which the shareholders present or represented 
by proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required.

Electronic participation arrangements

The Company’s MOI authorises the conduct of shareholders’ 
meetings entirely by electronic communication as does 
section 63(2)(a) of the Companies Act. In light of the measures 
put in place by the South African Government in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board has decided that the 
AGM will only be accessible through a remote interactive 
electronic platform as detailed below.

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who wish to 
participate in the AGM are required to complete the Electronic 
Participation Application Form available immediately after the 
Form of proxy on page 148 and email same to the Company’s 
Transfer Secretaries at proxy@computershare.co.za and to 
RH Bophelo at invest@rhbophelo.co.za as soon as possible, 
but in any event by no later than 10h00 on Monday, 28 
September 2020.

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies are required 
to provide satisfactory identification before being entitled to 
participate in the AGM.

Upon receiving a completed Electronic Participation 
Application Form, the Company’s Transfer Secretaries 
will follow a verification process to verify each applicant’s 
entitlement to participate in and/or vote at the AGM. The 
Company’s Transfer Secretaries will provide the Company 
with the nominated email address of each verified shareholder 
or his/her duly appointed proxy to enable the Company to 
forward him/her a Microsoft Teams meeting invitation required 
to access the AGM.
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Fully verified shareholders or their duly appointed proxies 
who have applied to participate electronically in the AGM 
are requested by no later than 09h55 on Wednesday, 30 
September 2020 to join the lobby of the meeting by clicking 
on the “Join Microsoft Teams Meeting” link to be provided by 
RH Bophelo’s Company Secretary, whose admission to the 
meeting will be controlled by the Company secretary.

Participants will be liable for their own network charges in 
relation to electronic participation in and/or voting at the AGM. 
Any such charges will not be for the account of the Company’s 
Transfer Secretaries or RH Bophelo who will also not be held 
accountable in the case of loss of network connectivity or other 
network failure due to insufficient airtime, internet connectivity, 
internet bandwidth and/or power outages that prevent any 
such shareholder or his/her proxy from participating in and /or 
voting at the AGM.

Voting and Proxies

For an ordinary resolution to be approved by the shareholders, 
it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting rights 
exercised on the resolution. For a special resolution to be 
approved by the shareholders, it must be supported by at 
least 75% of the voting rights exercised on the resolution.

1.  Voting will be via a poll; every shareholder of the Company 
shall have one vote for every share held in the Company by 
such shareholder.

2.  A shareholder entitled to participate and vote at the AGM 
is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to electronically 
participate, speak and vote in his/ her stead. A proxy need 
not be a shareholder of the Company. 

3.  The electronic platform (Microsoft Teams) to be utilised to 
host the AGM does not provide for electronic voting during 
the meeting. 

Accordingly, shareholders are strongly encouraged 
to submit votes by proxy in advance of the AGM, by 
completing the Form of Proxy (found on page 145) 
and lodging this form with the Company’s Transfer 
Secretaries by no later than 10h00 on Monday, 28 
September 2020 by:

• Delivery to Computershare Investor Services Proprietary 
Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 
Rosebank; or

• Email to proxy@computershare.co.za. 

5.  Shareholders who indicate in the Electronic Participation 
Application Form that they wish to vote during the 
electronic meeting will be contacted by the Company’s 
Transfer Secretaries to make the necessary arrangements. 

6.  Dematerialised shareholders without ‘own name’ 
registration

If these shareholders do not wish to participate in the AGM in 
person, they must provide the Central Securities Depository 
Participant (CSDP) or broker with their voting instructions in 
terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between 
them and the CSDP or broker.

7. Certificated shareholders and dematerialised 
shareholders with ‘own name’ registration 
Those Certificated Shareholders and Dematerialised 
Shareholders with ‘own name’ registration, who wish to 
participate in the AGM (either in person or represented by 
proxy), must submit a completed Electronic Participation 
Application Form to the Company’s Transfer Secretaries 
and to RH Bophelo in the manner and within the timeframe 
described above under the section titled “Electronic 
Participation Arrangements”.

By order of the Board

Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited  
Company Secretary
Monday, 31 August 2020

Registered office
3rd floor,  
18 Melrose Boulevard  
Melrose Arch, Melrose North  
Johannesburg, 2076 
South Africa

Transfer Secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited 
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa
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Sandton, South Africa 
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Form of proxy

TO BE COMPLETED BY CERTIFICATED SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED 
SHAREHOLDERS WITH ‘OWN-NAME’ REGISTRATION ONLY

RH BOPHELO LIMITED 
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number: 2016/533398/06) 
(JSE & RSE Share Code: RHB ISIN: ZAE000244737) 
(“RH Bophelo” or “the Company”)

I/We (please print names in full)  
of (address)  
Telephone number  Cellphone number   
Email address   
being the holder/s  ‘A’ Ordinary Shares in RH Bophelo Limited, do hereby appoint:  
1.  or, failing him/her 
2.  or, failing him/her 
3. The Chairman of the AGM, 
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the AGM, which will be held for the purpose of considering and, if deemed 
fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment thereof and to vote for 
and/or against the said resolutions and/or to abstain from voting in respect of the A Ordinary Shares of the Company registered in 
my/our name(s), on the following ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed at such meeting.

For use at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of shareholders of the Company, to be held through electronic communication at 
10h00 on Wednesday, 30 September 2020, or at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting. 

A shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need to be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, 
participate in, speak and vote or abstain from voting in the place of that shareholder at the AGM.
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Number of Shares

For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1: Approval of financial statements

Ordinary resolution number 2: Confirmation of appointment of Colin Clarke as Executive Director and CIO

Ordinary resolution number 3: Confirmation of appointment of Dinao Lerutla as Independent Non-Executive Director

Ordinary resolution number 4: Confirmation of appointment of Refiloe Nkadimeng as Non-Executive Director

Ordinary resolution number 5: Confirmation of appointment of Bojane Segooa as Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Ordinary resolution number 6: Re-appointment of Dr Solomon Motuba as chairman and member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee

Ordinary resolution number 7: Re-appointment of Kgaogelo Rachael Ntshwana as member of the Audit  
and Risk Committee

Ordinary resolution number 8: Re-appointment of Dinao Lerutla as member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Ordinary resolution number 9: Re-appointment of Refiloe Nkadimeng as member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Ordinary resolution number 10: Resignation of Deloitte & Touche as auditors and appointment of Mazars  
South Africa as auditors

Ordinary resolution number 11: Non-binding endorsement of RH Bophelo Limited’s remuneration policy and 
remuneration implementation report

Ordinary resolution number 12: Unissued shares under the control of Directors in terms of the Company’s general 
authority to issue shares

Ordinary resolution number 13: Unissued shares under the control of Directors in terms of the Company’s general 
authority to issue shares in the retail market

Ordinary resolution number 14: Unissued shares under the control of Directors in terms of Rondebosch Medical Centre 
Category 2 Transaction

Ordinary resolution number 15: Unissued shares under the control of Directors in terms of the issue of shares on the 
Rwanda Stock Exchange

Ordinary resolution number 16: Rwanda Stock Exchange issue of shares for cash

Ordinary resolution number 17: Directors authority to issue ordinary shares in terms of section 41(3) of the Companies 
Act

Ordinary resolution number 18: General authority to issue shares for Cash – 10%

Ordinary resolution number 19: General authority to issue shares for Cash -7%

Special resolution number 1: Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

Special resolution number 2: Inter-company financial assistance

Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance for the subscription/or acquisition of shares in the Company or a 
related or interrelated company

Ordinary resolution number 20: Authority for Directors or Company Secretary to implement resolutions

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given, the proxy may 
vote or abstain as he/she sees fit.

Signed at this day  of  

Signature  Assisted by me, where applicable (name and signature)  

Please read the notes overleaf.

(Which include, inter alia, a summary of the rights established by section 58 of the 
Companies Act, as amended (Companies Act).

SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN SECTION 58  
OF THE COMPANIES ACT  
In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act: 

 A shareholder may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of section 
58 of the Companies Act, appoint any individual (including an individual who is not 
a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ 
meeting on behalf of such shareholder. 

  A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies and may 
appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different securities 
held by the shareholder.

 A proxy may delegate his authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, 
subject to any restriction set out in the instrument appointing such proxy. 

 Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the appointment of a proxy 
is suspended at any time and to the extent that the relevant shareholder chooses to act 
directly and in person in the exercise of any of such shareholder’s rights as a shareholder.

 Any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable unless the form of instrument 
used to appoint such proxy states otherwise.

 If an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy 
appointment by: 

(i) Cancelling it in writing or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy and
(ii)   Delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the relevant 

company.

•  A proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, 
any voting right of such shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the 
relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation, or the instrument appointing the 
proxy, provides otherwise.

•  If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered by a shareholder 
to a company, then, for so long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice 
that is required in terms of the Companies Act or such company’s memorandum of 
incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder must be delivered by such company to: 

(i) The relevant shareholder; or
(ii) The proxy or proxies if the relevant shareholder has: 

• Directed such company to do so, in writing; and 

• Paid any reasonable fee charged by such company for doing so.

Notes to the form of proxy
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1.  Each shareholder is entitled to appoint 1 (one) or more proxies 
(none of whom need be a shareholder) to attend, speak and 
vote in place of that shareholder at the AGM.

2.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names 
of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the 
space/s provided with or without deleting ‘the Chairman of the 
AGM,’ but the shareholder must initial any such deletion. The 
person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who 
is present at the AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the 
exclusion of those whose names follow. 

3.  A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated 
by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable 
by the shareholder in the appropriate box provided or an ‘X’ 
should the shareholder wish the proxy to exercise all votes. 
Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise 
and direct the Chairman of the AGM, if the Chairman is the 
authorised proxy, to vote or abstain from voting at the AGM as 
the Chairman deems fit, or any other proxy to vote or abstain 
from voting at the AGM as he/ she deems fit, in respect of all 
the votes of the shareholder exercisable at the meeting.

4.  Completed forms of proxy and the authority (if any) under which 
they are signed must be lodged with or posted to the Transfer 
Secretaries of the Company, Computershare Investor Services 
(Pty) Limited, at Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 
Rosebank, 2196 or posted to the Transfer Secretaries at PO 
Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, to be received by them by no 

later than 10:00 on Monday, 28 September 2020. 

5.  Completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude 
the relevant shareholder from participating electronically at the 
AGM and speaking and voting in electronically to the exclusion 
of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder 
wish to do so. 

6.  The Chairman of the AGM may accept or reject any form of 
proxy not completed and/or received in accordance with these 
notes or with the MOI of RH Bophelo. 

7.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be 
initialled by the signatory/ies. 

8.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person 
signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity (e.g. for 
a company, close corporation, trust, pension fund, deceased 
estate, etc.) must be attached to this form of proxy, unless 
previously recorded by RH Bophelo or the Transfer Secretaries. 

9.   Where this form of proxy is signed under power of attorney, 
such power of attorney must accompany this form of proxy, 
unless it has been registered by RH Bophelo or the Transfer 
Secretaries or waived by the Chairman of the AGM.

10.  Where “A” Ordinary Shares are held jointly, all joint holders are 
required to sign this form of proxy. 

11.  A minor shareholder must be assisted by his/her parent/
guardian, unless the relevant documents establishing his/her 
legal capacity are produced or have been registered by  
RH Bophelo or the Transfer Secretaries. 

12.  Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name, 
participating via electronic communication, should contact their 
CSDP or broker with instructions on how they wish to vote. 

13.   This form of proxy shall be valid at any resumption of an 
adjourned meeting to which it relates, although this form of 
proxy shall not be used at the resumption of an adjourned 
meeting if it could not have been used at the AGM from which 
it was adjourned for any reason other than it was not lodged 
timeously for the meeting from which the adjournment took 
place. This form of proxy shall, in addition to the authority 
conferred by the Companies Act except insofar as it provides 
otherwise, be deemed to confer the power generally to act 
at the AGM in question, subject to any specific direction 
contained in this form of proxy as to the manner of voting. 

14.  A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument 
of proxy shall be valid notwithstanding the death or mental 
disorder of the principal or revocation of the proxy or of 
the authority under which the proxy was executed, or the 
transfer of the share in respect of which the proxy is given, 
provided that no notification in writing of such death, insanity, 
revocation or transfer as aforesaid shall have been received 
by the Transfer Secretaries before the commencement of the 
meeting or adjourned meeting at which the proxy is used. 

15.  Any proxy appointed pursuant to this form of proxy may not 
delegate her/his authority to act on behalf of the relevant 
shareholder.

16.  In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act, unless 
revoked, an appointment of a proxy pursuant to this form 
of proxy remains valid only until the end of the AGM or any 
adjournment of the AGM.

NOTES
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – 30 SEPTEMBER 2020 (“AGM’)
Capitalised terms that are not defined herein shall bear the meanings assigned in the 
notice of annual general meeting (the AGM Notice) to which this form is attached and 
forms part.

Instructions

Shareholders or their proxies, have the right, as provided for in the Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and the Companies Act, to participate in the AGM by 
way of electronic communication. 

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who wish to participate in the AGM must 
complete this application form and email it (together with the relevant supporting 
documents referred to below) to the Company’s Transfer Secretaries at proxy@
computershare.co.za and to the Company at invest@rhbophelo.co.za as soon as 
possible, but in any event by no later than 10h00 on Monday, 28 September 2020. 

Upon receiving a completed Electronic Participation Application Form, the Company’s 
Transfer Secretaries will follow a verification process to verify each applicant’s 
entitlement to participate in and/or vote at the AGM. The Company’s Transfer 
Secretaries will provide the Company with the email address of each verified shareholder 
or his/her duly appointed proxy (each, a Participant) to enable the Company to forward 
the Participant a Microsoft Teams meeting invitation required to access the AGM.

RH Bophelo will send each Participant a Microsoft Teams meeting invitation with a link 
to “Join the Microsoft Teams Meeting” on 30 September 2020 to enable Participants 
to link up and participate electronically in the AGM. This link will be sent to the email 
address nominated by the Participant in the table below. 

RH BOPHELO LIMITED 
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number: 2016/533398/06) 
(JSE & RSE Share Code: RHB ISIN: ZAE000244737) 
(“RH Bophelo” or “the Company”)

Application form for electronic participation at the annual general meeting

Please note

The electronic platform to be utilised for the AGM does not provide for electronic voting 
during the meeting. Accordingly, shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit votes 
by proxy in advance of the AGM, by completing the Form of Proxy (found on page 
145) and lodging the completed proxy form together with this Electronic Participation 
Application Form with the Company’s Transfer Secretaries.

Participants who indicate in this form that they wish to vote during the electronic 
meeting, will be contacted by the Company’s Transfer Secretaries to make the 
necessary arrangements. 

Participants will be liable for their own network charges in relation to electronic 
participation in and/or voting at the AGM. Any such charges will not be for the account 
of the Company’s Transfer Secretaries or RH Bophelo who will also not be held 
accountable in the case of loss of network connectivity or other network failure due 
to insufficient airtime, internet connectivity, internet bandwidth and/or power outages 
which prevents any such Participant from participating in and /or voting at the AGM.

By signing this application form, the Participant indemnifies and holds the Company 
harmless against any loss, injury, damage, penalty or claim arising in any way from the 
use of the telecommunication lines to participate in the AGM or any interruption in the 
ability of the Participant to participate in the AGM via electronic communication, whether 
or not the problem is caused by any act or omission on the part of the Participant or 
anyone else, including without limitation the Company and its employees.

Information required for participation by electronic communication at the AGM

Full name of shareholder: 

Identity or registration number of shareholder: 

Full name of authorised representative (if applicable):

Identity number of authorised representative: 

Email address: 

*Note: this email address will be used by the Company to share the Microsoft Teams meeting invitation required to access the AGM electronically 

Cell phone number: 

Telephone number, including dialling codes: 

*  Note: The electronic platform to be utilised for the AGM does not provide for electronic voting during the meeting. Accordingly, shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit votes 
by proxy in advance of the AGM, by completing the proxy form found on page 145.

Indicate (by marking with an ‘X’) whether:

 Votes will be submitted by proxy (in which case, please enclose the duly completed proxy form with this form); or

 The Participant wishes to exercise votes during the AGM. If this option is selected, the Company’s Transfer Secretaries will contact you to make the necessary arrangements. 

By signing this application form, I consent to the processing of my personal information provided above for the purpose of participating in RH Bophelo’s AGM.

Signed at  on  2020

Signed: 

Documents required to be attached to this application form

1.  In order to exercise their voting rights at the AGM, shareholders who choose to participate electronically may appoint a proxy, which proxy may participate in the AGM, provided that 
a duly completed proxy form has been submitted in accordance with the instructions on that form, and as envisaged in the notice of the AGM.

2.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the named person, including any person acting in a representative capacity, who is to participate in the AGM, must be attached 
to this application.

3.  A certified copy of the valid identity document/passport/ of the person attending the AGM by electronic participation, including any person acting in a representative capacity, must 
be attached to this application.

Applications to participate by electronic communication will only be considered if this application form is completed in full, signed by the shareholder, its proxy or representative, and 
delivered as detailed above. The Company may in its sole discretion accept any incomplete application forms.
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Application form for electronic participation at the annual general meeting Corporate diary
FINAL 2019

Financial year end Thursday, 29 February 2020  
Publication of preliminary results

SENS: Monday, 31 August 2020 
Press: Tuesday, 1 September 2020 Financial report and notice of AGM posted on Friday, 4 September 2020  
Annual General Meeting: Wednesday, 30 September 2020

INTERIM 2020 

Interim period ends: Monday, 31 August 2020  
Announcement of interim results: November 2020
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Definitions and interpretations
Unless the context indicates otherwise, a word or an expression that denotes any gender includes the other genders,  
a natural person includes a juristic person and vice versa, the singular includes the plural, and vice versa and the following words 
and expressions bear the meanings assigned to them below:

AGM Annual General Meeting
Agterskot Final Deferred Payment

AHC or Africa 
Health Care

Africa Health Care Proprietary Limited

B-BBEE Act Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act, No 53 
of 2003 as amended or substituted from time to time

BEE Black Economic Empowerment
Board or 
Directors

Board of Directors of the Company

BofAML BofA Securities Inc. (Formally Bank of America Merrill 
Lynch)

CA Chartered Accountant
CAGR Compounded Annual Growth Rate
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
CIBM Chartered Institute of Business Management
CODM chief operating decision maker
Companies 
Act

Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended from time 
to time

Company or 
RH Bophelo 
or RHB

RH Bophelo Limited (Registration number 
2016/533398/06), a public company duly registered and 
incorporated in South Africa

Company 
Secretary

Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited 
(Registration number 2015/006536/07), a private 
company duly registered and incorporated in South 
Africa

COO Chief Operating Officer
Covid-19 or 
Coronavirus

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is defined as 
illness caused by a novel coronavirus now called severe 
acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2; 
formerly called 2019-nCoV)

CRISA Code for Responsible Investing in SA
CSDP Central Securities Depository Participant
CSI Corporate Social Initiative
DBSA Development Bank of Southern Africa

DCF Discounted Cash Flow
Directors A member of the Board of people that manages or 

oversees the affairs of a business
DOA Investment Delegation of Authority
DoH Department of Health

EBIT Earnings Before Interest & Tax
EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation & 

Amortisation
EMS Environmental Management System

ESD Environmental, Social and Governance
ESG Environmental, Social and Governance
EV Enterprise Value

GDP Gross Domestic Product
GEPF Government Employees Pension Fund

Group The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, RH 
Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited

HR Human Resources

IDC Industrial Development Corporation

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
IIRC International Integrated Reporting Council
IRBA Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors
ISA International Standards on Auditing
JSE Johannesburg Stock Exchange
King IV King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South 

Africa 2016
KPIs Key Performance Indicators
LTI Long-Term Incentive
Management 
Company or 
RH Bophelo 
Management 
Company or 
ManCo

RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited 
(Registration number 2016/533552/07), a private 
company duly registered and incorporated in South 
Africa

Medicare Medicare Private Hospital
MOI Memorandum of Incorporation
NAV Net Asset Value
NDE Net Distributable Earnings
NHI National Health Insurance
NHLS National Health Laboratory Service
NHN National Hospital Network
NICD National Institute for Communicable Diseases

NTAV Net Tangible Asset Value

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development

Operating 
Company or 
RH Bophelo 
Operating 
Company or 
OpCo

RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited

PBHPM Phelang Bonolo Healthcare Procurement and 
Management Proprietary Limited.

P/E Price Earnings

PAYE Pay-As-You-Earn
PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers
RA Registered Auditor
Razorite 
Healthcare 
and 
Rehabilitation 
Fund

Razorite Healthcare and Rehabilitation Fund is a South 
African based private equity fund that is structured as an 
en commandite partnership and whose mandate is to 
invest in healthcare infrastructure in South Africa

REIPPP Renewable Energy Independent Power Procurement 
Programme

RH Managers RH Managers Proprietary Limited (Registration number 
2013/080004/07), a private company duly registered and 
incorporated in South Africa

RHBO RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited
RHFS RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited
RMA Rand Mutual Assurance
RMC Rondebosch Medical Centre Proprietary Limited
RNC Remuneration and Nominations Committee
ROE Return on Equity
RSE Rwanda Stock Exchange
SAICA South African Institute of Chartered Accountants
SAMA South African Medical Association
SANC South African Nursing Council
SAPS South African Police Service
SARS South African Revenue Services
SAVCA South African Venture Capital and Private Equity 

Association
SENS Stock Exchange News Service
SOTP Sum of the parts valuation
SPAC Special Purpose Acquisition Company as envisaged in 

the JSE Listings Requirements
STI Annual Short-Term Incentive
TGR Terminal Growth Rate
TNAV Tangible Net Asset Value
TWIG Third Way Investment Group
UIF Unemployment Insurance Fund
UMA underwriting management agency
UNGC United Nations Global Compact
VPH Vryburg Private Hospital
VWAP Volume Weighted Average Price
WACC weighted average cost of capital
ZAR South African Rand
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Corporate information
COMPANY DETAILS
RH Bophelo Limited 
Registration number: 2016/533398/06 
Share code: RH BOPHELO 
ISIN: ZAE000244737 
Date of incorporation: 13 December 2016 
Place of incorporation: South Africa 

REGISTERED OFFICE 
3rd Floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard 
Melrose Arch, Melrose North 
Johannesburg, 2076 
South Africa 

DIRECTORS
Q Zunga (Chief Executive Officer)
VP Nomvalo (Executive Director)
CW Clarke (Chief Investment Officer)
KD Mhlaba (Chief Financial Officer)
DM Lerutla (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Dr SG Motuba (Lead Independent Non-Executive Director)
RM Nkadimeng (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Dr KR Ntshwana (Independent Non-Executive Director)
JR Oliphant (Non-Executive Chairman)
B Segooa (Independent Non-Executive Director) Dr PD Sekete 
(Non-Executive Director)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited 
(Registration number 2015/006536/07) 
Prism Office Park
9 Ruby Close, Fourways
Johannesburg, 2191
South Africa

 

TRANSFER SECRETARIES 
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Ltd 
(Registration number 2004/003647/07) 
Rosebank Towers 
15 Biermann Ave, Rosebank 
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa

SPONSOR SOUTH AFRICA
Deloitte & Touche Sponsor Services Proprietary Limited 
(Registration number 1996/000034/07) 
The Woodlands, Woodlands Drive 
Woodmead, Sandton 
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa

SPONSOR RWANDA
Faida Securities Rwanda Limited  
(Registration number 101856301)
Centenary House, 4th Floor
124 Kigali

EXTERNAL AUDITORS 
Deloitte & Touche (South Africa) 
(Practice number 902276) 
The Woodlands, Woodlands Drive 
Woodmead, Sandton 
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa

COMMUNICATIONS AGENCY
Kaitoma Creatives CC 
The Hunt at Hunts End  
38 Wierda Road West  
Wierda Valley, Sandton 
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa
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Feedback:

RH Bophelo welcomes feedback and any 

suggestions to improve the Company’s future 

reports. Please forward any comments to:

Tel: +27 (0)10 007 2171

Email: invest@rhbophelo.co.za

RH Bophelo Limited

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 2016/533398/06)

(JSE & RSE Share Code: RHB, ISIN: ZAE000244737)

Registered address:

3rd Floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard,  

Melrose Arch, Johannesburg

Tel: +27 (0)10 007 2171

Email: invest@rhbophelo.co.za

Website: www.rhbophelo.co.za
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